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Dear Shareholders,

This past year Hallmark Channel became firmly established as a top ten rated cable channel, achieving
significant subscriber expansion, record ratings increases and solid growth in advertising revenues and subscriber
license fees.

The results this past year for the Hallmark Channel have proven that the strength of our brand, when supported
by appropriate programming, consistently delivers a large, loyal and expanding audience. For the first time,
Hallmark Channel finished the year with twelve consecutive months as a top ten rated channel among all ad-
supported cable networks for houschold rating in both Prime Time and Total Day. Since our launch in 2001,
Hallmark Channel has consistently increased its ratings in Prime Time and Total Day each year, as well as its
rank among all 69 ad-supported cable networks. Hallmark Channel increased its ratings in Prime Time by 20%
and in Total Day by 14% for 2006 as compared to 2005, the largest increase of any cable network in the top ten.
In contrast, during 2006, seven of the top ten rated networks stagnated or experienced significant ratings
declines in Prime Time.,

Hallmark Channel finished 2006 delivering its highest rated year, quarter, month, week, day, and telecast to
date. Qur ratings success is directly attributable to an appreciation for our brand and to the broadly appealing
family friendly original programming which we aired. Our original program premieres, which feature strong
holiday themes and popular talent, delivered a record high 4.3 household rating for The Christmas Card and a
record average 2.0 household rating for the year. Looking to continually appeal to our loyal audience while
attracting new viewers, we introduced a new franchise in our successful original Mystery Movie series starring
Dick Van Dyke, and licensed a very exciting package of 39 theatrical feature films from Warner Bros., which
included the exclusive network television premiere of the Academy Award® winning documentary March of the
Penguins. We continued to play our mix of popular classic series like M*A*S*H and Litile House on the Prairie,
which contributed to the overall success of the channel with a consistent and steady audience of viewers.

The wholesome appeal of the Halimark Channel has been an important factor in our ability to expand our
distribution. At the end of 2006, Hallmark Channel reached 74.6 million homes, representing 4 miilion new
subscribers added during the year as a result of organic growth within our satellite and cable distributors and
launches on 300 new systems. During the year, we laid the groundwork for the successful multiyear renewal of
our agreements with three important distributors, EchoStar, Mediacom and NCTC. We announced these
renewals subsequent to the end of the year, as well as our milestone achievement of delivering Hallmark
Channel to more than 80 million homes.

Our broad national distribution and position as a top ten cable network continues to resonate with advertisers.
Advertising revenues increased nearly 20% in 2006, continuing a trend of double digit growth every year since
the channel was launched in 2001. While we are proud of the success we have achieved in selling our inventory
during the broadcast upfront season, we are particularly excited by the demand from advertisers for the scatter
market each quarter, which experienced increases of 40% to 50% over the upfront CPM’s.

While our operating success was an important focus for our management team, we also addressed the issue of
reducing the company’s debt, a challenge that we must begin to face head-on. During the year we completed the
sale of our film library, applying the proceeds to reduce our outstanding debt and allowing us to focus our
resources solely on the channels, with an eye towards profitability and generating free cash flow,

Overall, the fundamental results indicate that our company is continuing to move in the right direction.
Hallmark Channel is in over 80 million homes, and will further expand with new systemn launches and organic
growth. The record ratings support our programming strategy, which is based upon broadly appealing original
programming and which further builds core viewership loyalty while also attracting new viewers. This, in turn,
adds up to continued solid growth in advertising revenues, reflecting the demand for the family friendly niche we
are focused on and the incredible value of our brand. We have been successful in the renewal of several of our
distribution agreements, and are well-positioned to continue obtaining fair and reasonable license fees from our
distribution partners going forward. These are the elements for our further success, which we are confident in
our ability to deliver in 2007 and beyond.

Henry Schleiff

President and CEO
Crown Media Holdings, Inc.
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In this Annual Report on Form 10-K the terms “Crown Media Holdings” or the “Company,” refer to
Crown Media Holdings, Inc. and, unless the context requires otherwise, subsidiaries of Crown Media Holdings
that operate or have operated our businesses, Crown Media United States, LLC (“Crown Media United
States”), until completion of the sale of our international business in April 2005, Crown Media Inteational,
LLC (“Crown Media International”) and Crown Entertainment Limited (“Crown Entertainment”), and until
the completion of the sale of our film library in December 2006 Crown Media Distribution, LLC (“Crown
Media Distribution”). The term “common stock” refers to our Class A common stock and Class B Common
stock, unless the context requires otherwise.

The names Hallmark, TOTAL CHOICE and other product or service names are rrademarks or registered
trademarks of their owners, :

PART I
ITEM 1. Description of Business

Company Overwew

We own and operate a pay television channel, known as the Hallmark Channel (the “channel”),
dedicated to high-quality entertainment programming for adults and families. In addition, we own and
operate the Hallmark Movie Channel (the “Hallmark Channel” and the “Hallmark Movie Channel” are
collectively referred to herein as the “Channels”). Our Channels are distributed in the United States of
America and its territories and possessions, including Puerto Rico.

The Channels offer compelling stories, masterfully written, directed and produced with talented
actors. We believe that we have established these Channels as destinations for viewers seeking high-quality
entertainment for adults and families, and as attractive outlets for advertisers seeking to target these -
viewers. We have distribution agreements with leading pay television distributors. The following table
shows for the Hallmark Channel: our programming sources, selected pay television dlstnbutors and the
total number of our subscribers as of December 31, 2006.

Programming Sources ... .. +« RHI Enteytainmént Distribution
~» Other third-party sources
» NICC

Selected Pay . _
Television , . . . : ,
Distributors ............. ¢ (ablevision '

e Charter

Comcast

Cox

DirecTV '

'EchoStar

Mediacom

NCTC

» Time Warner

Total Subscribers ......... . 74.6 miilion.

As of February 28, 2007, the Hallmark Channel had approximately 75.5 million subscribers and the
Hallmark Movie Channel had approximately 1.0 million subscribers. At the end of 2006, the Hallmark
Channel had 74.6 million subscribers and the Hallmark Movie Channel had approximately 964, 000




subscribers. We view a “subscriber” as a household that receives, on a full or part-time basis, the Hallmark
Channel or the Hallmark Movié Channel on a program tier of a distributor. We determine our subscribers
from subscriber numbers reported by Nielsen Media Research. Subscribers include both viewers who pay a
monthly fee for the tier programming and so-called “promotional” subscribers who are given free access to
the tier by the distributor for a limited time. : . ‘ . ‘ )

+

Programming acquired from third parties is an important component of our Channels as we |
continually develop and refine our programming strategy. Our Channels further have enjoyed the benefits
of long-term program agreements with RHI Entertainment Distribution (formerly Hallmark
Entertainment Distribution, LLC), which generally provide access to the RHI Entertainment Distribution
library titles and to new production and first-run presentations controlled by RHI Entertainment
Distribution. The programming that we have access to through our program license agreements with RHI
Entertainment Distribution consist of some of the most highly rated made-for-television movies, based on
A.C. Nielson ratings. These programs have also won numerous Emmy® Awards, Golden Globe Awards .
and Peabody Awards.

Hallmark Entertainment Distribution was owned by Hallmark Cards, Incorporated (“Hallmark
Cards”) through Hallmark Card’s wholly-owned subsidiary Hallmark Entertainment, LLC. In
January 2006 Hallmark Cards sold its ownership interests in Hallmark Entertainment LLC, and thus also
Hallmark Entertainment Distribution, to its President and certain new investors. Hallmark Entertainment
Distribution changed its name to RHI Entertainment Distribution, and Hallmark Entertainment LLC
changed its name to RHI Entertainment, LLC (“RHI Entertainment™). As a result, the programming
agreements with RHI Entertainment Distribution are currently with a non-affiliated third party. At the
same time, notes and accounts payable by us to Hallmark Entertainment Distribution were transferred to
Hallmark Entertainment Holdings, Inc., a subsidiary of Hallmark Cards. :

We currently distribute the Hallmark Channel through approximately 5,300 cable, satellite and other
distribution systems. As of the end of 2006, we had agreements with Cablevision, Charter, Comcast, Cox,
DirecTV, EchoStar, Mediacom, the National Cable Television Cooperative, Time Warner and many other
pay television distributors, for the distributign of the Hallmark Channel. In addition, we have entered into
agreements with several telephone companies that have started to furnish video programming to
consumers, including SBC (now AT&T), the National Rural Telecommunications Cooperative, and
Verizon. Five of our distributors accounted cach for more than 10% of our consolidated subscriber
revenue for the year ended December 31, 2006 and accounted together for a total of 91% of consolidated
subscriber revenue at that date. Three of our distributors accounted each for more than 15% of our
consolidated subscribers for the year ended December 31, 2006 and accounted together for 66% of our
subscribers on that date. ’

We license the trademark “Hallmark” for use on our Channels pursuant to certain trademark license
agreements with a subsidiary of Hallmark Cards. We believe that the use of this trademark is extremely
important for our Channels due to the substantial name recognition and favorable characteristics
associated with the name in the United States. For further information concerning these trademark license
agreements, see Part III—Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions—Hallmark
Trademark License Agreemgnts. .

Information concerning revenue, operating losses and identifiable assets attributable to our pay
television programming services and our distribution of films (through December 15, 2006) may be found
in Note 21 of Notes to Consolidated Finanrial Statements in this Report.

Development of Business

Crown Media Holdings, Inc., wilich wis inclorporated in the state of Delaware in December 1999;
through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Crown Media United States, LLC, owns, operates and distributes pay




television Channels dedicated to high-quality entertainment programming for adults and families, in the
United States. Significant investors in Crown Media Holdings include Halimark Entertainment .
Investments Co., a subsidiary of Hallmark Cards (“Hallmark Entertainment Investments”), the National
Interfaith Cable Coalition, inc. (“NICC”), and, indirectly through their investments in Hallmark
Entertainment Investments, Liberty Media Corporation (“Liberty Media”) and J.P. Morgan Partners
(BHCA), L. P. (“1.P. Morgan”). Crown Media International acquired an interest in Crown Media United
States in 1998, and as a result of several transactions, Crown Media Holdings owned 100% of the equity
interests of Crown Media United States by March 2001. Prior to April 2005, when the Company sold its
international operations through the sale of Crown Media International, the Company operated its
Channels in approximately 150 countries throughout the world.

Hallmark Cards controls the Company through its ownership of more than 80% of the equity interests
in Hallmark Entertainment Investments and its control over the voting of our Class A and Class B
common stock held by Hallmark Entertainment Investments. See also the description of the Hallmark
Entertainment Investments Co. Stockholders Agreement in Part III—Item 13 below and Part I1I—Item 12
below regarding beneficial ownership of our securities.

Industry Overview

The pay television industry is comprised primarily of program suppliers, pay television channel
providers and pay television distributors. Program suppliers, from whom we acquire or license a portion of
our programming, include many of the major production studios and other independent production
companies and independent owners of programming. These program suppliers create, develop and finance
the production of, or control rights to, movies, television miniseries, series and other programming.

We are a pay television channel provider. Pay television channel providers include all channel
providers (except over-the-air broadcasters) and major U.S. cable and satellite networks. Pay television
channel providers often produce programming and acquire or license programming from program
suppliers and generally package the programming according to an overriding theme and brand strategy.
Pay television providers and distributors generally restrict viewership through security encryption devices
that limit viewership to paying subscribers. Pay television channel providers compete with each other for
distribution and to attract viewers and advertisers. Pay television providers generally target audiences with
a certain demographic composition, so that they can then sell advertising to advertisers seeking to reach
the providers’ demographic audiences.

Pay television distributors own and operate the platforms used to deliver channels to subscribers.
These distributors use several different technologies to reach their subscribers as described below.
Distributors attempt to create a mix of channels that will be.attractive to their subscriber population in an
attempt to gain new subscribers and to reduce subscriber turnover. Distributors have different levels of
service for subscribers, with each service level containing some different channels. Recently, pay television
distributors have created a “tier” of family programming; we are on two of such tiers as of the date of this
Report. Distributors have begun to offer additional broadband services such as Internet access, telephony
and video-on-demand over their systems. Lo

As a result of the recently increased competition for limited analog channel space in the United States
and increased use of the digital cable capacity for new broadband services, pay television channel providers
are often required to pay subscriber acquisition fees to pay television distributors for carriage on their
systems. These subscriber acquisition fees are paid to television distributors on a per subscriber basis and
generally in advance of any receipt of subscriber fee revenue from such pay television distributors.




Distribution Platforms

Four major distribution platforms are currently used to transmit programming. First, cable television
systems use coaxial or fiber optic cable to transmit multiple channels between a central facility, known as a
headend, and the individual subscriber’s television set. Second, analog and digital satellite broadcast
systems (such as direct-to-home or “DTH”) use satellite transponders to broadcast television programming
to individual dwellings with satellite reception equipment, including a dish and a decoder. Third, digital
terrestrial television broadeasters (“DTT™) typically broadcast locally or through regional or national
ground-based transmission networks. In general, such broadcasters use landline, microwave or satellite
transmission systems to distribute programming to terrestrial transmission facilities for broadcast directly
to viewers’ homes. Finally, channels can also be distributed through satellite master antenna television
(“SMATV”). SMATV is used primarily for buildings, such as apartments and hotels that receive
programming from satellites by means of u single antenna that is connected to the buildings’ headend. The
television signals are then distributed to individual units in the building by cable.

Sources of Revenue
Subscriber Fees

Pay television customers subscribe to basic services by paying monthly fees for basic channels to pay
television distributors. The customers can also subscribe to additional packages of premium or pay-per-
view services upon payment of additional fees. See Item 7, Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations. '

Generally, we charge our pay television distributors a monthly subscriber fee for the right to broadcast
our Channels. Generally, these distribution agreements last from three to ten years, and sometimes include
annual increases of subscriber fees. A distribution agreement may also involve a payment by us for the
establishment of the relationship or, together with or in lieu of any payment, waived subscriber fees for our
Channels to distributors for a period of time and discounts or no fees if certain subscriber levels are
achieved. Please see Item 7, Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations, for information regarding subscriber fees. For the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005, and
2006 revenue derived from subscriber fees for the Channels were approximately $9.9 million, $18.7 million,
and $24.9 million, respectively. ' v

Advertising Revenue

Television advertising is sold in a variety of formats. Many pay television channels rely targely upon
the spot advertisement format. Spot advertisements are normally 30 seconds long and air during or
between programs. They are often sold in packages of a certain number of spots or to deliver a certain -
number of viewers, An alternative to spot advertising is sponsorship, by which a company sponsors a
program or selection of programs on a channel and receives enhanced exposure for its brand and products
in these programs.

The ability of a television channel to generate advertising revenue largely depends on estimated or
actual viewing levels, primarily based on ratings, and on advertising rates. In the United States,
independent ratings systems on which advertising sales can be based are well established and widely
accepted within the industry. In addition, pay television channel providers and distributors ‘may also
provide estimated or actual subscriber information, Our Channel typically sells approximately 50% of its
advertising in the “up-front” season, generally in June and July, for the last quarter of the same year and
the first three quarters of the foltowing year. We hold back a small percentage of our inventory for
audience deficiency units, “ADUS,” and sell the remainder in the spot or scatter market. ADUs are units
of inventory that are made available to advertisers as compensation for advertising purchased in programs
which did not deliver the ratings which the advertisers had been guaranteed.
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As pay television channels draw audience share, audience demographics (i.e. viewers categorized by
characteristics-such as age, sex and income) become fragmented. As a result, advertisers are able to target
the specific groups of viewers who are most likely to purchase their products, by buying advertisingon
channels which attract the desired viewer demographic.

We have advertising sales offices in New York, Los Angeles, Chicago, and Atlanta. In addition, we
have made significant investments in programming, research, marketing and promotions, all specifically
designed to support the sale of advertising time on our Channels. For the years ended December 31, 2004,
2005, and 2006 revenues from the sale of advertising time on our Channels were approximately $106.3
million, $146.1 million, and $174.2 million, respectively. '

Rating'sl , \ .

Among the 65 ad-supported cable channels in the United States market in 2006, the Hallmark
Channel ranked 8" in total day with an average 0.755 household rating for the year and 9 for prime time
with ah average 1.216 household rating for the year, according to Nielsen Media Research. In 2005, among
the 60 ad-supported cable channels in the United States market, the Hallmark Channel ranked 9* in total
day with an average 0.707 household rating and 11" for prime time with an average 1.033 household rating,
according to Nielsen Media AResearcli. Total day means the time period measured from the time each day
the broadcast of commercially-sponsored programming commences to the time such commercially-
sponsored programming ends. We believe that the key demographics for the Hallmark Channel are the
viewers in the groups Adults aged 25 to 54 and Women aged 25 to 54. The average median age of a viewer
of the Hallmark Channel in 2006 was 59.9.

[}

Licensing Revenue . ! J

Until we sold our domestic library to RHI Entertainment LLC on December 15, 2006, we licensed our
film assets to broadcasters and video distributors (pay television channel providers) who paid a license fee
for the right to exhibit or distribute the programming over a certain period of time.

Programming

]

Our Channels offer a range of high-quality entertainment programming for adults and families.
including movies, miniseries, epics, historical dramas, romances, literary classics, and contemporary stories.
Sources for programming on our Channels include programming licensed from RHI Entertainment
Distribution and programming licensed from other third parties! -

Examples of programming from the RHI Entertainment Distribution library include, Larry
McMurtry’s Lonesome Dove, The Outsider, Talking to Heaven, Frederick Forsyth's Icon, Supernova and
Larry McMurtry’s Dead Man’s Walk. We benefit from these original RHI Entertainment Distribution -
productions, which aired and are sometimes premiered on our Channel. Examples of other third party
programming shown on our Channel include the popular drama series M*4*S *H, Little House on the
Prairie, Diagnosis Murder, Matlock, Walker Texas Ranger and The Waltons. Other examples of our third
party programming inciude acquired movies and miniseries such as March of the Penguins, Troy, certain'An
American Girl movies and When Harry Met Sally. Our license agreements with third parties typically
provide for a license fee paid out over the term of the license for the'right to exhibit a program in the .
United States within a specified period of time.

Our channels air and benefit from programming previously shown as Hallmark Hall of Fame such as
John Grisham'’s Painted House, Fallen Angel, Sarah, Plain and Tall and What the Deaf Man Heard.




We have rights to a number of original movies and mini-series under our programming agreement
with RHI Entertainment Distribution. See “Hallmark Entertainment Distribution/RHI Entertainment. .
Distribution Programming Agreement” in Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions.

We have sublicensed exhibition rights to several programs for 2006, 2007 and 2008 in order to save on
programming costs.

Distribution

The Hallmark Channel ended 2006 with 74.6 million subscribers, an increase of 6% from 70.7 millioh
at the 2005 year-end. We currently distribute the Hallmark Channel to approximately 78% of all United
States pay television subscribers. The following table shows the approximate number of pay television
households and the Hallmark Channel subscribers for each of the eight largest pay television distributors,
and all other pay television distributors as a group, in the United States as of December 31, 2006.

. . HALLMARK
TOTAL U.S. PAY HALLMARK * CHANNEL—U.S.
. ‘ v CHANNEL—U.S. . % OFPAYTV
PAY TELEVISION DISTRIBUTOR HOUSEHOLDS(1} SUBSCRIBERS(1) HOUSEHOLDS
’ (In thousands, excepl percentages)
Comeast. . v.ouviii it i e, 26,254 20,527 78.2%
DirecTV. e e e 15,678 : 15,586 99.4%
Time Warner. . ..........ovviiiiieenninn.es 16,685 13,464 80.7%
COX . e e e 5496 4,502 ' 81.9%
Charter. ... ey 5,870 4,470 76.1%
Echostar. .......... ..o 12,755 5,660 44 4%
Cablevision ........coiiii it 3,003 2,473 82.4%
Allothers. ... ... .. i i, 9,727 . 7,959 81.8%

Total................ e 95468 . . 74,641 . ' 782%

(1) Source: Nielsen Code and The Nielsen Public U.E. December 2006.

Our subscribers in the United States have grown from approximately 16.0 million full time subscribers
at January 1, 2001 to approximately 74.6 million full time subscribers at December 31, 2006.

Our major distribution agreements have terms which expire at various times through February 2012._
Of these distribution agreements, agreements accounting for approximately 70% of our subscriber base at
December 31, 2006, will expire and be the subject of renewal negotiations on or prior to December 31,
2007. The Company has recently renewed its agreements with two major distributors.

Sales and Marketing

Our primary targét demographics are women aged 25 to 54 and adults aged 25 to 54 and our f'. '
secondary target is adults aged 18 to 49. Our programming is targeted to adults, but is generally '
appropriate for viewing by the entire family, which is important to viewers, advertisers and affiliates alike.

For over fifty years Hallmark has been a leader in high-quality original television production. The
Hallmark Channel and the Hallmark Movie Channel are the only major cable television channels which
broadcast the movies previously shown as Hallmark Hall of Fame, a selection of movies from an award-
winning entertainment series.




The power of the Halimark brand and the quality and viewer appeal of RHI Entertainment =~ » -*°
Distribution programming combine to: _ . . _ .

o provide our viewers with tangible evidence of our commltment to the best in entertainment for the
entrre fam1ly, : . . Sy e

[

.. enhance our ability to attract advertlsmg commltments and h:gher Cost- Per—Thousands (“CPM”)
from the largest advertlsers and. oo _ E : . o

+ provide a competitive advantage in negotiating long-term distribution agreements with pay
television distributors. L . . . .
Crown Media Holdings currently uses the websites www.hallmarkchannel.com and "
www.hallmarkmoviechannel.com to promote the channels and their programs, and to provide information
to potential viewers. These websites contain information regarding the channel’s program schedule,
detailed information on the channel’s programs and their stars, and prowde platforms for participation in
the channels’ sweepstakes promotions. The sites include advertiser i imaging inctudirg banner messages and
video content. Crown Media Holdings also uses internet “micro sites” to further support major ™ - "
programming events such as the television premier of “March of the Penguins.” These sites provide

additional programmmg 1nf0rmat10n and adverttser sponsorshlp opportumtles

Hallmark Movie Channel Y

We fully launched our second 24-hour linear channel, the Hallmark Movie Channel, during the first
quarter of 2005. The Hallmark Movie Channel focuses on movies and mini- -series. The launch of the
Hallmark Movie Channel provides an opportunity for the Company to build a second programming asset
and use this programming asset as a value added enhancement to increase distribution of the Hallmark
Channel. .- } .

'y . - . v . i

Channel Operations

The programming department has been responsible for ensuring the consistent quality of the
programming we offer. The programming, scheduling and acquisitions departments work in conjunction”
with the traffic department and creative services to create the distinctive appearance of our Channels.
Some of these functions are outsourced on an as-needed basis.

The creation of our Channels begins with the acquisition of programming. We license programmmg
from RHI Entertainment Distribution and other program suppliers. Our staff or third parties review and
summarize all potential programming to ensure compliance with our quality and content standards.

The creation of on-air promotional segments “interstitials”, which are broadcast between the feature
movies, miniseries and series, are typically outsourced to external vendors. These interstitials are intended
to invite viewérship, gutde viewers to specific programming, and promote “brand awarenéss” for the -
Hallmark Charinel and the’ Hallmark Movie Channel. : . .

The scheduling department creates the play list, which contalns a list of daily programming. The .
schedulmg department works with advemsmg sales and marketing personnel to continuously momtor the
programming mix. The play list is then forwarded to the traffic department

o

The traffic department inserts promotlonal segments and advertlsmg into the play Ilst and creates the
datly log, Wthh contains a detailed schedule of the stream of programmmg, commerc1als and promotlonal
materials that will ultimately be viewed by the subscribers of the Hallmark Channel.

: T
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Channel Delivery

We deliver the daily log and digital tapes of the Channels’ programming, commercials and '
promotional messages to a third party “Network Operations Center” in Denver, Colorado, where the
programming, advertising and promotional elements are combined and compressed into a single signal,
and transported to an uplink facility in Denver, Colorado. The uplink facility then transmits the signal to a
satellite transponder that covers the United States and the transponder transmits the signal back to cable
head-end facilities and direct-to-home satellite services operated by pay television distributors who receive
and decode our signal and transmit our Channels to their subscribers..

The following chart summarizes for the primary distribution platforms through which we deliver our
Channels, our primary pay television distributors, and the uplink and satellites we currently use to deliver
our Channels. . : : . X

Primary " Primary Playback Uplink
: Distribution Pay TV - Providers/ ‘- Providers/ .
Market Platforms Distributors Locations Locations Satellites
United States ~ Cable Time Warner Sparrowhawk Comcast Digital SES Americom—-
L : . AMC11
Satellite DirecTV Broadcast Services Media Center
Direct-to-home Charter Denver, CO Littleton, CO
Adelphia
Echostar
! Cox

Cablevision
Comcast -

The contracts with the parties providing uplink, satellite and other services for the delivery of our
Channels in the United States expire from 2012 through 2019. Such contracts may be terminated by the
vendors prior to the expiration of the contracts under conditions that are customary to contracts of this
type. Amounts payable under these contracts, as well as international contracts, are reflected in “Operating
and Capital Leases” in the schedule of contractual comritments as of December 31, 2006 as shown in
Item 7 below. '

Competition

The pay television industry is highly competitive. Our Channels have competed for distribution,
viewers and advertisers with other pay television channels, broadcast television channels and with other
general forms of entertainment.

There are several sources of competition within our industry, each of which affects our business
strategy. The Hallmark Channel competes with other general entertainment programming from TNT,
USA Network, A&E, the Discovery Channel, Lifetime, Oxygen, ABC Family and other similarly targeted
channels. We compete with these channels for viewers and advertising dollars based upon quality of
programmmg, number of subscribers, ratings and subscriber demographics. We compete with all channels
for carriage on cablé, satellite and telephone systems that may have limited capacity.

Competition continues to intensify as the industry shifts from analog distribution to dlgltal
distribution. Many pay television distributors have upgraded their physical infrastructures to accommodate
digital delivery, which provides 51gn1ﬁcantly more channel capacity. We believe that it will take several
years for the majority of current subscribers to convert to, and begin paying for, upgraded services. In an
effort to accelerate the conversion, pay television distributors are attempting to place new channels on
their digital tier as opposed to their limited, yet more widely-distributed, analog tiers. Although




competition for the remaining analog channel space is still intense, as more and more subscribers are
converted, the digital tier is expected to become the dominant platform.

Competitive Strengths

We have established a track record of prov1dmg hlgh quality programming. We believe that our ¢
primary competitive strengths include the following:

Ve

Pay Television Channels Branded with the Well-Known Hallmark Name

Our Channels are branded.with the Hallmark name. We believe that viewers and distributors
associate the Hallmark brand with family values and high quality content. Our association with this brand
facilitates our efforts to achieve increased distribution and to attract additional viewers, which in turn leads
to higher ratings and advertising revenue. '

Distribution Contracts that Call for Increasing Subscriber Counts and Fees

At December 31, 2006, we had distribution agreements with Cablevision, Charter, Comcast, Cox,
DirecTV, EchoStar, and Time Warner in the United States, as well as a number of other distributors. The
terms of our major distribution agreements generally provide for subscriber fee increases over time,
although some provide for lower or no subscriber fees if ¢ertain levels of subscribers are achieved. See
“Risk Factors Relating to Our Business” below.

Experienced Management

Members of 6ur'senior'mar_1agemeht team have experience 'promoting.and operating channels. They
have held senior positions at such companies as Court TV, ABC, CBS Sports, Fox Family, Discovery
Channel, AMC and USA Networks.

Competitive Risks
One Primary Channel Distributed Domestically

We operate one primary Channel in the United States. Many of our competitors. have more than one
channel and are also diversified entertainment companies, giving them an advantage in dealing with
distributors and advertisers. These companies are also able to leverage costs across multiple channels.
Until the Hallmark Movie Channel is more widely distributed, it will not provide significant leverage in
negotiations with distributors and advertisers.

Entertainment Programming

Our programming is entertainment designed for adults and families and is intended to meet quality
standards that are associated with the Hallmark trademark Our competitors may have more flexibility in
programming.

] Al ‘

Ratmgs ‘Which Aﬂ'ect Advemsmg

QOur ratings have improved substantlally over the last three years. Nevertheless, our competltors
include channels with more subscribers and higher ratings, which affects rates that we can charge for
advertising. .

Research . ,

The research department at the Company provides strategic and tactical guidance to decision-makers
within the Company, as well as supplying information about the Channels to our potential advertisers and




affiliates. This department provides data on the size and demographics-of our audience and.information :
about our audiences, competitors, markets and industry.

Currently, our Channel’s research department translates our overall business strategy into a cohesive
research program. This information assists our executives to more effectively target, brand, promote,
program, and.better understand where opportunities lie, in order to increase our Channel’s market share.

The research department has sophisticated research tools and eo‘mpe'titive tracking database hardware
and software. Trends and changes from these ratmgs systems are reported to top management for short
and long-term strategic planning.

Our Channel’s performance is tracked through an internal tracking study established i in July 2001,
which is a monthly telephone survey conducted among a national probability sample of approxnmately
1,000 adults. The research department also subscribes to a number of other semees Wthh are useful in,
obtaining information about viewers of our Channel.

v S . o . L

Employees

We had 186 employees at December 31,2005, and 158 employees at December 31, 2006. Nelther we
nor any of olrr subsidiaries are parties to collectlve bargaining agreements. We believe that our relations
with our employees are good. Most of our Channels’ employees work at our offices in Studlo Ctty,
California and New York, New York.

Financial Information about Geographic Areas

Information concerning revenue and long-lived assets attributable to external customers may be found
in Note 21 of our Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in this Report.

Available Information B

We will make available free of charge through our website, www.hallmarkchannel.com, the Annual
Report, our quarterly reports an Form 10-Q, our current reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to such
reports, as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file or furnish such material with the
Securities and Exchange Commission.

Additionally, we will make available, free of charge upon request, a copy of our Code of Business
Conduct and Ethics, which is applicable to all of our employees, including our-senior financial' 0fficers.
Requests fora copy of this code should be addressed to the General Counsel at Crown Media
Holdings, Inc., 12700 Ventura Boulevard, Studio City, California 91604,

ITEM 1A. Risk Factors
Risk Factors and Forward-Looking Statements ! - ' .

The discussion set forth in this Form 10-K contains statements concerning potential future events., .
Such forward-looking statements are based on assumptions by Crown Media Holdings management, as of
the date of this Form 10-K including assumptions about risks and uncertainties faced by Crown Media
Holdmgs Readers can identify these forward-looking statements by their use ‘of such verbs as “expects,”

“anticipates,” “believes,” or similar verbs or conjugations of such verbs. If any of management’s
assumptions prove incorrect or should-unanticipated circumstances arise, Crown Media Holdings’ actnal
results, levels of activity, performance, or achievements could materially differ from those anticipated by
such forward-looking statements. Among the factors that could cause actual results to differ materially are
those discussed below in this Form 10-K. Crown Media Holdings will not update any forward-looking '
statements-contained in this Form 10-K to reflect future events or.developments. . ;

¥ - L
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. If-we do not successfully address the risks described below, our business, prospects, financial
condition, results of operations or cash flow could be materially adversely affected. The trading price of
our Class A commen stock could decline because of any of these risks.

.

Risks Relatmg to Our Business
Our busmess has incurred net losses since inception and may cantmue to incur losses.

Both our channels have a history of net losses and we expect to continue to report net losses for the
foreseeable future. As of December 31, 2006, we had an accumulated deficit of approximately $1.9 billion,
total stockholders’ deficit of approxxmately $478.9 million, and goodwﬂl of approximately $314.0 million.

We cannot assure you that we will achieve or sustain profitability. If we are not able to achieve or
sustain profitability, the trading price of our Class A common stock may fall significantly. To diminish our
losses and become profitable, we will need to substantially increase our advertising.and subscriber revenue.
This will require, among other things, maintaining the distribution of our channels, attracting more viewers
to our channels, attracting more advertisers, and increasing our subscriber and advertising rates. Risks
associated with these areas of our business are described below. .

In addition, in order to accomplish these goals, the management of Crown Media Holdings continues
to believe that it is necessary to maintain subscriber levels and enhance our programming, which may result
in increased subscriber acquisition fees and will result in increased costs for programming. Over the last
four years, these actions have contributed to increased net-losses for Crown Media Holdings.

Our substantial indebtedness could adversely affect our financial health, and the restrictions imposed by the terms
of our debt instruments may severely limit our ability to plan for or respond to changes in our business.

We have a substantial amount of indebtedness. As of December 31, 2006, our total debt was $975.7-
million and we had $14.0 million of cash and cash equivalents and $42.4 million available under our bank
credit facility subject to the approval of our Board of Directors to cover the negative cash flow resulting
from our current operations. Subject to restrictions under our debt agreements, we may also scek equity or
debt financing from time to time to cover our operating losses, to finance acquisitions or capital
expenditures or for other purposes.

As a result of our level of debt and thé terms of our debt instruments:
« our vulnerability to adverse general economic conditions is heightened,

. ‘weA will be required to dedicate a portion of our cash flow from operations to repayment of debt,
limiting the availability of cash for other purposes;

« we are and will continue to be limited by financial and other restrictive covenants in our ability to
borrow additional funds, consummate asset sales, enter into transactions with affiliates or conduct
mergers and acquisitions;

« " our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business and industry will be limited;
. we are sensitive to fluctuations in interest rates; and

« our ability to obtain additional financing in the future for working capital, capital expenditures,
+  acquisitions, general corporate purposes or other purposes may be impaired.

Our ability to meet our debt and other obligations and to reduce our total debt depencis on our future
operating performances and on economic, financial, competitive and other factors. There can be no
assurance that our leverage and such restrictions will not materlally and adversely affect our ability to
finance our future operations or capital needs or 1o engage in other business activities. '
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Information concerning our liquidity may be found in Note 1 of our Notes to Consohdated Financial
Statements in this Report. ‘ . . : <

We have increasing interest expense, which may impact our future operations.

High levels of interest expense could have negative effects on our future operations. Interest expense,
which is net of interest income and includes amortization of debt issuance costs and interest expense on
borrowings under our senior and demand notes and bank credit facility, increased substantlally over the
past year. The increase in interest expense in the past twelve months resulted from an increase in the
average borrowings outstanding, due to cash generated from operations being insufficient to cover .
operating expenses and capital expenditures. A substantial portion of our cash flow from operations must
be used to pay our interest expense and will not be availabie for other business purposes. In addition, we
may need to incur additional indebtedness in the future. We cannot assure you that our business will
generate sufficient cash flow or that future financings will be available to provide sufficient proceedsto -
meet our'obligations or to service our total debt.’ :

Our liquidity is dependent on external funds. !

' Because we currently operate at a loss, we may have a negative cash flow and any unanticipated
significant expense or any development that hampers our growth in revenue or decreases any of our
revenue, would result in the need for additional external funds in order to continue operations. Further, as
discussed in this report under “Liquidity and Capital Resources” below, we need to extend, refinance or
replace our bank line of credit on or prior 10 May 31, 2008, or to extend or replace borrowings from
Hallmark Cards by May 31, 2008, that would result from the banks drawing upon the irrevocable letter of +*
credit supporting the bank credit facility or from Halimark Cards’ purchasing the loans under that facitity -
(see note 11 to our Consolidated Financial Statements), and extend or refinance outstanding notes .
payables to Hallmark Cards and its subsidiaries on or prior to May 31, 2008,

Upon maturity of the credit facility on May-31, 2008, the iending group led by JP Morgan Chase has
the right to elect to forego the receipt of cashto pay the principal amount of the credit facility in full, which
is provided for under the terms of an irrevocable letter of credit provided by Hallmark Cards described in -
note 11 but instead can elect to initiate a process to foreclose on the Company’s assets. Such foreclosure
proceedings, which we view as a remote possibility, would affect our ability to continue our operatlons
Prior to any such possible foreclosure proceedings, however, the Company would consider various
alternatives as indicated above. In the alternative, the Company would cause Hallmark Cards, pursuant to
the terms of the waiver and standby purchase agreement, to exercise its option to purchase the banks
interest in the credit facility and the credit facility wouid then be subject to Hallmark Cards agreement not
to demand payment prior to May 31, 2008.

We need to renew distribution agreements covering more than a majority of our subscribers, which expire prior to
December 31, 2007.

Qur distribution agreements with four of the major distributors in the United States, accounting for
approximately 70% of our subscriber base as of December 31, 2006, will terminate on or prior to
December 31, 2007 pursuant to the terms of the agreements. If we are uniable to renew these distribution
agreements, we could lose substantial numbers of subscribers. Although we believe we will be able to -
negotiate new agreements on favorable terms, it is difficult to predict what the level of subscriber fees will
be or whether the distributors will request marketing or “launch” support payments as a condition for
renewal. Any significarit loss of subscribers, reduction in subscriber fees or obligation to pay launch
support or marketing payments could materially affect our subscriber and advertising revenues and affect v
materially our cash flow and ablhty to achieve profltablllty
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“Most Favored Nations” provisions may require modification of existing distribution agreements which could
adversely affect subscriber revenues.

A number of our existing distribution agreements contain “most favored nations” or “MFN” clauses.
These clauses typically provide that, in the event we enter into an agreement with another distributor on
more favorable terms, these terms must be offered to the distributor holding the MFN right, subject to
certain exceptions and conditions. Distribution agreements which we may enter into in the future may also .
contain simitar MFN clauses. In the past, after entering into new distribution agreements, we have been
asked by some-of the distributors holding MFN rights to modify their distribution agreements to
incorporate financial terms similar to those in the new agreements. Any claims of this type in the future
could result in lower overall subscriber revenues or increased cash outlays; however, if our subscription
base is increased as a result of such modifications, it could result in higher advertising revenue.

If we are unable to obtain programming from third parties, we may be unable to increase our subscriber base.

We compete with other pay television channel providers to acquire programming. If we fail to
continue to obtain programming on reasonable terms for any reason, including as a result of competition,
we could be forced to incur additional costs to acquire such programming or look for alternative
programming, which may hinder the growth of our subscriber base.

If our programming declines in popularity, our subscriber fees and advertising revenue could fall.

Our success depends partly upon unpredictable and volatile factors beyond our control, such as viewer
preferences, competing programming and the availability of other entertainment activities, We may not be
able to anticipate and react effectively to shifts in tastes and interests in our markets. Our competitors may
have greater numbers of original productions, better distribution, and greater capital resources, and may
be able to react more quickly to shifts in tastes and interests. As a result, we may be unable to maintain the
commercial success of any of our current programming, or to generate sufficient demand and market
acceptance for our new programming. A shift in viewer preferences in programming or alternative
entertainment activities could also cause a decline in both advertising and subscriber fees revenue. The
decline in revenue could hinder or prevent us from achieving profitability and could adversely affect the
market price of our Class A common stock.

[}

If we are unable to increase our advertising revenue, we may be unable to achieve profitability.

Although it is expected over time that our advertising revenue will increase, if we fail to significantly
increase our advertising revenue, we may be unable to achieve or sustain profitability or to expand our
business. A failure to increase advertising revenue may be a result of any or all of the following: (i) we have
a limited history of marketing and selling advertising time; (ii) we may be unable to identify, attract and
retain experienced sales and marketing personnel with relevant experience; (iii) our sales and marketing
organization may be unable to successfully compete against the significantly more extensive and well-
funded sales and marketing operations of our current or potential competitors; (iv) the advancement of
technologies such as Digital Video Recording which may cause advertisers to shift their expenditures to
media in which their commercial messages are not circumvented by the technology; andfor (v) we will not
be able to increase our advertising sales rate-card or may be required to run additional advertising spots
which affect the availability of advertising inventory for future sales. Success in increasing our advertising
revenue also depends upon the number and coverage of the distributors who carry our channels, our
number of subscribers, and the viewership ratings for our programming.
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Hallmark Entertainment Investments controls us and this control could create conﬂzcls of interest or inhibit
potential changes of control,

Hailmark Entertainment Investments controls all of our outstanding shares of Class B common stock
and owns shares of our Class A common stock, representing in the aggregate approximately 95.8% of the
outstanding voting power on all matters submitted to our stockholders. Hallmark Entertainment Holdings,
a subsidiary of Hallmark Cards, controls the voting of all our shares held by Hallmark Entertainment
Investments. Hallmark Entertainment Investments’ control could discourage others from initiating
potential merger, takeover or other change of control transactions that may otherwise be beneficial to our
business or holders of Class A common stock. As a result, the market price of our Class A common stock
could suffer, and our business could suffer. Hallmark Entertainment Investments’ control relationship with
us also could give rise to conflicts of interest in certain situations.

We could lose the right to use the name “Hallmark” because we have limited-duration license agreements, which
could harm our business.

We license the name “Hallmark” from Hallmark Licensing, Inc., a subsidiary of Hallmark Cairds, for
use in the names of our channels. This license will expire on September 1, 2007. If Hallmark Cards
determines not to renew the trademark license agreements for any reason, including failure to comply with
Hallmark Cards’ programming standards, we would be forced to significantly revise our business plan and
operations, and could experience a significant erosion of our subscriber base and advertising revenue.

If our third-party suppliers fail to provide us with network infrastructure services on a timely basis, our costs
could increase and our growth could be hindered,

We currently rely on third parties to supply key network infrastructure services, including uplink,
playback, transmission and satellite services to our market, which are available only from limited sources.
We have occasionally expérienced delays and other problems in receiving communications equipment,
services and facilitics and may, in the future, be unable to obtain such services, equipment or facilities on
the scale and within the time frames required by us on terms we find acceptable, or at all. If we are unable
to obtain, or if we experience a delay in the delivery of, such services, we may be forced to incur significant
unanticipated expenses to secure alternative third party suppliers or adjust our operations, which could
hinder our growth and reduce our revenue and potential profitability.

If we are unable to retain key executives and other personnel, our growth could be inhibited and our business
harmed.

Our success depends on the expertise and continued service of our executive officers and key
employees of our subsidiaries. If we fail to attract, hire or retain the necessary personnel, or if we lose the
services of our key executives, we may be unable to implement our business pIan or keep pace with
developing trends in our industry.

The amount of our goodwill may hinder our ability to achieve profitability. .

As a result of our acquisitions of all the common interests in Crown Media United States, we have
recorded a significant amount of goodwill. We are required to periodically review whether the value of our
goodwill has been impaired. If we are required to write down our goodwill, our results of operations,
stockholders’ equity (deficit) could be materially adversely affected.
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Our stock price may be volatile and could decline substantially.

The stock market has, from time to time, experienced extreme price ‘and volume fluctuatlons Many
factors may cause the market price for our Class A common stock to decline, including: '

» our operating results failing to meet the expectations of securities analysts or investors in any
quarter; o . o .

¢ material announcements by us or our competitors;

. g0vernmental regulatory action; . ' R .
« technological innovations by competitors or compenng technologies; '

e investor perceptions of our industry or prospects, or those of our customers;

s changes in-general market condmons or econgmic trends; and

‘ y .

. fallure to renew major dlStrlbutIOIl agreements.

o,

Additionally, of the approximately 74.1 million shares of the Company’s outstandmg Class A common
stock, only 9.6 million shares (approximately 13%) are not held by affiliates of the Company. This stock
ownership structure may also be a cause of volatlllty in the market price of the Company’s Class A
common stock.

Risks Relating to Our Industry

The proposed change in television ratings in the United States could reduce our Channel revenue and our ability
to achieve profitability.

Our domestic advertising revenues are partially dependent on television ratings provided by Nielsen
Media Research. Nielsen has modified its ratings systern by increasing its household sample size and plans
to institute other changes in its audience measurement systems Although these modifications have not
negatively impacted our ratings to date, as the impact of the changes continue to take effect our ratings
could cither be positively or negatively affected by these changes, depending on the demographic
characteristics of the households added to the Nielsen sample and the natures of the changes in the
measurement systems. Nielsen is continually in the process of modifying its ratings system to accommodate
emerging technologies. ' L

Competition could reduce oir. Charmel revenue and our ability to achieve profitability.

We operate in the pay television business, which is hlghly competitive. If we are unable to compete
effectively with large diversified entertainment companies that have substantially greater resources than we
have, our operating margins and market share could be reduced, and the growth of our business inhibited.
In particular, we compete for distribution with other pay television channels and, when distribution is
obtained, for viewers and advertisers with pay television channels, broadcast television networks, radio, the
Internet and other media. We also compete, to varying degrees, with other leisure-time activities such as
movie theaters, the Internet, radio, print media, electronic games and other alternative sources of
entertainment and information. Future technological developments may affect competition within this
business. . : : '

A continuing trend towards business combinations and alliances in the communications industries may
create significant new competitors for us or intensify existing competition. Many of these combined entities
have more than one channel and resources far greater than ours. These combined entities may provide
bundled packages of programmmg, delivery and other services that compete directly with the products we
offer. '
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We may need to reduce our prices or license additional programming to remain competitive, and we
may be unable to sustain future pricing levels as competition increases. Our failure to achieve or sustain
market acceptance of our programming at desired pricing levels could impair our ability to achieve
profitability or positive cash flow, which would harm our business.

Distributors in the United States may attempt to pressure pay TV channels with lower viewership,
such as our Channel, to accept decreasing amounts for subscriber fees, to pay higher subscriber acquisition
fees or to allow carriage of the Channel without the payment of subscriber fees. Factors that may lead to
this pressure include the number of competing pay TV channels, the limited space available on services of
distributors in the United States and the desire of distributors to maintain or reduce costs. Any reduction
in subscriber fees revenue now or in the future could have a material impact on our ability to achieve
profitability and cash flow,

New distribution technologies may fundamentally change the way we distribute our Channels and could
significantly decrease our revenue or require us to incur significant capital expenditures.

Our future success will depend, in part, on our ability to anticipate and adapt to technological changes
and to offer, on a timely basis, services that meet customer demands and evolving mdustry standards. The
pay television industry has been, and is likely to continue to be, subject to:

» rapid and significant technological change, including continuing developments in technology which
do not presently have widely accepted standards; and

» frequent introductions of new services and alternative technologies, including new technologies for
providing video services.

For example, the advent of digital technology is likely to accelerate the convergence of broadcast,
telecommunications, Internet and other media and could result in material changes in the economics,
regulations, intellectual property usage and technical platforms on which our business relies, including
lower retail rates for video services. These changes could fundamentally affect the scale, source, and
volatility of our revenue streams, cost structures, and profitability, and may require us to significantly
change our operations. .

We also rely in part on third parties for the development of, and access to, communications and
network technology. As a result, we may be unable to obtain access to new technology on a timely basis or
on satisfactory terms, which could harm our business and prospects.

Moreover, the increased capacity of digital distribution platforms, including the introduction of digital
terrestrial television, may reduce the competition for the right to carry channels and allow development of
extra services at low incremental cost. These lower incremental costs could lower barriers to entry for
competing channels, and place pressure on our operating margins and market position.

Changes in laws or regulations could adversely affect our distribution and thus our revenues.

The Federal Communications Commission or Congress may enact requirements that cable program
services be offered to subscribers on an “a la carte” basis, i.e. be made available for purchase separately
and not as part of a package of services or that the services be offered in specific packages such as a so-
called “family tier.” Such requirements could result in a reduction in the total number of subscribers to our
program services and adversely affect advertising revenue.

If we fail to con'zply with applicable government regulations, our business could be harmed.

If, we as a provider of television channels, fail to comply with applicable present or future government
regulations, we could be prohibited from distributing our program services and could be subject to
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monetary fines or directives, which would increase our operating costs, and, therefore, affect our ability to
achieve profitability. =~ - ... s e

; , R I R ) oLt -

FTEN

Moreover broadcasting regulations are generally subject to periodic and on-going governmental
review and legislative initiatives, which may, in the future, affect the nature of programming we are able to
offer and the means by which it is distributed. The timing, scope or outcome of these reviews could be |
unfavorable to us, and any changes to current broadcastmg leglslatlon or regulatlons cou]d requrre -
adjustments to Gur operanons Tt '

AN N AT ¢! R T
ITEM 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
Not applicable. -

ITEM 2. Propert:es

The following table provrdes certain summary mformatlon w1th respect to the principal- real properties
leased by the Company. We do not own.any real property. The leases for these offices and facilities expire
between 2007 and 2010. The Company believes the facilities, office space and other real propertres leased

are adequate for its current operations. . . e S S e
: !
" Approximate
- Area in
Location - ' . Use T Square Feet
12700 Ventura Blvd. .. .......... Executwe and administrative offlce and post 49,637
Studio'Gity, California."-. .« .production and editing facilities - e
1325 Avenue of the Americas . . .. Advertising sales and admlmstratwe office - + 13,145
New York, New York And advertising traffic
6430 S. Fiddlers Green Circle . . .. Administrative office 4,500
Greenwood Village, Colorado ., T T .
205 N. Michigan Ave. ........... Advertising sales office ~, 3,048
Chicago, Illinois ’
1170 Peachtree Street........... Advertising sales office 180

Atlanta, Georgia

T oo T W

.
B

‘We own most of the equipment and furmshmgs used in dur busmesses except for satellite”
transponders which are leased.” See Note 9 of Notes to Consohdated F1nanc1al Statements for mforrnatron :
on our leasing of property and equipment. ~~ * e ' v

o1
ITEM 3. Legal Proceedings 4 .
P | - L [

We are subject to incidental lltrgatlon risks in the ordinary course of our busmess We are not
currently the subject of any mater1a1 pendmg legal proceedrng , 3

[ ' S LT oL [ i

ITEM 4. Submission of Matters to z% Vote of Ser:urityi Holders
I L S S | SR

fa 1

Not applicable.
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' . . PARTIH

ITEM 5. Market for Our Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity
Securities . ) ,
Market Informauon T - ' T

Our Class A common stock is listed on the Nasdaq Natlonal Market System under the ucker symbol
“CRWN.” Set forth below are the hlgh and low’sales prices for our Class A common stock for each
quarterly period in 2005 and 2006, as reported on the Nasdaq National Market System.

: Price Rhnge
Common Stock High Low
2005 !
First QUATLET .. ..ottt et i ens $ 9.600 $8.000
Second Quarter . ......... .o e $10.110 $7.970
SThirdQuarter. . ... o e i e wererieaaiaa. o $11.500 $8.600.
Fourth Quarter ..... U S sivaeatoto b, $10970 0 $8.470
2006 | R . o \ :
FirsSt QUATTEr . ..ottt et e et e ieiaaay S $09.680...85.591
Second QUArer .. ... ittt s it $ 6410 33490
ThirdQuarter. ... $ 4700 $3.460
'Fou'rth Quarter ......... S $ 4.750 $2 940

There is no established public tradmg market for our Class B common stock, of whnch 100% is owned
by Halimark Entertainment Investments. -~ - . <y .

Holders v “

As of February 28, 2007, there were 60 record holders of our Class A common stock and one record
holder of our Class B common stock. L

Dividends e

We have not paid any cash dividends on our common stock since inception. Excluding our
commitments to NICC as described below.in Item 13, we anticipate that we will retain all of our earnings,
if any, in the foreseeable future to finance the continued growth and expansion of our business, and we
have no current intention to pay cash dividends. Our bank credit facﬂlty also prohibits our declaring or
paying any cash dividends.

Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensanon Plans

The followmg table prowdes as of December 31 2006, mformatlon for our only equlry compensatlon
plan, which is the Amended and Restated 2000 L:)ng Term Incentive Plan.

Equity Comﬁeﬁéaiion Plan Information

Number of Securities
Remaining Available

Number of Securities for Future Issuance
to be I[ssued Weighted-Average Under Equity
Upon Exercise of Exercise Price of Compensation Plans
Qutstanding Options,  Qutstanding Options, (Excluding Securities
Pian Category Warrants and Rights Warrants and Rights Reflected in Column (a))
(In thousands) (In thousands)
Equity compensation plans approved by
security holders. ................... 810 $10.24 9,190
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Stock Purchases = : : v " . ¢

We did not make any repurchases of our outstandmg shares during the fourth quarter of 2006. Two of
our executive officers purchased shares of our Class A Common Stock in open market transact10ns durmg
the fourth quarter of 2006.

Performance Graph

The following graph compares total stockholder return on our Class A Common Stock since
December 31, 2001 through December 29, 2006, to the Nasdaq Composite Index and a Peer Group Index
consisting of EW Scripps Co., Paxson Communications Corp. and Walt Disney Co. The graph assumes that’
$100 was invested in our stock on December 31, 2001 and that the same amount was invested in the
Nasdaq Composite Index and the Peer Group Index. Historical results are not necessarily indicative of
future performance. The following graph is deemed furnished and not filed with the SEC.

The closing sale price for our stock on December 31, 2001 was $11.29. Our closing stock price on
December 29, 2006, the last trading day of our 2006 fiscal year, was $3.63.
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ITEM 6. Selected Financial Data
Selected Historical Consolidated Financial Data of Crown Media Holdings

In the table below, we provide you with selected historical consolidated financial and other data of
Crown Media Holdings and its subsidiaries. The following selected consolidated statement of operations
data for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2003, 2004, 2005 and 2006, and the consolidated balance
sheet data as of December 31, 2002, 2003, 2004, 2005 and 2006, are derived from the audited financial
statements of Crown Media Holdings and its subsidiaries. This data should be read together with
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and the
consolidated financial statements and related notes included elsewhere in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K.
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In April 2005, the Company completed the sale of its international business and classified the
operating results of the mternatlonal business as discontinued operations in the accompanymg statements

of operations for all penods presented The Company’s discontinued operations consisted of the
international channel operations and the international rights to the film library assets.

In December 2006, the Company completed the sale of its film assets.

Years Ended December 31,

2002 2003 - 2004 2005 2006
{In thousands, except per share data)
Revenue: ., . )
Subscriber fees ...\ oo e $ B463 $§ 4329 § 9874 3 18746 $ 24,869
Advertising .. ...... ... e R 40,991 76,153 104,481 143,780 172,550
Advertising by Hallmark Cards.......ovvvnuunn [T L 5021 . .1,397 v 1,846 2,335 1,240
Film asset licensefees......................... [ 15,603 17,548 22,035 21,693 1,815
Sublicense fees and other revenue .............. e 1 "8 — 10,830 305
Total revenue, net . .. ... . i . i 70,079 . 99,433 138,236 197,384 , 201,179
Cost of Services: ,
Programming costs
Affiliates .. ... . . 13,456 9,785 11,820 14,924 27,080
Non-affiliates. . ...... LT S 86,727 58,490 “78,058° 105,653 125,113
Amortization of filmassets . . ................ ... . 13,131 12,965 28,905 51,619 14,739
Impairmentof filmassets. . ........ ... o il — 22,003 25,542 225832
Subscriber acquisition fee amortization expense. . ........... 39,133 22,961 26,020 35,928 31,044
Amortization of capitallease ........... e, — - 96 1,158 - 1,157
Other costs'of services. .. ........ et e 15,956 13,351 10,939 20,448 11,273
Totalcostofservices .. ...........covvvinnn T - 168,403 117,552 177,841 255,272 436,238
Selling, general and administrative expense .. ....... i oL 39394 - 41,811 52,209 35,162 43,761
Marketing expense . .............., P 34,004 16,619 16,477 24,160 16,021
Reorganization expense ... ... e P 6,798 993 — L —
Depreciation and amortization expense . . . ... .cvvevnnn .. 5,230 6,245 6,306 4,471 2,865
Gain fromsale of filmassets. . ............ ... ... ..., — — — — (8,238)
Loss from operations before interest expense . .......... (183,750 (83,787) (114,597)  (141,68]1) (289,468)
Loss on early extinguishmentofdebr . ...................... — {39,312) — — —
Guaranteed preferred béneficial interest aceretion ... % ..., .. B (25,508) ' (23,218) - — R —
Interest expense . ... ... .. ... it (17,124)  (39,758)  (60,179) (73,856) (98,935}
Loss before discontinued operations and cumulative effect -
of change in accounting principle. .. ............. ... (226,382) (186,575) (174,776) (215.537) (388,403)
Loss from discontinued operations, netof tax . .......... R . (86,647) (35,574) _(142,030) (10,683) —_
(Loss} gain from sale of discontinued operations, net of tax. . . . . . — — — (6,538) 1,530
Loss before cumulative effect of changc in accounting . ' ! .
principle. . .. ... . . (313,029) (222,149) (316,806) (232,758) (386,873)
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle. ........... i — 17,000 — — (2,099)
NetloSs .o oot el - $(313,029) 3(205,149) $(316,806) $(232,758) $(388,972)
Other comprehensive income (loss): C :
(Loss) gain on fair value of derivative asset. . . .............. 204 — — — —
Foreign currency translation adjustment. . ............... .. 1,063 1,366 -~ 1,421 (3.434) —
Comprehensive loss. ...................... Beareans $(311,762) $(203,783) $(315,385) $(236,192) $(388,972)
Weighted average number of Class A and Class B shares
outstanding, basic and difuted. ............ [P, e 104,306 + 104,484 104,533 104,619 104,788
Loss per share before discontinued operations and cumulative ‘
effect of change in accounting principle, basic and diluted . . . .. £ @y s (178 § (67 8 (206) § (371)
(Loss) gain per share from discontinued operations, bamc and . ) .
diluted. ... e 0.83) (0.34) {1.36) {0.16) 0.02°
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle, basicand - ' .
B P -~ 0.16 — - (0.02)°
Net loss per share, basic and diluted. . . ... e § (300) $ -(196) § (303) § -(222) § (3.7
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As of December 31,
2002 2003 2004 2005 2006
(In thousands) ' -

Balance Sheet Data: . : .
Cash and cash equivalents ......... 3 335 0§ 4306 $ 12102 .§ 15926 § 13,965

Goodwill .......... ...l ., 314,033 314,033 314,033 314,033 314,033
Total assets .............. S 1,497,930 1,565,747 1,512,768 1,273,826 767,783
Total long-term debt, excluding ' , ‘ . . A
current Maturities .............. . 382206 808,892 886,302 971,589 975,007
Stockholders’ equity (def1c1t) ....... " 467,595 313,451 54,636 (123,189)  (478,944)
Other Data: _ - ' _
Capital expenditures .............. $ 3627 § 2544 % 878 § 504 % 713
Total subscribers at yearend ... .... 48,815 56,010 64,565 70,666 74,641

t

ITEM 7. Management’s Dlscusslon and Analysis of Fmancml Condltlon and Results of Qperations

Overview
Current Business

Crown Medna Holdings, Inc. (“Crown Media Holdings,” “Crown Media” or the “Company”), through
its subsidiary, owns and operates pay television channels (collectively the “Hatlmark Channel,” the
“Hallmark Movie Channel,” the “channel” or collectlvely the “channels”) dedicated to high- quallty
entertainment programming for adults and.families, in the United States.

With 74.6 million subscribers (as provided by Nielsen Research) in the United States at December 31,
2006, Crown Media Holdings is the 39" most widely distributed advertising-supported cable channel in the
United States. For the fourth quarter of 2006, we finished the quarter as the 9" highest rated advertising-
supported cable channel for total day ratings‘and the 6" highest rated advertising-supported cable channel
in prime time as measured by Nielsen Research,

We launched our second 24-hour linear channel, the Hallmark Movie Channel, dunng the first
quarter of 2005. The Hallmark Movie Channel focuses on movies and mini-series. It will generate
advertising revenue in 2007 and as distribution continues to expand, the financial contribution of the
Hallmark Movie Channel may grow. The Hallmark Movie Channel is operated through Crown Media
Holdings existing infrastructure at a small incremental cost which will'increase since we have completed
the sale of our domestic film library. S

For information rcgardmg the sale of the domestic film library, through the sale of the Company’s
membership interest in Crown Media Distribution, see Note 1 and Note 3 of Notes to the Consolldated
Fmanc1a1 Statements in this Report. - : :

Current Challenges

"The Hallmark Channel faces challenges on the distribution front. The distribution agreements are
important because they affect our number of subscribers, which in tuin has a major impact on our
subscriber fees, the number of persons viewing our programming, and thus rates charged for advertlsing.
We have an ongeing focus on growing our subscriber base. The current and long-term distribution
challenges will be renewing our distribution arrangements with the multiple system operators as they
expire. Our major distribution agreements have terms which expire at various times through
February 2012. Of these distribution agreements, agreements accounting for approximately 70% of our
subscriber base at December 31, 2006, will expire and be the subject of renewal negotiations on or prior to
December 31, 2007. While the economics of the renewals and potential cash incentive payments are
unknown and could have a significant impact on our business, we believe that the ratings success of the
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Hallmark Channel and the positive family-friendly environment we have created with our programming
schedule has assisted in our renewal discussions. Any renewals of these distribution agreements may also
be significant as to whether we are able to maintain or increase our subscriber fees. The Company-has -« 4
recently renewed its agreements with two major distributors. ‘

[T i

Domestic telephone companies are entering into the business of distributing television channels to
households through their wire-lines. We have reached agreements with several telephone companles and
cooperatives of telephone comparues which permit the carriage of the Hallmark Channe] and the
Hallmark Movie Channel, and are negotiating with others. We expect that subscribers to these telephone_
services will in large part be customers previously served by existing cable television compafiiesand | "
satellite television companies. To date, subscribers and revenues through telephone companies have been
insignificant. e ‘

o

Three factors have contributed to the ratings improvements of the Hallmark Channel: acquired series
and movies, original productions and marketing. Acquired series such as Little House on the Prairie, Walker;
Texas Ranger and M*4*S*H have consistently delivered strong ratings across all day-parts. Original
productions are our most high profile programs and generate the channel’s highest ratings. Original * '
productions are significant in helping our distribution and advertising sales teams sell the channel. . .
Substantially all of our original programming has been provided by RHI Entertainment. The Company
typically incurs additional marketing expenses Surroundmg orlglnal productlons and Certam acqu1red
movies.

., : : 1. ' . ,' [

We have extended our program license for M*4*S*H, however, commencing:January 1, 2007, our. .
rights became non-exclusive in cable television and we may only broadcast the series from 8 a.m. to 8 p.m.
Previously, M*A*S*H has been aired on the Hallmark Channel durmg prtmetlme onan excluswe basis.
This change was made for cost savings. Beginning'in the fourth quarter of 2006 we filled the late mght )
programming position previously occupied by M *4*§*H with two hour movies. To date, the ratmgs from °
this day part have not been significantly different from the ratings received when M“'A *S "'H ﬁlled thts i
programmmg position.

e

To continue the ratings growth and enhance the demograph1cs of ouriwewers mcludmg attractlng a
younger audience, the Hallmark Channel must continye to mvest in programming and marketing,

Delivering strong ratings growth to larger audiences has made it possible for our advertising sales 1o 4
grow rapidly over the last few.years. To advertisers, the Hallmark Channel offers a strang brand, positive .
environment and family friendly programming with a successful growth pattern: These characteristics'have -
enabled the channel to sell to a broader range of advertisers, including those in the packaged goods and
pharmaceutical 1ndustr1es

We sold approximately 46% of our inventory for adwertrslng on our Channels in;the upfront market
(generally sales in June, July and August for the last quarter of 2006 and the first three quarters of 2007),
compared to 50% to 55% sold in the 2005 vpfront market. We were able to achieve significantincreases in
our CPM’s in the upfront market for next year compared to the upfront market for this year. The balpnce
of advertising inventory will be made avallable in the scatter market, whlch in the past has yte!ded hlgher
advertlsmg rates than the upfront market ‘ , Ce

International Business . , ) ) ' o

Please see Note 1 in our Consolrdated Financial Statements——Sale of the Internatronal Busmess of ..

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in this Report. - . - AN St

., r . . - . -, Ty ikt
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v Sale of Membership Interests in Crown Media Distribution Oy

F;l_ease see Note 1 in our Consolidated Financial Statements—Sale of Membership Interests in Crown
Media Distribution of Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in this Report.

+

Impmrmem of Assets

- Please see Note 3 of Notes to the Consolldated Financial Statements in this Report for information
on impairment charges for 2004, 2005 and 2006.

Revenue from Continuing Operations

Our revenue consists primarily of subscriber fees and advertising fees, and included until .
December 2006, film asset license fees.

Subscriber Fees

Subscriber fees are generally payable to us on a per subscriber basis by pay television distributors for
the right to carry our channels. In the past, we have paid certain television distributors up-front subscriber
acquisition fees to carry our channel. Subscriber acquisition fees that we pay are capitalized and amortized
over the contractual term of the applicable distribution agreement as a reduction in subscriber fee revenue.
If the amortization expense exceeds the revenue recognized on a per distributor basis, the excess
amortization is included as a component of cost of services. At the time we sign a distribution agreement,
we evaluate the recoverability of the costs we incur against the incremental revenue directly and indirectly
associated with each agreement.

Rates we receive per subscriber vary according to:

¢ the level of sophistication and degree of competition in the market;

o the relative position in the market of the distributor and the popularity of the é.llannel';
¢ the packaging arrangements for the channel; and

e other commercial terms and length of the contract term.

We are in continuous negotiations with our existing distributors to increase our subscriber base in
order to énhance our advertising results. We have been subject to requests by major distributors to pay
subscriber acquisition fees for additional subscribers or to waive or accept lower subscriber fees if certain
numbers of additional subscribers are provided. We also may help fund the distributors’ efforts to market
our channels or we may permit distributors to offer limited promotional periods without payment of
subscriber fees. As we continue our efforts to add subscribers, our subscriber revenue may continue to be
negatively affected by subscriber acquisition fee amortization, waiver of subscriber fees and bulk discounts
resulting from the attainment of certain subscriber levels; however, we believe these measures, if necessary,
will help us increase our subscriber base more quickly, which in turn will allow us to attract additional
advertisers and command higher advertising rates.

Our channel is usually offered as one of a number of channels on either a basic tier or part of other
program packages and is not generally offered on a stand-alone basis. Thus, while a cable or satellite
customer may subscribe and unsubscribe to the tiers and program packages in which our channel is placed,
these customers do not subscribe and unsubscribe to our channel alone. We are not provided with
information from the distributors on their overall subscriber churn and in what manner their churn rates
affect our subscriber counts; instead, we are prowded information on the total number of subscribers who
receive the Hallmark Channel. ’ v .o
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Our subscriber count depends on the number of distributors carrying the Hallmark Channel and the
size of such distributors as well as the program tiers on which our channel is carried by these distributors.
From time to ‘time, we experience decreascs in the number of subscribers as promotional periods end, or as
a distributor arrangement is amended or terminated by us or the distributor. Changes to distribution
arrangements during the year ended December 31, 2006, have not been significant. Management analyzes
the estimated effect each new or amended distribution agreement will have on revenues and costs. Based
upon these analyses, management endeavors to achieve a fair combination of subscrlber commitments and
subscriber acquisition fees with each of our domestic distributors. : ‘

Advertising - " :

Our advertising rates are generally calculated on the basis of an agreed upon price per unit of
audience measurement in return for a guaranteed commitment by the advertiser. We commit to provide
advertisers certain rating levels in connection with their advertising. Revenue is recorded net of estimated
delivery shortfalls, which are usually settled by providing the advertiser additional advertising time. .
Advertising rates also vary by time of year due to seasonal changes i.n television vit?wership.

lem Asset License Fees

Crown Media Distribution generated revenue from the film assets by grantmg licenses to third-parties
to exhibit the films in the United States. We also used the films as programming for the Hallmark Channel
and the Hallmark Movie Channel. Customers for our film assets consisted of other television channels,
home video distributors.and brokers who resold rights to our film assets. License fees for our film assets .
were generally negotiated based upon, among other things, the size of the potential audience who were to
be viewing the programming and the term of the license. The market for our film library was typically
seasonal, with over half of the annual sales occurring in the fourth quarter in past years. This seasonality
was generally due to the timing of our customers’ program scheduling activities. In 2006, film licensing
activities and revenues were negatively affected by the sale process of the Company’s film library, which
sale closed in December 2006. Due to the sale of the Company’s film library, we will not have film licensing
activities in the future.

Cost of Services

Our cost of services consists primar'ilykof program license fees; subscriber acquisition fee expense; the
cost of signal distribution; administration, dlstrlbutlon and, until we sold our film assets, amortization of
and other exploitation of our film assets; and the cost of promotional segments that are aired between
programs. We expect cost of services to continue to increase in the future as we expand our existing
markets and thll’d party programming to support our advertlsmg strategy.

Critical Accounting Policies, Judgments and Estimates | . "

‘We have identified the policies and estimates below as critical to our business operations and the
understanding of our results of operations, either past or present. For further information regarding our
critical accounting policies, judgments and estimates, please see the Notes to Consdlidated Financial
Statements contained in this Report. These policies and estimates are considered critical because they
either had a material impact or they have the potential to have a material impact on our financial
statements, and because they require significant judgments, assumptions or estimates. Our preparation of
this annual report on Form 10-K requires us to make estimates, disclosure of contingent assets and R
liabilities at the date of our consolidated financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenue and -
expenses during the reporting period. We believe that the estimates, judgments and assumptions made
when accounting for the items described below are reasonable, based on information available at the time
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they were made. However, there can be no assurance that actual results will not differ from those
estimates.

The following discussion concerns certain accounting estimates and assumptions that are considered ‘
to be material due to the levels of subjectivity and judgment necessary to account for uncertain matters and
the susceptibility of such matters to changes.

Residual and Participation Liabilities

The Company accounts for the future costs for residual and participation liabilities to the various
guilds associated with the sales, licensing and internal use of the domestic and international film assets.
Following the December 15, 2006 sale of the film library, the Company will not incur new obligations of
this nature. .

Pursuant to Amendment No. 1 to the Purchase Agreement dated December 15, 2006, the Company
shall indemnify RHI for such liabilities that arise throngh December 14, 2016 up to a maximum amount of
$22.5 million. The Company’s actual cost for this obligation will depend on the level of RHI’s domestic
library sales during this period. Any revision to this estimated liability will be reflected as gain (loss) from
the sale of film assets :

Also, the Company estimated a liability of approximately $4.5 million to pay the estimated residual
and participation costs that the buyer would otherwise be obligated to pay to third parties through
April 2015 in connection with international film library sales. The Company’s actual cost for this obligation
will depend on the buyer’s actual usage or sales of these films. Any revisions to this estimated liability will
be reflected as gain (loss) from the sale of discontinued operations in future periods. The liability the
Company will owe is not subject to any contractual limitation.

We consider our estimates of future domestic and international sales of the film assets by the
respective buyers to be critical because determining the extent and timing of future film sales requires
significant judgment and is subject to refinement as facts and circumstances change. To the extent these
estimates are more or less than the actual liability resulting from the resolution of these matters, our
earnings will be increased or decreased accordingly. If the differences are material, our consolidated
financial statements could be materially impacted.

Film Asset Amortization and Film Library Impairment

The Company amortized its film assets using the individual-film-forecast-computation method over a
maximum period of 9.25 years from the date of acquisition. The individuai-film-forecast-computation
method amortized such assets in the same ratio that period revenue bore to estimated vltimate future
revenues.

The Company reviewed its estimates of ultimate future revenues and participation costs on a quarterly
basis to reflect currently available information. Estimated ultimate future revenues were based on the
history of each film and similar films, sales and marketing plans, and other factors, all of which required
significant judgment and estimation by management. Differences between amortization expense
determined using the new estimates and any amounts previously expensed during that current fiscal year
were charged or credited to the statement of operations in the period in which the estimates were revised.

For use of the film assets on the Halimark Channel and the Hallmark Movie Channel, the Company
estimated the fair value of the internal usage based upon the portion of the film’s uitimate revenues
attributable to the term of the license window. The Company first calculated the amount of cost
attributable to the internal use using the individual-film-forecast-computation method described above and
then expensed such amounts ratably over the term of the license window.
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On a quarterly basis, the Company assessed whether events or circumstances had changed indicating -
that the fair value of a film was lower than its unamortized cost or carrying value. If the carrying value of
any individual film asset exceeded its fair value, the film asset was written-down to its estimated fair value.
The Company considered the following factors, among others, in estimating cash flows and fair values for
each film: (a) the operatmg environment expected for the next several years, (b) the size of the library as a
whole, (c) historical license fee revenue per film, (d) each title’s age, quality, and marketability, (¢) existing
sales plans including the amount of product desired to be sold each year, (f) future performance estimates,
(g) assumptions and estimates underlying past and future estimates, (%) risk factors that could effect future
operations of the Library and (i) . offers from potential buyers of the film assets. In estimating a film’s fair
value, the Company considered those cash outflows necessary to generate the film’s cash inflows such as
exploitation, residual and participation costs and taxes. The discount rate used in the Company’s
discounted cash flow model was based upon management’s estimate of the rate a purchaser would require
related 1o the risks and uncertainties surrounding the timing and probability of the cash flow estimates.

We believe that our estimation of the fair value of film assets, future ultimate revenues and estimated
sales to third parties and internal usage of our-film assets prior to their sale were critical accounting
estimate, because the estimates of sales and fair value involve a significant degree of ]udgment and were
subject to refinement as facts and circumstances change. L

Program License Fees

Program license fees are paid in connection with the acquisition of the rights to air programs acquired
from others. The cost of program rights are deferred and then amortized on a straight-line basis over the
shorter of their contractual license periods or anticipated usage. On a quarterly basis, the Company
evaluates the recoverability of these deferred license fees in relation to the estimated future revenues. This
analysis is based upon the critical management estimates of net realizable value for program license fees
that are determmed using future estimated adverusmg revenues and antICIpated patterns of programming
usage on a day part basis as it pertains to programming licensed to the channel. The estimate of usage and
advertlsmg revenues involve a significant degree of Judgmem and are subject to refinement as facts and
circumstances change Accordingly, this is considered a crttlcal accounting estimate. These estimates of
expected annual futire estimated revenues are compared to net book value of the program license fee
assets to determine if the programming assets are expected to be recovered. Where the analysis indicates
the costs are in excess of the estimated net realizable value, additional programming costs are recogn,ized
for the difference. Any changes to these estimates could materially impact our financial statements or
results of operatlons

Lang-Lwed Assets ' .

The Company reviews long-lived assets, other than goodwill and other intangible asscts with indefinite
lives, for impairment whenever facts and circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts of the assets
may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of the asset is not
recoverable and exceeds its fair value. Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured by
comparing the carrying amount of an asset to the estimated undiscounted future net cash flows expected to
be generated by the asset, If the asset’s carrying value is not recoverable, an impairment charge is
recognized for the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its fair value. The Company -
determines fair values by using a combination of comparable market values and discounted cash flows, as
appropriate. ' ' '

Goodwill is reviewed for impairment annually on November 30 or whenever an event occurs or there
is a change in circumstances that indicates fair value might be less than carrying value. Goodwill is carried
at historical cost if the estimated fair value is greater than the carrying amounts. However, if estimated fair
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value is less than the carrying amount, goodwill would be reduced to the estimated fair value through an
impairment charge to the Company’s consolidated statements of operations.

Cash flow projections include long-term forecasts of revenue growth, gross margins and capital-
expenditures. All of these items require significant judgment and assumptions. If estimates of future cash
flows are different from our assumptions, we may conclude that some of our long-lived assets are'not-
recoverable, which would likely cause us to record a material impairment charge. Also, if future cash flows
are significantly lower than the projections we may determine at some future date that some of our long:
lived assets are not recoverable‘.} ‘ . , .

Effects of Transactions with }Related and Certain Other Parties
Hallmark Transactions

In 2007 to date and in prior years, we entered into a number of significant transactions with Hallmark
Cards and its subsidiaries. These transactions include, among other things, trademark licenses,
administrative services, a Tax Sharing Agreement, the issuance of a $400 0 miilion senior unsecured note,
notes payable and a debt waiver agreement. ‘ -

Bank Credit Facility

In March 2005, as part of an amendment to our bank credit facility, Hallmark Cards has provided a
letter of credit to the lenders for an amount equal to the maximum amount which may be borrowed under
the bank credit facility. Under Amendment No. 9 to the bank credit agreement dated March 21, 2006,
Hallmark Cards acquired the right to purchase all of the bank lender’s interest in the bank credit facility.
Under a waiver and standby purchase agreement entered into by Hallmark Cards on the same day, as last
amended on March 2, 2007, Hallmark Cards and its subsidiaries have agreed not to demand payments of
various obligations owed by us to them until May 31, 2008, including draws under the above mentioned
letter of credit. In the same waiver and standby purchase agreement, Hallmark Cards has provided us with
the right to cause Hallmark Cards to purchase all of the bank lenders’ interest in loans. See “Bank Credit
Facility” below.

Tax Sharing Agreement

In March 2003, the Company became a member of Hallmark Cards consolidated federal tax group
and entered into a Tax Sharing Agreement with Hallmark Cards, which was amended at the time the
Company issued the senior unsecured note to HC Crown. We account for income taxes as if Crown Media
Holdings were a separate taxpayer. Accordingly, Hallmark Cards’ ability to use our tax losses does not
impact our assessment of the need for a valuation allowance on deferred tax assets, including future tax
losses. Any payments received from Hallmark Cards under the Tax Sharing Agreement are recorded as an
increase in paid-in capital. For information regarding the Tax Sharing Agreement, please see Notes 12 and
16 to the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements contained in this Report.

Senior Unsecured Note

On August 5, 2003, Crown Media Holdings repurchased all of the outstanding trust preferred
securities of Crown Media Trust and related contingent appreciation certificates issued by the Company.
The securities were repurchased for approximately $329.1 million. Funds for this repurchase were obtained
from the proceeds from the issuance of a senior unsecured note issued to HC Crown in the amount of
$400.0 million. For information regarding our senior unsecured note, please see Note 11 to the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements contained in this Report.
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Promissory Notes with Hallmark Entertainment Holdings

In October 2005, the Company converted a portion of its license fees payable to Hallmark affiliates,
which were approximately $132.8 million, to a promissory note bearing interest at LIBOR plus 3% per
annum. The term of the promissory note began on October 1, 2005 and is payable in full on May 31, 2008
per an extension under the waiver and standby purchase agreement. This note was transferred to a
subsidiary of Hallmark Cards prior to the sale by Hallmark Cards of its interests in Hallmark
Entertainment LLC, now called RHI Entertainment LLC.

In March 2006, the Company converted its payable to a Hallmark Cards affiliate, which was
approximately $70.4 million, to a promissory note bearing interest at LIBOR plus 3% per annum. The
term of the promissory note began on March 21, 2006, and, as a result of the waiver and standby purchase
agreement discussed above, principal and interest are payable on May 31, 2008.

NICC License Agreement

For information regarding the amendment to our license agreement with NICC, please see Item.13
“Certain Relationships and Related Transactions” contained in this Report.
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Selected Historical Consolidated Financial Data of Crown Media Holdings |

In the table below, we provide selected historical consolidated financial and other data of Crown

Media Holdings and its subsidiaries. The following selected consolidated statement of operations data for
the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006, are derived from the audited financial statements of .

Crown Media Holdings and its subsidiaries. This data should be read together with the consolidated |,

financial statements and related notes included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Percent Change

Years ended December 31, 2005 vs. 2006 vs.
2004 2005 T 2006 2004 2005
- A (In thousands) i
Revenues: ' . . ‘ : : ,
Subscriberfees.................... e . 8§ 9874 3 18746 $§ 24,869 W% , 33%,
Advertising ................ P e 106,327 146,115 174,190 37% 19% .
Film asset license fees..................... 22035 21,693 1,815 2% -92%,
Sublicense fees and other revenue e — 10,830 305 100% 9%
Total revenues .................\.... L e 138,236 197,384 201,179 ‘ 43% . 2%
Cost of Services: ' ‘ ' ' o ‘
Programming costs. . .....ovverreenrannine. 89,878 120,577 152,193 34% T 26%
Amortization of film assets. . ............... 28,905 51,619 14,739 79% -11%
Impairment of film assets...... e 22,003 25542 225,832 16%  784% .
Subscriber acquisition fee amortization. . . ... o 26,020 . 35928 . 031,044 . 38% ., -14%
Operating €osts. .. ...oviireiinieennn.. 11,035 21,606 112,430 96% 42%'
Total costof services .. ... ... ......coiini... 177,841 255,272 436,238 44% %
Selling, general and administrative expense . . .. 58,515 59,633 46,6260 - 2% . -22%
Marketing expense. . ... et e e 16,477 24,160 16,021 7% - -34%
Gain on sale of film assets ... .. e . — . — (8,238) o0 L 100%
Loss from continuing operations before interest v '
expense ...... LSNP feveiieeneaeie.. (114,597)  (141,681) (289,468) 24% @ 104% .
Interestexpense . ............coiiiveenienes (60,179)  (73,856) -(98,935).. 23% 34%
Loss from continuing operations. ............. (174,776) (215,537) (388,403) 23% 80%
Loss frbm discontinued operations....>....... (142 030)  (10,683) — ~-92% -100%
Gain (loss) on sale of discontinued operations. . — " (6,538) 1,530 1009%  -123% ,'
Cumulative effect of change in accounting ) : B
principle. ... i — (2,099) , 100%
Netloss.......................... el $(316 806) $(232,758) $(388972). - -27% . 67% ..
Other Data: o : ' : ‘ :
Net cash used in operating activities........... $ (15,198) $(121,926) $§ (34,061) " 702% = -72%
Capital expenditures . .........oovvviiunn... $ (878) %  (504) .$ (713) -43%, 41%
Proceeds from disposition of mternatlonal _ . . .
DUSINESS . .ovveeiiiie i $ — $221979 § — 100% -100%
Proceecls from,disposition of film assets ....... $§  — § — $ 152 116 . 100%
Net cash provided by (used in) fmancmg ‘ T "
ACHVILIES . . .\ o eeeeeei it le e $ 66,565 $ (72,329) $(110,883) 209%  53%
Net cash used in discoritinued operations ."..... $ (42,693) $ (15,063) $ —  65% -, -100%-.
Total domestic day household ratings (1}(3).... *  0:600 0.707 0755 18% ~ 7% -
Total domestic primetime household . ) o, - ,
ratings (2)(3). ...l e ... 0871 1.033 1216 19% 18%
Subscribersatyearend ................ R 64,565 70,666 74,641 9% 6%

(48] Total day is the time perlod measured from the tlme each day the broadcast of commercmlly
sponsored programmmg commences to the time such commercnally sponsored programming ends.
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(2) Primetime is defined as 8:00 - 11:00 P.M. in the United States. -

(3) These Nielsen ratings are for the time period January 1 through December 31.

Results of Operations .
Year Ende;d December 31, 2005 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2006
Revenue.

Our revenue increased 2% for the year ended December 31, 2006, Our 33% increase in subscriber fee
revenue for the year ended December 31, 2006, was the result of the expiration of free carriage periods
during 2006 for certain of our domestic distributors and an increase in subscribers. Subscriber acquisition
fee expense recorded as a reduction of revenue was $8.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2006,
and $12.1 million for the comparable period in 2005, as a result of fees required under distribution
agreements negotiated in prior years and a renewal of a major distribution agreement negotiated in 2005.
Subscriber counts have increased as a result of previously amended distribution agreements in the United
States, which provide for financial incentives to the distributors for distribution growth, as well as the
ratings success of the Hallmark Channel.

The 19% increase in advertising revenue reflects the following during 2006: the 6% growthin
subscribers; higher household ratings; and higher advertising rates resulting from the increase in
distribution and viewership. Additionally, the number of advertisers on our channel rose from 414 at
December 31, 2005, to 418 at December 31, 2006.

Revenue from the licensing of our film assets totaled $1.8 million for the year ended December 31,
2006, compared with $21,7 million for the comparable period in 2005, The Company sold its film assets in
December 2006. Until that time, sales decreased due to the uncertainty of the completion of the sale.
Sublicense fees and other revenue for the year ended December 31, 2005, was $10.8 million primarily due
to the sub-licensing of Little House on the Prairie to a third party. The Company recorded $305 000 of
sublicense fees and other revenue for the year ended December 31, 2006.

Cost of services.  Cost of services as a percent of revenue increased to 217% for the year ended
December 31, 2006, as-compared to 129% in the prior vear’s period. This increase was primarily related to
the $225.8 million impairment of our film assets explained below.

Total programming costs for the year ended December 31, 2006, increased 26% due to our focus on
retaining and acquiring higher quality series programming, our acquisition of original programming such as
Mystery Movies and the related amortizations and a write-down of $20.9 million of certain program license
fees to their estimated net realizable values.

Non-cash impairment charges in a total amount of $25.5 million and $225.8'million related to our film
assets for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2006, respectively. As a result of non-binding bids
received in the second quarter of 2006 and terms of a then proposed agreement for the sale of the library,
management deemed it necessary to review its film assets for impairment as of both June 30, 2006 arid
September 30, 2006, and impairment charges were recognized in both of these quarters based on these
reviews. The impairment charges for the film assets were recognized in the third and fourth quarters of
2005 based upon then current projections for the sales and internal use of the film assets.

Amortization of film assets decreased 71% for the year ended December 31, 2006, compared to the
same periods in 2005 primarily as a result of a significant decrease in the licensing of our film assets as-
noted above because of the sale of our film assets in December 2006 and related uncertainty surrounding
the sale until it was completed. Our subscriber acquisition fee amortization expense for the year ended
December 31, 2006, as compared to the 2005 year, decreased 14% because we fully amomzed certain of
our agreements with our domestic distributors.
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Generally, our major distribution agreements have required the Company to pay subscriber
acquisition fees to distributors for additional subscribers. Our subscribers increased from 70.7 million at
December 31, 2005, to 74.6 million at December 31, 2006, however, the Company incurred no additional
subscriber acquisition fees for this increase in subscribers. The Company amortizes previously incurred

subscriber acqulsltlon costs over the remaining life of the relevant dlstributlon agreement. .

Operating costs for the year ended December 31, 2006, decreased $9.2 million primarily due to a $9. 2
million decrease in bad debt expense. _ ) y

Selling, general and administrative expense. Our selling, general and administrative expense decreased
for the year ended December 31, 2006, due primarily to an $11.7 million decrease in compensation expense
associated with our restricted stock units and a $1:6 million decrease in depreciation and amortization * '
expense offset in part by an accrual related to certain claims made against the Company by the buyer of the
international business.

Marketing expense. For the year ended December 31, 2006, our marketing expense decreased 34%
primarily due to the climination in 2006 of the Mystery Movie marketing campaign for the Hallmark
Channel. In order to build upon the success of our 2004 Holiday promotion and to assist with the sale of '
our advertising inventory in the upfront market, the Company commenced the Mystery Movie franchise in
the first quarter of 2005. ,

Interest expense.  Tiiterest expense-increased 34% for the year ended December 31, 2006 due to:
higher interest éxpenses explained below; interest on our $400.0 million senior unsecured note payable,
which increased by $5.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2006, as compatred to the prior year; and
interest on our $75.0 million promissory note, which increased by $2.0 million for the year ended
December 31, 2006, as compared to the prior year. Interest on our senior unsecured note payable )
increased as accrued mterest was added to the principal. Interest increased related to our promissory note
due to a higher interest rate and-a higher principal balance. In October 2005, we converted $132.8 million
of license fees payable into a note payable to a Hallmark Cards affiliate and the related interest expense * -
was $2.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2005. Interest related to the $132.8 million note payable
to a Hallmark Cards affiliate was $11.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2006. In March 2006, we
converted $70.0 million of payables to affiliates into a note payable to a Hallmark Cards affiliate and the
related interest expense was $4.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2006. Interest on our credit
facﬂlty ‘increased $4.0 million due to a higher principal balance and interest rate. Interest payable to ‘
Hallmark Cards with respect to our credit facility increased $1.4 million dye to a higher, principal balance
and interest rate.

Loss from Contmumg Operations. Loss from contmumg operations for the year ended December 31,
2005 and 2006, was $215.5 million and $388.4 million, respectively. Our loss from continuing operations
mcreased primarily due to our $225.8 million 1mpa1rment of our film assets discussed above

Lass ﬁ'om D:scontmued Operanon,s Loss from dlscontmued operations for the years ended .
December 31, 2005 and 2006, was $10.7 million and $0, respectwely The Company sold its mtematlona]
business on April 26, 2005.

- Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle.  On January 1, 2006, we adopted SFAS 123R. The
total compensation cost related to performance RSUs granted under the Plan net of estimated forfeitures
was $2.1 million, which was recorded as a cumulative catch-up adjustment during the year ended
December 31, 2006. Under prior accounting treatment, the performance RSUs were not classified asa
liability as it was deemed improbable that these RSUs would settle based upon the performance of our
Class A common stock.

[ S . i
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Year Ended December 31, 2004 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2005

Revenue. ' !

Our revenue increased 43% for the year ended December 31, 2005. Our 90% increase in subscriber -
fee revenue for the year ended December 31, 2005, was the result of the expiration of waived subscriber
fees for certain of our domestic distributors and an increase in subscribers. Subscriber acquisition fee
amortization recorded as a reduction of revenue was $12.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2005,
and $12.2 million for the comparable period in 2004, as a result of fees required under distribution’
agreements negotiated in prior years and a renewal of a major distribution agreement negotiated in 2005.
Subscriber counts increased as a result of previously amended distribution agreements in the United
States, which provide for financial incentives for distribution growth, as well as the ratings success of the
Hallmark Channel. The ability to increase our subscriber base is important.both in terms of growing our
subscriber and advertising revenues, '

The 37% increase in advertising revenue reflects the following during 2005: the 9% growth in
subscribers; higher household ratings; and higher advertising rates resulting from the increase in
distribution and viewership. Additionally, the number of advertisers on our channel rose from 403 at .
December 31, 2004, to 414 at December 31, 2005. . Sy

Revenue from the sale of our film assets totaled $21.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2005,
compared with $22.0 million for the comparable period in 2004. Sublicense fees and other revenue for the
year ended December 31, 2005, was $10.8 million primarily due to the sub-licensing of Little House on the
Prairie to a third party.

Cost of services.  Cost of services as a percent of revenue remained relatively flat at ]29% for the year
ended December 31, 2005, as compared to 129% in the prior year s period.

Total programming costs for the year ended December 31, 2005, increased 34% due to our focus on
higher quality series programming such as M*A*S*H | Judging Amy, and J A.G. and the related
amortization. In addition, the Hallmark Channel introduced the Mystery Movies in the first quarter of
2005, which also involve higher costs and related amortization.

Non-cash impairment charges in a total amount of $22.0 million and $25.5 million related to our film -
assets for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2005, respectlvely The impairment charges for the film
assets were recognized in the third and fourth quarters of 2005 and the third and fourth quarters of 2004
based upon then current projections for the sales and internal use of the film assets.

Amortization of film assets increased 79% for the year ended December 31, 2005, compared to the
same periods in 2004 primarily as a result of the impairment of our film assets and related recalculation of
amortization and the use of the film assets by our Movie Channel. *

In the past some of our major distribution agreements have required the Company to pay subscriber
acquisition fees to distributors for additional subscribers. Our subscribers increased from 64.6 million at
December 31, 2004, to 70.7 million at December 31, 2005, and the Company incurred additional subscriber
acquisition fees for this increase in subscribers. The Company amortizes these costs over the remaining life
of the relevant distribution agreement, which resulted in a 38% increase in our subscriber acquisition fee
amortization expense for the year ended December 31, 2005, as compared to the prior year, |

Operating costs for the year ended December 31, 2005, increased $10.6 million primarily due to a $8.8
million increase in bad debt expense, a $565,000 increase in equipment expense, $536,000 increase in
playback, transponder and uphnk expense, and a $1.1 million increase in amortization expense related to
our capital lease placed into service during fourth quarter 2004.
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Selling, general and administrative expense:  Qur selling, general and administrative expense increased
for the year ended December 31, 2005, due to an increase in consulting expense and audit fees associated
with complying with our regulatory requirements under the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and offset by a decrease in
compensation expense associated with our restricted stock units. '

Marketing expense.  For.the year ended December 31, 2005, our marketing expense increased 47%
primarily due to the 2005 Mystery Movie marketing campaign for the Hallmark Channel. In order to build
upon the success of our 2004 Holiday promotion and to assist with the sale of our advertising inventory in
the dpfront market, the Company commenced the Mystery Movie franchise in the first quarter of 2005.
The prior year’s marketing activity was significantly less as there were not as many special programming
events in'the first half of 2004. . : :

Interest expense. Interest expense increased 23% for the year ended December 31, 2005, due to
interest on our $400.0 million senior unsecured note payable, which increased by $4.6 million for the year
ended December 31, 2005, as compared to the prior year, and interest on our $75.0 million promissory
note, which incréased by $1.8'million for the year ended December 31, 2005, as compared to the prior year.
[nterest on our senior unsecured note payable increased as accrued interest was added to the principal.
Interest increased related to our promissory note due to a higher interest rate. Interest expense also
increased $1.5 million related to our interest expense on our capital lease for a transponder. Additionally, a
portion of interest expense, which was formerly payable to our bank syndicate and is now payable to HC
Crown as a result of Amendment No. 8 of our credit facility was $3.2 million. In October 2005, we
converted $132.8 million of license fees payable into a note payable to a Hallmark Cards affiliate and the
related interest expense was $2.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2005.

Loss from Continuing Operations. Loss from continuing operations for the year ended December 31,
2004 and 2005, was $174.8 million and $215.5 million, respectively. Our loss from continuing operations
increased primarily due to (1) a $7.7 million increase in marketing expense to continue to drive ratings;
2) ini:;’ease in loss genc;fated from library sales and the internal use of the library product on the Channel;
(3) increase in selling, general and administrative expense described above; and (4) an increase in interest
expense of $13.7 million as explained above due to relatively higher borrowings during 2005 as compared
to the prior year period. These increases are partially offset by subscriber and advertising revenue
increases, which were greater than the increases in programming COsts.

Loss from Discontinued Operations. Loss from discontinued operations for the years ended
December 31, 2004 and 2005, was $142.0 million and $10.7 million, respectively. Loss from discontinued
operations was less for the year ended December 31, 2005, as compared to the comparable period for 2004,
as a result of the Company’s sale of its international business on April 26, 2005.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Cash used in operating activities from continuing operations was $121.9 million and $34.1 million for
the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2006, respectively. Cash was used primarily to fund operating
expenditures and the acquisition of programming. The decrease in cash flow used in operations was
primarily due to a $93.4 million decrease of acquisitions of program license fees during 2006.

Cash provided by investing activitics was $213.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2005.
Proceeds from the sale of our international business were $222.0 million in 2005. Cash provided by
investing activities was $143.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2006. Proceeds from the sale of our
film assets were $152.1 million in 2006.

Cash used in financing activities was $72.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2005. During the
year ended December 31, 2005, we repaid $195.0 million under our bank credit facility. Additionally, we
borrowed $95.0 million under our bank credit facility to repay certain programming obligations to
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Hallmark Cards affiliates, pay severance and RSU settlements for certain employees of the international
business and to meet our operating demands during the year ended December 31, 2005. We received $56.1
million (including the $30.0 million offset to intercompany debt-during the third quarter of 2005) and $30.0
million (including the $18.0 million offset to intercompany debt during the third quarter of 2006) under the
Tax Sharing Agreement during 2005 and 2006, respectively. Cash used in financing activities was $110.9
million for the year ended December 31, 2006. During the year ended December 31, 2006, we repaid
$137.4 million under our bank credit facility. Additionally, we borrowed $15,0 mlllron under our bank
credit facility.

Cash used in discontinued. Operatlons was $15.1 million and $0 for the years ended December 31, 2005
and 2006, respectively. Cash used in discontinued operations decreased as the sale of the Company’s
international business was compteted in April 2005. '

t Cash used in operating activities from continuing operatlons was $15.2 mrlllon and $121 9 mllhon for,
the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2005, respectively. Cash was used primarily to fund operating.
expenditures and the acquisition of programming. The increase in cash flow.used in operations was:
primarily due to an increase of payments to RHI Entertainment Distribution for programming of $88.4
million ($26.6 million of which is included in the increase of prepaid and other assets) and.an increase of
$12.8 million in subscriber acquisition fee payments.

Cash used in mvestmg activities was $878,000 for the year ended December 31, 2004, Cash provided
by investing activities was $213.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2005. This i increase is primiatily
due to proceeds from the sale of our international business of $222.0 million.

Cash provnded by financing activities was $66. 6 million for the year ended December 31, 2004 Cash
used in financing activities was $72.3 million for thé year énded December 31, 2005. During the year ended
December 31, 2005, we repaid $195.0 million under our bank credit facility. Addltlonally, we borrowed
$95.0 million under our bank credit facility to repay certain programming obligations to Hallmark Cards '
afﬁllates pay severance and RSU settlements for certain employees of the international business and to
meet our operating demands during the year ended December 31, 2005, We réceived $56.6 million and’
$56:1 million (including the $30.0 million offset to mlercompany debt during the thrrd quarter of 2005)
under the Tax Sharing Agreement during 2004 and 2005, respectively.

Cash used in discontinued operations was $42. 7 million and $15.1 mllllon for the years ended
December 31, 2004 and 2005, respectively. Cash used in discontinued operatlons decreased as the sale of
the Company s international business was completed in April 2005.

o [ PP e
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The following table aggregates all of our contractual commitments as of December 31, 2006.

‘Scheduled Payments by Period

. .o Less than After .
Contractual Obligations Total 1 Year 2-3 Years 4-5 Years S Years
Credit facility and interest payable .............- $ 87 $ — § 877 $ — $ —
Company obligated mandatorily redeemable o - ,

preferred interest, including accretion(1) ...... 25.0 — 10.0 150 ° —

HC Crown line of credit and interest payable. .. .. 93.5 . — 935 |, — —
Senior unsecured note to HC Crown, including . -

ACCIELION v vt e e et et e i e raenen 562.2 C— — . 5622 . —
Note payable to Hallmark Cards affiliate ........ 146.4 — 146.4 — L -
Note payable to Hallmark Cards afﬂhate ........ © 534 . — 534 — —
Capital lease obligations. ................. ...t 16.2 0.7 . 1.5 19 - 121
Operating leases (off-balance sheet commitments) 10.3 4.0 4.7 15 . 0.1
Other obligations

Program license fees payable for non- -affiliate
current and fufure windows (includes off- : : : :
balance sheet commitments) ............... 391.0 1159 176.5 70.1 28.5

Program license fees payable for affiliate .
current and future windows {includes off-

balance sheet commltments)(Z) ............ 224 224 — — —
Subscriber acquisition fees. .................. 21 2.1 — — —
Deferred compensation and interest .......... 39 13 2.6 — —
Payable to buyer of international business . ... 9.7 49 4.8 L — —
Other payables to buyer of mtemanonal _ .
BUSINESS . .ot vviee e e i . 7.4 1.0 2.1 1.7 2.6
Other payables to buyer of film ASSEIS . v .vnn .. 22.5 — 3.8 43 14.4
Total Contractual Cash Ob‘hgatnons e  $1,453.7 , $152.3  $587.0  $656.7  §57.7

(1) Payments are due within 60 days of the end of each fiscal year in which Crown Media United States
reports pretax profits exceeding $10.0 million. If Crown Media United States does not earn pretax
profits, the company obligated mandatorily redeemable preferred interest is to be redeemed within 60
days of fiscal year ending December 31, 2010. '

(2) The amounts and timing forcertain of these commitments are contingent upon the future delwery
date and type of programming produced, and, as such, the estimated amount and timing may change.

For information on a contingent obligation to purchase NICC’s common stock of ours, please see
“Crown Media United States Programming Agreement with NICC” in Item 13 Certain Relatlonshlps and
Related Transactions and Director Independence.

Cash Flows ' )

As of December 31, 2006, the Company had $14.0 million in cash and cash equlvalents on hand. As of -
December 31, 2006, the Company had borrowed $87.6 million from a $130.0 mllhon revolving bank credit,
which matures May 31, 2008.

The Company s prmmpal sources of funds are cash on hand cash generated by operatlons tax sharing
payments from Hallmark Cards and amounts available under the Company’s revolving bank credit facility.
Payments under the tax sharing agreement are affected by Hallmark Cards’ tax position and its ability to
utilize the Company’s tax losses. The Company received $12.0 million in tax sharing payments in 2006 and
does not currently expect to receive tax sharing payments during 2007. The Company currently has $42.4
million of unused revolving credit capacity. The Company’s ability to borrow additional amounts under the
credit facility is not limited or restricted as long as no covenants have been violated.
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The ability of the existing sources of liquidity to be sufficient to fund the Company’s operations -
depends upon continued growth in subscriber revenue and advertising revenue. Any decline in the
popularity of the Hallmark Channel, any significant future modifications to the Company’s distribution
agreements, an economic decline in the advertising market, an increase in program acqursmon costs, an
increase in competition or other adverse operating conditions would rmpact the Company $ quurdrty and
its ability to fund the current level of operations

The Company expects to continue making investments in programming, marketing &nd distribution.'
However, the Company’s recurring loss situation has demanded that all areas of expenses, mcludlng
programming, marketing and distribution be closely monitored and controlled - '

The Company anticipates that its principal uses of funds for 2007 will continue to mclude the. payment
of operating expenses, accounts payable and accrued expenses, license fees for programming, and interest
under its bank credit facility. . : )

As part of efforts to improve the capilal structure, in 2006 the Company sold its membership mterests
in Crown Media Distribution as described in “Sale of Membership Interests.in Crowu ‘Media Drstnbunon
above. : - ' . _ el

The Company currently believes that cash on hand, cash generated by operatrons and avarlabrlrty on’
its bank credit facility, when combined with the deferral of any required payments on related- -party débt
and related interest mentioned below, will be sufficient to fund the Company s operations and meet its
liquidity needs through May 31, 2008. ‘

) 1.
The Company’s bank credit facility matures on May 31, 2008. The Company significantly reduced the
amounts outstanding under the credit facility with the proceeds of the sale of its membership interests in
Crown Media Distribution. In conjunction with these repayments on the credit facility, the Company '
reduced the borrowing capacity under the credit facility to $130.0 million. The Company intends to extend
or refinance the Bank credit facility prior to or upon its maturity. Any such extension or refinancing might
require a continuation of a letter of credit trom Hallmark Cards or other steps by the Company and is not
assured. ' !

If the Company is not able to arrange for the extcnsron reflnancmg or replacement of the bank credit
facility prior to its maturity and the bank draws down on the irrevocable letter of credit provnded by
Hallmark Cards in support of the bank credit facility, or alternatively Hallmark Cards purchases the
interests of the lériding banks, Hallmark Cards would have all obligations and the rights of the lending
banks under the bank credit facility. In that event, Hallmark Cards could demand payment of outstanding
amounts at any time after May 31, 2008, under the terms of the waiver and standby purchase agreement
(“Warver Agreement §) descrlbed below.

"Upon maturity of the credit facility on May I31, 2008, the lending group led by JP Morgan Chase has
the right to elect to forego the receipt of cash to pay the principal amount of the credit facility in full, which
is provided for under the terms of an irrevocable letter of credit provided by Hallmark Cards, but instead
can elect to initiate a process to foreclose on the Company’s assets. Such foreclosure proceedings, would
adversely affect our ability to continue our operations. Prior to any such possible foreclosure proceedings,s
however, the Company, if it has not secured an extension of the credit facility or alternative financing,
would cause Hallmark Cards pursuant to the terms of the Waiver Agreement to exercise its option to
purchase all of the outstanding indebtedness under the credit facility and the credit facility would then' be
subject to terms of the Waiver Agreement:

Due to the Company s possrble inability to meet its obligations when they come due on May 31, 2008,
the Company anticipates that prior to May 31, 2008, it will be necessary to either extend or refinance
(i) the bank credit facility and (ii) the promissory notes payable to affiliates of Hallmark Cards described in
the Notes below. As part of a combination of actions and in order to obtain additional funding, the.
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Company may consider various alternatives, including refinancing the bank credit facility, raising .
additional capital through the issuance of equity or debt securities, a sale of certain assets or other strategic
alternatives.

Bank Credit Facility and Hallmark Notes
Bank Credit Facility

In 2001, we entered into a credit agreement (which agreement has been amended subsequently, with
the most recent amendment dated March 2, 2007) with a syndicate of banks, led by JP Morgan Chase
Bank, N.A. as Administrative Agent and Issuing Bank. The facility is guaranteed by our subsidiaries and is
secured by all tangible and intangible property of Crown Media Holdings and its subsidiaries. As a result of
Amendment No. 11 in December 2006, the bank credit facility is a revolving line of credit in the amount of
$130.0 million. The credit agreement for the bank credit facility, including all of its amendments, are
exhibits to this Report and are incorporated herein by reference.

Each loan under the bank credit facility bears interest at a Eurodollar rate or an alternate base rate as
we may request at the time of borrowing in accordance with the credit agreement. The Eurodollar rate is
based on the London interbank market for Eurodollars, and remains in effect for the time period of the
loan ranging from one, two, three, six or twelve months. The alternate rate is based upon the prime rate of
JP Morgan Chase Bank, a certificate of deposit rate or the Federal Funds effective rate, which is adjusted
whenever the rates change. We are required to pay a commitment fee of (.15% per annum (0.2% from
March 1, 2005, to April 27, 2006) of the committed, but not outstanding, amounts under the revolving
credit facility, payable in quarterly installments.

Hallmark Cards has provided since March, 2005, an irrevocable letter of credit as credit support for
our obligations under our credit facility. The amounts resulting from rate and fee reductions for the bank
credit facility since that time are paid by us to Hallmark Cards as compensation for providing the support
letter of credit to the bank lenders,

By an Amendment No. 12 to the credit agreement, dated as of March 2, 2007, the maturity date of the
credit facility was extended for one year to May 31, 2008 and the existing Hallmark Cards support letter of
credit was reissued by JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. This new letter of credit is in the face amount of $130.0
million and will expire on June 10, 2008.

The credit agreement, as amended, contains a number of affirmative and negative covenants.
Negative covenants include, among other things: Limitations on indebtedness; liens; investments;
“Restricted Payments;” changes in our business activities; and not amending the promissory note with HC
Crown, a related letter of credit issued for our benefit or certain of our other material agreements.
Restricted Payments include any distribution on our equity, any redemption or other acquisition of our
equity including redemption of the company obligated mandatorily redeemable preferred interest, any
payment on debt of Crown Media Holdings which is subordinated to the bank loans, any reduction of the
HC Crown line of credit for Crown Media Holdings, any payment on certain obligations assumed by
Crown Media Holdings under the purchase agreement for the film assets and any other payment to
Hallmark Cards or any of its affiliates. The credit agreement, however, permits Crown Media Holdings to
make payments to Hallmark Cards or an affiliate in payment of a valid outstanding obligation or in an
aggregate amount equal to the financial benefits received by us as a result of the reduction of interest
charges under the bank credit facility in Amendment No. 8 plus any fees and costs incurred by Hallmark
Cards in connection with the support letter of credit provided in accordance with Amendment No. 8. For
more information on affirmative and negative covenants in the credit agreement, see Note 10 to our
Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Events-of default under the amended credit agreement include, among other things: The failure to
pay principal or interest, with the default continuing unremedied for five days after receipt of a remittance
advice; a failure to observe covenants; a change in control; or a termination by Hallmark Cards or any of
its affiliates of the right of Crown Media Holdings or its subsidiaries to use the names “Hallmark” or
“Crown” in their television services or any Channels owned or operated by them. For purposes of the
credit facility, a change in control means that (a) Hallmark Cards ceases to own directly or indirectly at
least 80% of the equity interest of Hallmark Entertainment Investment (b) Hallmark Entertainment
Holdings ceases to'have sufficient voting power to elect a majority of Crown Media Holdings’ board of
directors or beneficial ownership of over 2'majority of the outstanding equity interest of Crown Media
Holdings having voting power (c) the majority of-the Board is not comprised of individuals who were either
in office or who wer¢ nominated by a two-third’s vote of individuals in office or so-nominated as at
December 17, 2001, or (d) the consummation by the Company of a Rule 13e-3 transaction (or a “gomg-
private” transacnon) as defined in the Securities Exchange Act

Wawer and Standby Purchase Agreement o . .

1 ! Fl N ] .
Under the Waiver and Standby Purchase Agreement dated March 21, 2006 as last amended.on .
March 2, 2007, Hallmark Cards agreed to defer all payments due on any of the following obligations and,
except wheremoted, payment of interest thereon‘until May 31, 2008, or an earlier date as described below:
as the waiver termination date, whereupon all of these amounts become immediately due and payable (the
“Waiver Period”): - o : o ot ; /

e Line of credit and interest payable to HIC Crown, dated D'eeerrlberllfl, 2001, in the original principal
amount of $75.0 million, payable to HC Crown. (Total amount outstanding at December 31, 2006,
including accrued interest was $93. 5 m1lllon See Line'of Credzt and Interest Payable to HC Crown
below) ‘ . B ¢

"« $70.0 million line of credit and interest to Hallmark Cards affiliate arlsmg out of the sale to Crown
Media Holdings of the Hallmark Entertainment film library. (Total amount outstandmg at
December 31, 2006, including accrued interest was $53.4 m1ll10n See Line of Credit and Interesr
Payable to Hallmark Cards Affiliate below.) , . )

e 10.25% senior unsecured note, daled August 5, 2003, in the initial accreted value of $400.0 m‘illion,
payable to HC Crown. (Total amount outstanding at December 31, 2006, including accrued interest
was $562.2 million. See Senior Unsecured Note below.)

- » Note and interest payable to Hallmark Cards affiliate, dated as of October 1, 2005, in the pnncrpal
amount of $132.8 million, payable to Hallmark Entertainment Holdings. (Total amount outstanding
at December 31, 2006, mcludmg accrued interest was $146.4 million. See Note and Interest Payable
to Hallmark Cards Affiliate below.)

+ All obligations of the Company uhder the bank credit facility by virtue of Hallmark Cards’ deemed
purchase of participations in all of the obligations under a letter of credit which Hallmark Cards has
given in support of the facility or the purchase:by Hallmark Cards of all these obllgatrons pursuant

©to Amendment No. 9 to the bank credlt facnhty

Hallmark Cards has agreed that it will not accelerate the maturity of any of the foregoing obligations
or initiate collecnon proceedmgs during the Waiver Period. Interest w111 continue to accrue on these
obligations durmg the Waiver Period, The (,ompany will continue to pay interest on the credit facility
during the Waiver Period.

The waiver termination date is on May 31, 2008, or earlier upon occurrence of any of the following
events: (a) the Company fails to pay any principal or interest, regardless of amount, due on any
indebtedness with an aggregate principal amount in excess of $5.0 million or any other event or condition
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occurs that results in any such indebtedness becoming due prior to its scheduled maturity, provided that «
the waiver will not terminate if the Company reduces the principal amount of such indebtedness to $5.0
million or less within five business days of a written nofice of termination from Hallmark Cards (b) certain
bankruptcy events occur; (c) the Company defaults in its payment of licensing fees under the Second ’
Amended and Restated Program License Agreement with RHI Entertainment Distribution (formerly
known as Hallmark Entertainment Distribution at which time it was a wholly-owned subs1dlary of .
Hallmark Cards); (d) a representanon and warranty of the Company in the Waiver Agreement is false or .
mislcading in any material respect; or (e) the Company fails to pay interest on the bank credit facrhty
described above to the extent that Hallmark Cards has purchased allora portlon of the 1ndebtedness

thereunder or to perform any covenants lIl the Waiver Agreement. o

. "
Under the Waiver Agreement, if the bank’s lenders under the bank credit facility accelerate any of the
indebtedness under the bank credit facility or seek to coltlect any indebtedness under it, then the Company
may elect to exercise its right to require that Hallmark Cards or its designated subsidiary exercise.an option
to purchase all the outstanding indebtedness under the bank credit facility as provided in the bank credit
facility. All expenses and fees in connection with this purchase would be added to the principal amount of

the credrt facility obligations.

! ! Al il

The Waiver Agreement does not hmlt any exxsnng rights of Hallmark Cards or its afflllates to offsét.
amounts owed to us under thé Halimark Tax Sharing Agreement and Hallmark Cards’ share of the
amounts payable under the December 1, 2005, agreement with NICC (described in Note 13) agairist these .
obligations. On September 1, 2006, Hallmark Cards elected to apply its $3.1 million share of the NICC
obligations against the amounts due under the $70.0 mitlion Promissory Note to Hallmark Entertainment
Holdings (described below), thereby reducing the principal amount of that Note by $3.1 million.
Additionally, during the third quarter of 2006, Hallmark Cards applied $18.0 million of benefit from the
Tax Sharing Agreement against the prmcrpal amount due under the March 21, 2006, promlssory note with
Hallmark Entertainment Holdings. Pursuant to the Waiver Agreement the Company must make
prepayments on the outstanding debt from 100% of any “Excess Cash Flow” during the Waiver Period. '
“Excess Cash Flow” is-defined-as-1) the net proceeds of any debt or equity financings or sale of assets;
2) the net cash proceeds from the incurrence by the Company of indebtedness; 3) the net cash proceeds
from the sale, transfer or release by the Company of assets.outside the ordinaty course of business; and .
4) if positive, the consolidated net cash flow from operations of Crown Holdings for any calendar quarter
as shown in an SEC report, less cash funds used to pay current operating expenses and to pay-or establish
reasonable reserves for future expenses, indebtedness payments, and capital improvements and .,
replacements as determined by the Board of Drrectors of the Company '

In connection with the Wawer Agreement in March 2006, we converted the $70.0 million account -
payable to Hallmark Entertainment Holdings arising out of our purchase of the Hallmark Entertainment. .
film library to a promissory note described below bearing interest at LIBOR plus 3% per annum. This
note is payable in full on May 31, 2008, per an extension under the warver and accrued but unpaid interest
is added to the outstanding prlncrpal amount on an annual basis. We also agreed in March 2006 to: ‘

¢ amend the 2001 and 2005 notes described above to add the accrued but unpard interest;. currently o
and annually, to the outstandmg principal amounts ; :

* use our commercrally reason_able efforts to refinance all of our. obligations to Hallmark Cards and
affiliatés noted above; and.

L]

" PO B |

» comply with our covenants and obligations under the bank credit facility .

i ! + *

) 1 ¢

ln addition, we have prov1ded a release to Hallmark Cards and related parties for any matters prror to
the date of the last amendmient to the Waiver Agreement! - ' :
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Hallmark Letter of Credit

Pursuant to Amendment No. 8 to the bank credit facility, Hallmark Cards provided an irrevocable
letter of credit issued by Citibank, N.A. to JP Morgan Chase Bank in the original amount of $320.0 million,
as credit support for our obligations under the Company’s credit facility (the “credit facility”). The support
letter of credit was reduced to $220.0 million upon the consummation of the sale of the Company’s
international business and the reduction of the aggregate outstanding credit exposure of its lenders to
$220.0 million. Drawdowns under the letter of credit may be made for amounts due and payable under the
credit facility and upon the occurrence of certain other events. Any proceeds received by JP Morgan Chase
Bank from drawmg under this support letter of credit will be used to purchase from the bank lenders, on
behalf of Hallmark Cards, subordinated participations in our obligations under the bank credit facility. As
consideration, we agreed to pay Hallmark Cards the amounts resulting from the 2.0% reduction in the
interest rate and the 0.3% reduction in the commitment fee payable by the Company under the bank credit
facility as provided in Amendment No. 8. In addition, we agreed to pay the fee charged by Citigroup for
the letter of credit which was 0.625% of the amount of the letter of credit.

In conjunction with Amendment No. 10, Hallmark Cards extended its letter of credit to correlate to
the maturity date of the credit facility and also increased the size of the letter of credit from $220.0 million
to $240.0 mitlion. In consideration of this extension and increase in the size of the letter of credit, the
Company agreed to continue to pay Hallmark Cards the difference between the interest rate formerly
charged the Company before the letter of credit was available and the rate now charged with the backing
of the letter of credit. Since the interest rate was further reduced in Amendment No. 10 to LIBOR plus:
0.75%, the interest differential now payable to Hallmark Cards is 2.25% of the outstanding indebtedness
under the credit facility. In addition, the Company agreed to continue to pay the fee charged by Citigroup
for the letter of credit which was increased to 0.875% of the amount of the letter of credit.

The Hallmark Cards letter of credit was reduced t0 $130.0 mllllon in connection with Amendment
No. 11 to the bank credit facmty

Pursuant to Amendment No. 12 to the bank credit facility, Hallmark Cards has provided an
irrevocable letter of credit issued by JP Morgan Chase Bank in the amount of $130.0 million, as credit
support for our obligations under the credit facility with an expiration date of June 10, 2008.

Senior Unsecured Note

In August 2003, the Company issited a senior unsecured note to HC Crown for $400.0 million. A
portion of the proceeds was used to repurchase the Company’s outstanding trust preferred securities, and
the balance of the proceeds, after expense‘;, was used to redice amounts outstanding under its bank credit
facility.

The senior unsecured note payable to HC Crown does not require cash payments until August 2007.
In accordance with the waiver agreement, these payments are not required until May 31, 2008. The
principal amount of the senior unsecured note accretes at 10.25% per annum, compounding semi-annually,
to $596.6 million at August 5, 2007. From that date, interest at 10.25% per annum was scheduled to be
payable semi-annually on the accreted value of the senior unsecured note to HC Crown, but now will be
payable subsequent to May 31, 2008. The note matures on August 5, 2011, and is pre-payable without
penalty. At December 31, 2005 and 2006, $509.4 million and $562.2 million, respectively, of principal and
accreted interest were included in the senior unsecured note payable in the accompanying consalidated
balance sheets. The note purchase agreement for the senior unsecured note contains certain covenants
which restrict the Company, among other matters, from the incurrence of any additional indebtedness, the
repurchase or other acquisitions of the Company’s stock, investments in other parties and the incurrence
of liens on the Company’s assets. As a fee for the issuance of the notes, the Company paid $3.0 million to
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HC Crown, which was mmally capitalized and is being arnomzed as-additional mterest'expense over the
term of the note payable. - * .. - : . v

Line of Credit and Interest Payable to HC Crown YRR

On December 14, 2001, the Company executed a $75.0 million promissory note with HC Crown
maturing on the earlier of six months from the termination of the bank.credit facility or December.21, -
2007. Due to the waiver agreement, the line of credit and related interest are not due until May 31, 2008
This line of credit is subordinate to the bank credit facility. The rate of interest under this line.of creditis ' -
equal to EIBOR plus three percent. At December.31, 2005, and 2006, borrowings under the note were -
$75.0 million and $87.7 million, respectively. Accrued'inteiest on the note of $11.3 million and $5.8 millior -
are included in line of crédit and interest payable to HC Crown as of December 31, 2005, and 2006,
respectively, on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. At December 31, 2005, $75.0 million of the
outstanding balance bore interest at the Eurodollar rates of 7.08%. At December 31,2006, $87.7 million of
the outstanding balance bore interest at the Eurodollar rates of 8.37%. At December 31,2005 and 2006,
$86.3 million'and $93.5 million were included in the line‘of credit and- mterest payable to HC Crown on the

accompanying consolidated balance sheets, respectwely . TR S Coy

' 1o

Note and Interest Payable to Hallmark Cards Aﬁ‘iltate

In 2005, the Company converted a pOI'thI’l of its license fees payable to Hallmark affrhates Wl‘llCh
were approximately $132.8 million, to a promissory note bearing-interest at LIBOR plus 3% per annum,
The term of the promissory note began on October 1, 2005 and is payable in full on‘May 31, 2008, due to .
an extension under the waiver agreement. Accrued interest on the note of $2.4 million and $9.0 million is -
included in note and interest payable to Hallmark Cards affiliate as of December 31, 2005, and 2006,
respectively, on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. At December 31, 2005, $132.8 million of
the outstanding balance bore interest at the Eurodollar rates of 7. 08%. At December 31, 2006, $137.4
million of the outstanding balance bore, interest at the Eurodollar rates of 8.37%. At December 31, 2005
and 2006, $135 2 mllllOH and $146.4 mllhon were included in the note and interest payable to Hallmark
Cards aff1hate in the' accompanylng consohdated balance sheets respectively.

Line of Credit and Interest Payable to Hallmark Cards Affiliate

In March 2006, the Company converted its payable to a Hallmark Cards affitiate, which was
approximately $70.4 million, to a promissory note bearmg interest at LIBOR plus 3% per annum, The
term of the promissory note began on March 21, 2006, and is payable in full, pursuant to the waiver |
agreement on May 31, 2008. Accrued interest on the note of $4.1 million is included in note and interest ‘
payable to Hallmark Cards affﬂlate as of December 31, 2006, on the accompanymg consolidated balance
sheet. At December 31, 2006, $49.3 million of the outstandmg balance bore mterest at the Eurodollar rates
of 8.37%. At December 31, 2006, $53.4 mrlhon was mcluded in the ling of credlt and interest payable to.
Hallmark Cards affiliate in the accompanying ‘consolidated balance sheet.

During the third quarter of 2006, Hallmark Cards used $18.0 million of the 25% in the federal tax
beneﬁts from losses the Company generated to reduce the $70 4 million balance on the line of creditand
interest payable to Hallmark Cards affiliate. On September 1, 2006, Hallmark Cards also feduced the
balance of line of credit by $3.1 million, which was related to the December 1, 2005, agreement with NICC.
Interest Paid to HC Crown ;

Tnterest expense paid to HC Crown which formerly was payable to the Company’s barnik syndicate and
resulted from a reductlon in the intgrest rate and commltment fee payable to the Company’s bank ’

13"

By . . . ¢
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syndicate in Amendment No. 8 -and Amendment No. 10 to the Company’s credit facility, was $3.2 million
for the year ended December 31, 2005, and $4.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2006.

Tax Sharing Agreement

On March 11, 2003, Crown Media Holdings became a member of Hallmark Cards consolidated
federal tax group and entered into the Tax Sharing Agreement with Hallmark Cards. Hallmark Cards
includes Crown Media Holdings in its consolidated federal income tax return: Accordingly, Hallmark
Cards has benefited from past tax losses and may benefit from future tax losses; which may be generated by
Crown Media Holdings. Based on the Tax Sharing Agreement, Hallmark Cards pays Crown Media .
Holdings all of the benefits realized by Hallmark Cards as a result of consolidation, 75% in cash on a
quarterly basis and the balance when Crown Media Holdings becomes a taxpayer. Under the Tax Sharing
Agreement, at Hallmark Cards’.option, this 25% balance may also be applied as an offset against any
amounts owed by Crown Media Holdings to any member of the Hallmark Cards consolidation group
under any loan, line of credit or other payable, subject to any limitations under any loan indentures or .
contracts restricting such offsets, The Company does not expect to receive any amounts under the
agreement in 2007. For further information regarding the Tax Sharing Agreement, see Part III—Item 13.
Certain Relationships and Related Transactions—Tax Sharing Agreement.

ITEM 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative I)lsclosures about Market R]Sk

We only invest in instruments that meet hlgh credlt and quahty standards as specnfled in our
investment policy guidelines. These instruments, like all fixed income instruments, are subject to interest
rate risk. The fixed income portfolio will decline in value if there is'an increase in interest rates. If market
interest rates were to increase immediately and uniformly by 109 from levels as of December 31, 2006, the
decline of the fair value of the fixed income portfolic would not be material.

As of December 31, 2006, our cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments had a fair value of -
$14.0 million, which was invested in cash and short-term commercial paper. The primary purpose of these *
investing activities has been to preserve principal until the cash is required to fund operations.
Consequently, the size of this portfolio fluctuates significantly as cash is provided by and used in our
business.

The value of certain investments in this portfolio can be 1mpacted by the nsk of adversc changes in
securities and economic markets and interest rate fluctuations. At December 31, 2006, all of our
investments in this category were in fixed rate instruments or money market type accounts. A decrease in
interest rates has the effect of reducmg our future annual interest income from this portfolio, since funds
would be reinvested at lower rates as the instruments mature. Over time, any net percentage decrease in
our interest rates could be reflected in a corresponding net percentage decrease in our interest income.

For the year ended December 31, 2006, the impact of interest rate fluctuations, changed business prospects
and all other factors did not have a materlal impact on the fair value of this portfolio, or on our income
derived from this portfolio.

1

We have not used derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes. As of December 31, 2006,
we are not hedged or otherwise protected against risks assoc1atcd with any of our mvestmg or financing
act1v1tles

T

We are exposed to market risk.

LINY
We are exposed to market risk, including changes to interest rates. To reduce the volatility relating to
these exposures, we may enter into various derivative investment transactions in the near term pursuant to
our investment and risk management policies and procedures in arcas such as hedging and counterparty
exposure practices. We have not and will not use derivatives for speculative purposes.
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Though we intend to use risk management control policies, there will be inherent risks that may only
be partially « offset by our hedgmg programs should there be any unfavorable movements in mterest rates or
equity mvestment pnces )

17y oo 1 "o IR R
The. estrmated exposure discussed below is intended to measure the maximum amount we could lose -
from adverse market movements in interest rates and equity investment.prices, given a specified
confidence level, over a given period of time. Loss is defined in the value at risk estimation as fair. market '
valueloss. - - v e L e : : e o e

I IS BRI S

Qur interest income and expense is sub_]ect to ﬂuctuanons in interest rates. .

-©ur.material interest bearing assets consisted of cash equivalents and short-term investments. The
balance of our interest bearing assets was $14.0 million, or approximately 2% of total assets,asof .
December 31, 2006..Our material liabilities subject to interest rate risk consisted of our bank credit facility,
our line of credit and intefest payable to HC Crown, our line of credit and interest payable to Hallmark
Cards affiliate, and our.note and interest payable to Hallmark Cards affiliate. The balance of those .
liabilities was $380.9 million, or 31% of total liabilities, as of December 31, 2006. Net interest expense for -
the year ended December 31, 2006, was $98.9 million, 49%, of our total revenue. Our net interest expense
of these liabilities is sensitive t0 changes in the general level of interest rates, primarily U.S. and LIBOR
intefest rates. In this regard, changes in 'U.S. and LIBOR interest rates affect the farr value of i mterest
bearing liabilities. ‘

If market interest rates were to increase or decrease by 1% from levels as of December 31, 2006, our
interest expense, would increase or decrea_se by 3479‘ million, respectively.

ITEM 8. Fmancral Statements and Supplementary Data "'
. Our Consolldated Fmancral Statements begm at page F-1 of this Annual Report on Form 10 K

ITEM 9. Changes rn and D:sagreements wnth Accountants on Accounting and Financial Dtsclosure

. ‘None.' T BRI - : .
ITEM 9A. Controls and Procedures
a. Disclosure Controls and Procedures -. . )

As of the end of the period covered by this report, the Company, under the supervision and with the
participation of the Company’s management, including its Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial
Officer, carried out an evaluation of the effectiveness of the design and operation of the Company’s
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(¢) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities
Ex¢hange Act'of 1934) as of December 31, 2006. In performing its assessmenit of the Company s internal
control over fihancial reporting, ‘management used the criterid set forth in Initernal Control—Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission: Based
upon this.evaluation, the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer conctuded that
the Company [ dlsqlosure controls and procedures were.effective as of that date for purposes of recording,

processing, summarizing and tlmely reporting material information required to be disclosed in reports that
the Company f|les under the Secuntles Exchange Act of 1934
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b. Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining ade(iuate internal control over financial
reporting. A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. Because of
its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements,
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls *
may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of comphance with the
policies or procedures may deteriorate. - . ' . : +

Management, including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, has conducted an
evaluation of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2006, based on the criteria for effective internal control described in “Internal Control—
Integrated Framework” issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission. Based on its assessment, management concluded that the Company s internal control over
financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2006. ! : ! -

The Company’s independent registered public accounting firm, KPMG LLP, has issued an audit
report on management’s assessment of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting, and such
audit report is included herein.

¢. Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting : : .

There were no changes in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred
during the quarter ended December 31, 2006, that materially affected, or are reasonably likely to
materially affect, the Company’s internal control over financial reportmg, except as described below.

As discussed in the Company s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31,
2005, management concluded that at December 31, 2005, the Company did not maintain effective internal
control over financial reporting because of material weaknesses related to (i) the review of the Company’s
annual and interim consolidated financial statements, and (ii) controls over access to the general ledger
and certain accounting application systems were not designed effectively to provnde adequate segregatnon
of duties.

During 2006, management, with the oversight of the Audit Committee, devoted considerable effort
and took the following steps to remediate these material weaknesses:

Il

* We demgned and implemented controls to ensure the proper rev1ew of the consolidated statement
of cash flows.* =~ ' '

e We designed and implemented controls to ensure the proper review of the underlying information
supporting the amounts included in the Company’s annual and interim consolidated financial
statements.

i ‘ o A . ot

¢ We designed and implemented controls to' ensure the proper review of the information available
subsequent to the financial reporting closé process for appropriate: recognition and disclosure in the
Company’s annual and interim consolidated ﬁnanmal statements. "

» We designed and implemented controls to ensure that no personnel of the Company can both
initiate and approve journal entries.

» We designed and implemented controls to ensure that no personnel of the Company can both
initiate and approve the payment of invoices and sign checks.
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» We designed and'implemented controls to ensure that no personnel of the Company can make
changes to accounting applications without appropriate review and approval,

Management has concluded that these remediation steps, which were completed by the end of the
fourth quarter of 2006, remediated the material weaknesses in the Company’s disclosure controls and
procedures related to (i) the review of the Company’s annual and interim consolidated financial
statements, and (ii) controls over access to the general ledger and certain accounting application systems
that were prevnously not demgned effectlvely to provide adequate segregation of duties.

Because of the inherent limitations in ali control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide
absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, will be or have been detected.
These inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in decision-making can be faulty, and that .
breakdowns can occur because of snmple error or mistake. Additionally, controls can be circumvented by
the individual acts of some persons, by collusion of two or more people, or by management override of the

control. The design of any system of controls also is based in part upon certain assumptions about the
likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its
stated goals under all potentlal future conditions; over time, control may become inadequate because of
changes in conditions, or the degree of comphance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
Because of the inherent limitation in a cost- effectwe control system, misstatements due to error or fraud
may occur and not be detected. , . .

ITEM 9B. Other Information
Not applicable.

PART IH

[ I

The information required by thls Part III is incorporated by reference to information in the definitive
proxy statement for our 2007 annual meeting of stockholders under the headings “Election of Directors,”
“Board Information,” “Compensation of Directors and Executive Officers,” “Section 16(a) Beneficial
Ownership Reporting Compliance,” “Security Ownership-of Certain Beneficial Owners and
Managemient,” and “Principal Accountant Fees and Services.” We intend to file the definitive proxy
statement with the Securities and Exchange Commission on or prior to April 30, 2007.

ITEM 10.’ Direcltors, Executive Officers and Cog'poréte Governance

. Thé information required by this Item 10 s set forth in the Proxy Statement to be delivered to
stockholders in connection with our Annual Meeting of Stock holders to be held on or about June 28, 2007
(“the Proxy Statement™) under the headings “Election of Directors,” “Board Information,” and
“Compensation of Directors and Executive Officers,” and is incorporated by reference herein.

o P

ITEM 11 Executwe Compensatlon

The information requlred by this Item 11 is set forth in the Proxy Statement under the headings
“Board Information,” and “Compensatlon of Directors and Executive Officers,” and is incorporated by
reference herem

ITEM 12. Security Ownershlp of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder
‘ Matters . . . .

The information.required by this Item 12 is set forth in‘the Proxy Statement under the heading
“Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management,” and is incorporated by reference
herein.
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ITEM 13., Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and:Director Independence = .-

The information required by this Item 13 is set forth in the Proxy Statement under the headings
“Certain-Relationships and Related Transactions” and is incorporated by reference herein. The
descriptions of related party transactions below are stated in this Report because the transactions are
referenced in other Items of this Report. . T - g G . '

"The followmg summary descriptions of agreements to which we are a party are qualified in their enitirety by
reference to the agreement to which each summary description relates, edch of which we have filed with the
SEC I: ! . i 0 [ [ ‘ Yo i . ’ i"

Crown’ Media United States has agreerments with RHI Entertainment Dlstrlbutlon (successor of
Hallmark Entertamment Dlstrlbutlon) which are described below; fof service$ in connection with the
operatlon of the Crown film library and the licensitig of programming produced or distributed by RHI”
Entértaintent Distribution. Since 1995, Hallmark Entertainment Distribution had been a subsidiary of ”
Hallmark Entertainment, LLC, which in turn was a wholly-owned subsidiary of Hallmark-Cards. On
January 12, 2006, Hallmark Cards sold the equity initerests in Hallmark Entertainment, LLC, and, thus s
indirectly, Hallmark Entertainment Distribution to the management of RHI Entertamrnent and affiliates
of Kelso & Company The name of Hallmark Entertamment 'LIC was, changed to RHI Entertalnment _
LLC and Hallmark Entertainment Distribution LLC was changed to RHI Entértainment Distribution
LLC. Crown Media United States’ agreements with Hallmark Entertainment Distribution are unaffected’
by the change in name and ownership, except that the agreements are now wrth a party that i Is unrelated to
the Company.

!

ot

i

Agreements Concerning the Film Assets
In connection with the acquisition of the fitm assets in 2001, we entered into the following agrecments:

. \ r -
Services Agreement with Hallmark Entt'rtamment now RHI Entertammem . o : L

4 t o

. RHI Entertainment provrded services related to the admlmbtranon distribution and other’ - ..~
exploitation of the film assets. We paid RHI Entertainment $750,000 per year for these services. -
Prior to the sale of our international business in April 2005 we paid $1.5 million per year for these
services. o C . | C oo RS

* We paid RHI Entertainment apprommately $473,000 for these services, from January 1, 2005
through April 25, 2005, when they were providing the services for both our 'dormestic and
international film library operations. Following the sale of our international-busiriesses on Apfil 25,
2005, we paid RHI Entertainment a fee of $500,000 for the remainder of2005, during which time »
they provided services only for our domestic library sales. We paid RHI Entertainment a fee of
$750,000 for 2006.- ' o R T (P

4

+ RHI Entertainment was required to use commercially reasonable efforts to maximize the licensing
revenue from the film assets consistent with its past efforts for comparable products among the film
llbrary assets, ¢ t o . . : Lo

. We had sole discretion to determme wh1ch of the purchased ‘films will be llcensed by RHI
Entertainment to third parties, as well as the distribution territories, time periods and other '

licensing terms.

LA

R . ? : . 3 A ' e T PR S a1
This services agreement with RHI Entertainment terminated on December 15, 2006; upon completion
of the sale of the Company’s film library to RHI Entertainment. -

v L I Y ¥ . . : o v T Lo e
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Registration Rights Agreement

We agreed to grant Hallmark Entertainment Distribution four demand registration rights and
unlimited piggyback registration rights with respect to the shares of Class A common stock that were
issued with the purchase of the film assets. These registration rights were later assigned to and are
currently held by HEIC.

RHI Entertainment Distribution Programming Agreement

Crown Media United States has licensed programming for distribution in the United States from RHI
Entertainment Distribution, since 1998. It currently licenses this programming under a Second Amended
and Restated Program License Agreement dated as of January 1, 2005 (“Second Restated Agreement”). A
special committee of the Board of Directors and the entire Board of Directors (with directors affiliated
with Hallmark Cards and J.P. Morgan Partners abstaining from the vote) approved the Second Restated
Agreement. This Second Restated Agreement expires on December 31, 2008,

Under the Second Restated Agreement, RHI Entertainment Distribution is required to produce and
deliver to Crown Media United States, and Crown Media United States is required to order and license
from RHI Entertainment Distribution, 13 original movies and 3 original mini-series in 2005, 31 original
movies and 6 original mini-series in 2006 and 18 original movies and 3 original mini-series in 2007. Crown
Media United States may, however, completely cancel the 2007 commitment to order 18 original movies
and 3 original mini-series or it may reduce the number of original movies it is required to license in each of
2006 and 2007 by up to six movies per year. Crown Media United States has exercised this option to reduce
by six the number of original movies produced in 2006 and has advised RHI Entertainment Distribution
that it will not exercise its right to cancel the 2007 original productions. Crown Media United States has
exclusive rights to these original movies and mini-series during a three year exhibition window (the window
is five years for certain holiday-themed movies and movies produced in 2005). Crown Media United States
may exhibit the original movies and mini-series in any television media in the United States, its territories
and possessions (together with Puerto Rico), including pay per view and high definition television. Crown
Media United States may also sublicense its exhibition rights in any television media regarding the original
and other movies and mini-series covered by the agreement to third parties, subject to the reasonable
consent of RHI Entertainment Distribution. To the extent that the license fees received from such
sublicenses exceed the license fees that Crown Media United States paid to RHI Entertainment
Distribution for the same programming, Crown Media United States must pay half of such excess amounts
to RHI Entertainment Distribution. The license fee payable for the original movies produced in 2005 is
$1,600,000 per movie; in 2006 is $1,680,000 per movie and in 2007 is $1,764,000 per movie. If the movies
are produced for the Hallmark Channel’s “Mystery Movie” series, the license fees are increased by
$200,000 and if they are holiday-themed movies, the license fees are increased by $100,000. The license
fees for mini-series produced in 2005 are $800,000 per hour; in 2006 are $840,000 per hour; and in 2007 are
$882,000 per hour. Crown Media United States must also share any revenues from video on demand or pay
per view exploitation with RHI Entertainment Distribution.

In addition to the original movies and mini-Series, Crown Media United States has agreed to license
from RHI Entertainment Distribution 22 “off-network™ movies and mini-series in 2005 and a maximum of
15 such movies and mini-series in 2006 through 2013. These programs generally will not have been seen on
cable television in the United States prior to their exhibition on the Hallmark Channel. The license fees
payable for the off-network movies are $268,029 per movie in 2005; $281,420 per movie in 2006; $295,491
per movie in 2007 and $310,266 per movie in 2008 and subsequent years. The license fees payable for the
off-network mini-series are $335,024 per hour in 2005; $351,775 per hour in 2006; $369,364 per hour in
2007 and $387,832 per hour in 2008 and subsequent years. Crown Media United States’ initial exhibition
period for these off-network movies and mini-series is three years and Crown Media United States’
exhibition rights are exclusive in all television media in the United States, including Puerto Rico. Crown
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Media United States’ exhibition rights to these off-network movies and mini-series do not, however,
include pay per view or video on demand. RHI Entertainment Distribution has an option to require Crown
Media United States to license these off-network movies and mini-series for an additional, consecutive
three year period at a cost of 50% of the initial license fee.

Crown Media United States has also agreed to license up to 143 older movies and mini-series from the
RHI Entertainment Distribution Library for a three year exclusive exhibition window, at an approximate
total cost of $57.5 million. Most of these movies and mini-series have previously been exhibited on the
Hallmark Channel or Hallmark Movie Channel.

Historically, the original movies and mini-series produced by RHI Entertainment Distribution have
been an essential element of the Hallmark Channel’s programming schedule and have been the
highest-rated programming on the Channel. The Second Restated Agreement assures the Hallmark
Channel continued access to these original productions through 2007, Crown Media United States is free,
however, to acquire original programming from other suppliers. The off-network programming and older
library programming acquired from RHI Entertainment Distribution have also been a critical part of the
Hallmark Channel and Hallmark Movie Channel programming lineups.

During the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2006, Crown Media United States paid RHI
Entertainment Distribution $93.4 million and $51.1 million, respectively under the First and Second
Amended and Restated Program License Agreements. During the year ended December 31, 2005, Crown'
Media United States also prepaid RHI Entertainment Distribution $26.6 million. As of December 31, 2005
and 2006, Crown Media United States had $22.7 million and $18.4 million in accrued and unpaid program
license fees under the program agreement, respectively.

RHI Entertainment and RHI Entertainment Distribution were our related parties as a result of them
being owned by Hallmark Cards. In January 2006, Hallmark Cards sold its ownership interests in RHI
Entertainment, and thus also RHI Entertainment Distribution, to its President and certain new investors.

VISN Preferred Interest

VISN, a subsidiary of the National Interfaith Cable Coalition, Inc. (“NICC”), owns a $25.0 million .
preferred interest in Crown Media United States, Under the Crown Media United States Amended and
Restated Company Agreement, originally dated November 13, 1998, the members agreed that if during
any yeat ending after January 1, 2005 and prior to December 31, 2009, Crown Media United States has net
profits in excess of $10.0 million, and the preferred interest has not been redeemed, Crown Media United
States will redeem the preferred interest in an amount equal to the lesser of:

e such excess;
¢ $5.0 million; or
+ the amount equal to the preferred liquidation preference on the date of redemption.

The members also agreed that Crown Media United States will redeem the preferred interest at the
preferred interest liquidation preference on the date of redemption of December 31, 2010.

Crown Media United States may voluntarily redeem the preferred interest at any time, however, it is
obligated to do so on the date of redemption (December 31, 2010). The preferred interest has a liquidation
preference of $25.0 million. .

Crown Media United States Programming Agreement with NICC

On November 13, 1998, the Company, Vision Group, VISN and Henson Cable1Nétworks, Inc. signed
an amended and restated agreement governing the operation of Crown quia‘United States, as amended
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at various times through December 1, 2005 (the “company agreement”). The Company agreement includes
the provisions regarding the redemption of the preferred interest held by VISN as described above.

A December 2005 agreement between Crown Media Holdings and NICC replaced a prior program
production agreement and settled various disputes which had arisen under the prior agreement In the new
agreement, the Company agreed to fund and license the following programming produced by NICC
through the end of 2007:

» A Sunday Mormning one-hour series entitled “New Morning with Naomi Judd” at a cost of $3.5
million in 2005, $4.6 million in 2006 and $5.6 million in 2007. The 2006 and 2007 amounts are
payable quarterly in those years.

» A weekday one-hour daily series entitled “New Morning” at a cost of $1.9 million in 2005, $4.2
million in 2006 and $5.1 million in 2007, The 2005 amount includes a deferred amount of $535,000
to be paid as indicated below for deferred payments, The 2006 and 2007 amounts are payable
quarterly in those years.

¢ A Sunday moming programming block, broadcast from 6 a.m. to 12 noon, at a cost of
approximately $485,000 in 2005, $5.8 million in 2006 and $5.8 million, increased by a percentage
equal to the increase in the Consumer Price Index, in 2007. These amounts include deferred
payments of $125,000 for 2005 and $1.5 million for each of 2006 and 2007. The 2006 and 2007
amounts not deferred are payable quarterly in those years.

In addition, Crown Media Holdings agreed to finish funding four specials, the production of which
had been commenced prior to the amendment, at a total additional cost of $1.4 million in 2005 and 2006,
and to fund an additional two non-dramatic specials, to be produced in 2006 and 2007, at a total cost of
$1.3 million. A quarter of the amounts for the additional two specials was paid in January 2006, another
quarter was paid in June 2006 and the remaining one-half is payable in June 2007, or upon a change in
control (that is, a sale or merger where the aggregate ownership of Crown Media Holdings by the current
owners becomes less than 50%). The Hallmark Channel is not obligated to broadcast the latter two
specials. Crown Media Holdings will also provide or has provided $2.0 million in each of 2005, 2006 and
2007 to fund the development by NICC of “made for television” maovies and will pay NICC an additional
$1.0 million if the movie “A Reason to Believe,” which was to be produced under the prior agreement, is
not ultimately produced. The 2005 amount includes a deferred payment of $1.8 million; the 2006 amount
was paid semi-annually in 2006; and the 2007 amount is payable in January 2007. The Hallmark Channel
will have a right of first negotiation to acquire broadcast rights to the movies resulting from this
development and, if it elects not to acquire these rights, may still recover a portion of its funding if the
movies are produced for others. In addition, NICC has received $45,000 in consulting fees from a series
which RHI Entertainment has produced, and will receive a deferred payment of $750 000 as the last
payment for certain terminated obligations.

The deferred payments mentioned above are payable to NICC on December 31, 2007 or upon a
change in control, whichever comes first. Added to the deferred amounts will be (1) interest at the rate
charged by NICC’s prime lender or (2) if NICC sells Crown Media Holdings common stock to finance any
deficit, the increase in the sale price of the common stock between the time NICC sells the stock to fund a
deferred amount and a market price of the Crown Media Holdings common stock on the date the deferred
amounts are paid by Crown Media Holdings.

In the event there is a change of control of Crown Media Holdings prior to the expiration of the
agreement (i.e., December 31, 2007), NICC will immediately receive a $15.0 million “termination
payment,” any remaining portions of the payments for the non-dramatic specials and the “made for
television” movie development described above and the deferred payments described above. The Hallmark
Channel will be obligated to continue to broadcast and pay for the Sunday “New Morning with Naomi
Judd” and weekday “New Morning” series and the Sunday morning programming block for an additional
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six months following the change in control, after which all funding and broadcast obligations to NICC will
cease. Also, under existing obligations, Crown Media Holdings would be required to redeem the $25.0
million preferred interest of NICC in Crown Media United States, LLC, for that amount plus accrued
interest at LIBOR from November 27, 2005,

If there has not been a change of control of the Company by June 30, 2007, Crown Media Holdings is
required to negotiate with NICC for a period of 60 days regarding continuation of the programming
commitments. If at the end of the negotiating period the parties have not reached agreement and Crown
Media Holdings is not willing to continue the programming commitments at the same levels, NICC may
compel Crown Media Holdings to buy all NICC's outstanding shares of Crown Media Holdings common
stock at the then current market value by a written notice given no later than November 1, 2007 (“Put
Right”). If NICC sells more than 50% of the shares of Crown Media Holdings common stock which it
owned as of February 22, 2001, except as part of a sale of Crown Media Holdings, most of the
commitments and obligations related to programming as described above cease (at the option of Crown
Media United States) at the end of the then current broadcast season (approximately August 31}.

The Company has, at NICC’s request, started negotiations with NICC regarding the continuation of
the programming commitments. In the event a new agreement is not reached or other resolution is not
reached and NICC seeks to exercise its Put Right, the Company will endeavor to finance the purchase of
the NICC stock through outside sources rather than from funds from operations. In the alternative, the
Company can, if necessary, extinguish NICC’s Put Right completely by offering to continue the
programming commitments to NICC at the same level as in the current agreement.

During the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2006, Crown Media United States paid the National
Interfaith Cable Coalition $12.5 million and $18.4 million, respectively, related to this agreement.

DIRECTV Affiliation Agreement

On August 20, 2001, Crown Media United States entered into an Affiliation Agreement with
DIRECTV, Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary of DIRECTYV Enterprises, Inc. Pursuant to the Affiliation
Agreement, DirecTV distributes the Hallmark Channel on the TOTAL CHOICE?® tier of its DBS
distribution system in the United States and pay us license fees for such distribution. At the same time we
entered into a Stock Purchase Agreement with DIRECTV Enterprises whereby we issued 5,360,202 shares
of our Class A common stock, which shares were subsequently transferred to its parent company, Hughes
Electronics Corporation. As of December 31, 2006, DIRECTYV accounted for 15.6 million of our
subscribers.

Hallmark Advertising

Hallmark Cards purchased $2.3 million and $1.2 million of advertising on the Hallmark Channel in
the United States at negotiated market rates, respectively, during the years ended December 31, 2005 and
2006. ‘

Senior Unsecured Note te HC Crown

On August 5, 2003, Crown Media Holdings repurchased all of the trust preferred securities of Crown
Media Trust and related contingent appreciation certificates issued by the Company. Funds for this
repurchase were obtained from the proceeds of a $400.0 million 10.25% senior unsecured note issued to
HC Crown. After the payment of certain expenses for the issuance including a fee of $3.0 million to HC
Crown, the Company used the balance of the proceeds of the senior unsecured note, amounting to
approximately $67.3 million, to pay principal, interest, and prepayment penalties on its bank revolving
credit loans. See Note 11 of our Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in this Report and “Bank
Credit Facility and Hallmark Notes” in Item 7 Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations of this Report for information on this senior unsecured note.
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Hallmark Demand Notes and Line of Credit ;. ‘ . : \ '

On December 14, 2001, the Company executed a promlssory note in the amount of $75.0 million
payable to HC Crown in replacement of the promissory note with HC Crown dated September 28,2001.
This note may 'bé borfowed against or prepaid without penalty and has a final maturity date no later than
May 31, 2008. The line of credit is subordinate to the bank credit facﬂnty and its availability may be reduced
dollar for dollar in an amourit equal to additional capital raised by Crown Media Holdings. The rate of
interest under the line of credit is equal to LIBOR plus three percent, payable quarterly. At December 31,
2005 and.2006, the Company had borrowed$75.0 million and $87.7 million, respectively, under this note. -,
Under this note, the Company was obligated to pay a commitment fee of 1.5% of the initial maximum
amount of the note, which may be paid by issuing common stock valued at the average closing price of the
commen stock for the 15 trading days prior to the date the fée is due. The commitment fee was payable in
arrears in) four equal installments on the last business day of each calendar quarter during 2002. We issued
192,262 shares' as payment for the commitment fee in the amount of $1 1 million. The line of credit was
reqmred by the credit facility., h

“ e

Interest Paui to HC Crown b h _ ‘

Interest expense paid to-HC Crown, Wthh formerly was payable to the Company s bank syndlcate and
resulted from a reduction in the'interest rate and commitment fee payable to the Company’s bank.
syndicate in Amendment No. 8 and Amendment No. 10 to the Company’s credit facility, was $3.2 million
for the year ended December 31 2005, and $4 4 million for the year ended December:31, 2006. .

[N - ¥

Hallmark Agreements Related to Bank Credu F ac:luy

Seé “Bank Credit F acﬂlty and Hallmark Notes” in Item 7 Management’s Dlscussmn and Analysis of
Financial Condition and’ Results of Operations above and Notes 10 and 11 to our Consolidated Financial
Statements for information’ regardlng our bank credit fac1hty and related agreements with Hallmark Cards.

4
Waiver and Standby Purrhase Agreemeut and Related Amendments

For information on agrecment of Hallmark Cards regarding amounts payable to Hallmark Cards and
its affiliates, including any-amounts resulting from a drawdown of the letter of credit that.supports the
credit facility with JP Morgan Chase Bank, see “Bank Credit Facility and Hallmark Notes—Waiver and
Standby Purchase Agreement” in Item 7 Management s Discussion and Analysis of Fmancnal Condition
and Results of Operanons above. :

Stockholders Agreement and Regzstratmn R:ghts - . E \
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General

We are a party to a stockholders agreement, amended and restated as of August 30, 2001 as amended
with VISN, Hughes Electronics Corporation (“Hughes”), and Hallmark Entertainment Investments. The
stockholders agreement provides that our Board will consist of not less than 15 directors, with 12 -
nominated by Hallmark Entertainment Investments, one nominated by VISN and, two independent
directors, who must not be officers, directors or gmployees of any of the partics or their affiliates, and who
will be nominated by the Board. The rights of the parties to nominate a director will terminate on the later
of (1) such party owning less than 5% of our common stock then outstanding or (2) such party ceasing to
oWl at least 75% of the numbet of $hares of our common stock held by them immediately after our initial
public offering'in May 2000. Hughes is entitled to appoint an observer to the board of directors of Crown
Media Holdingsuintil Hughés and'its affiliates cease to own beneficially in the aggregate at least 75% of
the shares of our common stock acquired by DirecTV, the predecessor holder of the shares now held by
Hughes, in the August 2001 transaction.

51




The stockholders agreement also provides that we will not enter into any material transaction, excépt
for specified transactions, with any of the other parties or their affiliates involving an aggregate value of
(1) $35.0 million or less, unless such transaction is approved by a majority of our independent directors and
(2) more than $35.0 million, unless such transaction is approved by a majority of the members of our Board
not nominated by the interested party.

In addition, the stockholders agreement provides that, in the event that Hallmark Entertainment
Investments proposes to transfer 20% or more of our outstanding common stock to an unaffiliated third
party, each other party to the stockholders agreement will have the right to participate on the same terms
in that transaction with respect to a proportionate number of such other party’s shares, except for Hughes.

Hallmark Entertainment Investments Co. Stockholders Agreement ' . o

On March 11, 2003, Hallmark Entertainment Holdings contributed 100% of the Crown Media a
Holdings shares owned by it to Hallmark Entertainment Investments. Two of Crown Media Holdmgs
investors, Liberty Crown, Inc. (“Liberty”), a subsidiary of Liberty Media, and J.P. Morgan, als¢ contributed
100% of their Crown Media Holdings Shares to Hallmark Entertainment Investments and VISN |
contributed 10% of its Crown Media Holdings shares to Hallmark Entertainment Investments, all in return
for Hallmark Entertainment Investments shares. Prior to the Hallmark Entertainment Investments
transaction, J.P. Morgan and Liberty were parties to the Crown Media Holdings stockholders agreement
described above. As a result of the Hallmark Entertainment Investments transaction, J.P. Morgan and
Liberty no longer have any rights pursuant to such stockholders agreement. However, Hallmark
Entertainment Investments has advised Crown Media Holdings that J.P. Morgan and Liberty will retain
similar rights with respect to Crown Media Holdings pursuant to the Hallmark Entertainment Investments
stockholders agreement dated March 11, 2003, among Hallmark Entertainment Investments, Hallmark
Entertainment Holdings, Liberty, VISN, and J.P. Morgan, including the following:

¢ Liberty has the right to designate one person as one of the directors to the Crown Media Holdings:
Board that Hallmark Entertainment Investments is entitled to nominate under the Crown Media
Holdings stockholders agreement described above. J.P. Morgan had the right to designate one -
person as one of the directors to the Crown Media Holdings Board but has surrendered such right.

s Hallmark Entertainment Investments will not permit Crown Media Holdings or its subsidiaries to
enter into any material transaction, except for specified transactions, with any affiliates involving an
aggregate value of (a) $35.0 million or less, unless such transaction is approved by a majority of -
Crown Media Holdings’ independent directors and (b) more than $35.0 million, unless such -
transaction is approved by a majority of the members of Crown Media Holdings’ Board not
nominated by any affiliate of Hallmark Entertainment Holdings (provided that directors designated
by Liberty and J.P. Morgan will not be treated as being nominated by any affiliate of Hallmark
Entertainment Holdings);

* registration rights as provided for minority stockholders in the Crown Media Holdings stockholders
agreement,

' - ' i

¢ Hallmark Entertainment Investments may not take certain actions as specified in the Hallmark
Entertainment Investments stockholder agreement without the conscnt of J.P Morgan and Liberty;
and

» if Hallmark Entertainment Holdings proposes to transfer 20% or more of'Hallmark Ent‘ertainment'
Investments common stock to an unaffiliated third party, each of J.P. Morgan, leerty and VISN
will have the right to participate on the same terms in the transaction on a proportlonal basis.

.ot
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Registration Rights .

Under the stockholders agreement, Hallmark Entertainment Investments has the right to require us
on four occasions, and the other parties, as a group, have the right to require us on two occasions, to
register for sale their shares of our common stock, so long as the number of shares they require us to
register in each case is at least 7% of our common stock then outstanding. The other parties also have an
unlimited number of “piggyback” registration rights. This means that any time we register our common
stock for sale, they will have the right to include their common stock in that offering and sale.

We are obligated to pay all expenses that result from the registration of the other parties’ common
stock under the stockholders agreement, other than registration and filing fees, attorneys’ fees, underwriter
fees or expenses and underwriting discounts and comrmissions. We have also indemnified the other parties
against any liabilities that may result from their salé of common stock, including Securities Act liabilities.

Rights Relating To Crown Media United States Amended and Restated Company Agreement

Under the stockholders agreement, so long as we or any of our affiliates are entitled to have a
representative on the Crown Media United States governance committee, and VISN and its affiliates
either are entitled to nominate to, or designate a member of, our Board, or beneficially own any preferred
interests in Crown Media United States, neither we nor any of our affiliates will, without the consent of the
member of our Board nominated by VISN or a representative of NICC, vote in favor of:

e 'any specified change in, or action described in, the Crown Media United States amended and
restated company agreement that relates to VISN’s preferred interest in Crown Media United
States or that relates to VISN's rights to programming on the Hallmark Channel in the U.S. or its
programming budget;

_ & any repayment or redemption of specified equity interests in Crown Media United States;

« any transfer of all of Crown Media United States’ assets or any business combination involving
Crown Media United States where Crown Media United States is not the surviving entity, unless
the transferee assumes specified obligations under the Crown Media United States amended and
restated company agreement until the later of the fifth anniversary of these offerings or the second
anniversary of the transfer or business combination;

o the dissolution of Crown Media United States, except in connection with a complete liqhidation;

e any transfer of all of Crown Media United States’ assets to, or any business combination involving
Crown Media United States’ with, us or any of our affiliates, or any other material transaction with
us or any of our affiliates, unless we comply with spec1fied restrictions relating to any financial
benefit we receive from the transaction that is more than what we would have received had the

. transactlon been on an arm s-length basis or on commerc1al]y reasonable terms;

"e any transfer of all of Crown Media United States’ assets or any business combination involving
Crown Media United States where Crown Media United States is not the surviving entlty, prior to
the second anniversary of the initial public offering; or

 any amendment to the Crown Media United States’ amended and restated company agreement that
would result in none of us or our affiliates havmg the right to consent to take any of the actions
listed in the above bullet points.

In addition, we have agreed not to transfer any of our interests in Crown Media United States after
the second anniversary of our initial public offering unless the transfer is conditioned on the requirement
that the transferee assume our obligations described above. Under the terms of the stockholders
agreement, the transferee’s obligations will generally expire on the later of (1) the fifth anniversary of the
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initial public offering, (2) the second anniversary of the transfer or (3) the repayment of VISN’sipreferred
interest in Crown Media United States, except that the obligations of thc transferee will expire.upon
dissolution of Crown Media United States.

1
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Intercompany Services Agreement
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The Company has an intercompany services agreement with Hallmark €ards, which was entered intd~
in 2003 for a term of three years and then extended for an additional one-year term through January 1,
2008. Under the agreement, Hallmark Cards provides us with the following services: =~ . . .,

e tax services; S . ' S A PRI Y I

‘e risk management, llealth,,safety and gnvironmental Qewices'and insurlanee;‘ o

» legal services;

* treasury and cash management servic es; and

o real estate consulting services. ) P CoL

- We have agreed to pay Hallmark Cards $515,000'in ”O(]S and $530,000 in 2006 and 2007 pér year forl i
these services, plus out-of-pocket expenses and third party fees, payable in arrears on the last business day !
of each quarter. The balance of the payable for services, expenses and fees under this and the previcus
services agreement as of December 31, 2005 and 2006, was approximately $4.0 million and,$4.5 million,
respectively. We believe that the services bemg prov1ded under the agreement have a value at least equal
to the annual fee. | ‘ : Co ) ce Do
Hallmark deemark License Agreements

Crown Medla United States operates under the benefit of a limited trademark licensé agreement with
Hallmark Licensing, Inc., dated March 27, 2001, which has been extended through September 1, 2007. The
amended and restated: Crown Media United States trademark agreement permits Crown Media United
States to name its network service as the “Hallmark-Channel.” The agreement contains usage standards,
which limit certain types of programming and programming content aired on Crown Media United States’
network. Crown Media United States also has a similar trademark license agreement with Hallmark:
Licensing, Inc., which is effective January 1, 2004, and expires September 1, 2007, to permlt the-use of the
Hallmark trademark in the name of the “Hallmark Movie Channel”.

Under the agreement if Hallmark Cards notifies us in wrltmg tltat it has determmed that we have
failed to coniply with the usage standards st forth in ‘the agreement or have 0therw15e breached our
obligations under the agreement, we are requnred to stop any non—complymg act1v1ty within 10 days of that
notice or we may be in default of the agreement. We also may be in default if Hallmark Cards delivers such
a written notice to us with respect to its standards three or more times in any 12‘month petiod. In addition,
there may be a'default under the agreement if we fail to cure any breach of the program-agreement with
RHI Entertainment Distribution, if we fail to make any payments due under loan agréements within five
days of the due date, or if we receive an opinion from our auditors that shows that we no longer are a going
concern.

C 4 .
B N . ] o

The license agreements can be terminated immediately and without notice if we transfer in any way
our rights under the license agreements, if we have an event of default under the agreement or in evénts of
bankruptcy, insolvency or similar proceedings.
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Tax Sharing Agreement

On March 11, 2003, Crown Media Holdings became a member of Hallmark Cards consolidated
federal tax group and entered into the Tax Sharing Agreement with Hallmark Cards. Hallmark Cards
includes Crown Media Holdings in its consolidated federal income tax returns. Accordingly, Hallmark
Cards has benefited from past tax losses and may benefit from future tax losses, which may be generated by
Crown Media Holdings. Based on the Tax Sharing Agreement, Hallmark Cards pays Crown Media
Holdings all of the benefits realized by Halimark Cards as a result of consolidation, 75% in cash on a
quarterly basis and the balance when Crown Media Holdings becomes a taxpayer. Under the Tax Sharing
Agreement, at Hallmark Cards’ option, this 25% balance may also be applied as an offset against any
amounts owed by Crown Media Holdings to any member of the Hallmark Cards consolidation group
under any loan, line of credit or other payable, subject to any limitations under any loan indentures or
contracts restricting such offsets.

An independent member of the Board of Directors of Crown Media Holdings, with advice of
independent counsel approved Crown Media Holdings’ entering into the Tax Sharing Agreement.

The Company received $56.1 million (including the $30.0 million offset to intercompany debt during
the third quarter of 2003} and $30.0 miltion (including the $18.0 million offset to intercompany debt during
the third quarter of 2006) under the Tax Sharing Agreement during 2005 and 2006, respectively.

Certain Business Relationships and Conflicts of Interest

Hallmark Entertainment Investments controls a majority of cur outstanding shares of Class A
Common Stock and all of our outstanding shares of Class B common stock, representing approximately
95.8% of the voting power on all matters submitted to our stockholders. Hallmark Entertainment
Investments’ control could discourage others from initiating potential merger, takeover or other change of
control transactions that may otherwise be beneficial to our businesses or holders of Class A common
stock, As a result, the market price of our Class A common stock or our business could suffer,

Hallmark Entertainment Investments’ control relationship with us also could give rise to conflicts of
interest, including:

+ conflicts between Hallmark Entertainment Investments, as our controlling stockholder, and our
other stockholders, whose interests may differ with respect to, among other things, our strategic
direction or significant corporate transactions;

« conflicts related to corporate opportunities that could be pursued by us, on the one hand, or by
Hallmark Entertainment Investments or its other affiliates, on the other hand; or

+ conflicts related to existing or new contractual relationships between us, on the one hand, and
Hallmark Entertainment Investments and its affiliates, on the other hand.

In addition, our directors, who are also officers or directors of Hallmark Entertainment Investments
or its affiliates, will have fiduciary duties, including duties of loyalty, to both companies and may have
conflicts of interest with respect to matters potentially involving or affecting us.

Qur certificate of incorporation provides that Hallmark Cards will have no duty to refrain from
engaging in activities or lines of business that are the same as or similar to the activities or lines of business
in which we engage, and neither Hallmark Cards nor any officer or director of Fallmark Cards, except as
provided below, will be liable to us or to our stockholders for breach of any fiduciary duty by reason of any
such activities of Hallmark Cards. In the event that Hallmark Cards acquires knowledge of a potential
transaction or matter which may be a corporate opportunity for both Hallmark Cards and us, Hallmark
Cards will have no duty to communicate or offer that corporate opportunity to us and will not be liable to
us or our stockholders for breach of any fiduciary duty as a stockholder by reason of the fact that Hallmark
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Cards pursues or acquires that corporate opportunity for itself, directs that corporate opportunity to
another person, or does not communicate information regarding that corporate opportunity to us.

In the event that one of our directors or officers who is also a director or officer of Halimark Cards
acquires knowledge of a potential transaction or matter which may be a corporate opportunity for both us
and Hallmark Cards, that director or officer will have fully satisfied his or her fiduciary duty to us and our
stockholders with respect to that corporate opportunity if that director or officer acts in a manner
consistent with the following policy:

* a corporate opportunity offered to any person who is one of our officers, and who is also a director
but not an officer of Hallmark Cards, will belong to us;

» a corporate opportunity offered to any person who is one of our directors but not one of our
officers, and who is also a director or officer of Hallmark Cards, will belong to us if that opportunity
is expressly offered to that person in his or her capacity as one of our directors, and otherwise will
belong to Hallmark Cards; and

* acorporate opportunity offered to any person who is one of our officers and an officer of Hallmark
Cards will belong to us if that opportunity is expressly offered to that person in his or her capacity as
one of our officers, and otherwise will belong to Hallmark Cards.

For purposes of the policy:

e a director who is our Chairman of the Board or Chairman of a committee of the Board will not be
deemed to be one of our officers by reason of holding that position, unless that person is one of our
full-time employees;

o references to us shall mean us and all corporations, partnerships, joint ventures, associations and
other entities in which we beneficially own, directly or indirectly, 50% or more of the outstanding
voting stock, voting power, partnership interests or similar voting interests; and

+ the term “Hallmark Cards” means Hallmark Cards and all corporations, partnerships, joint
ventures, associations and other entities, other than us, as we are defined in this paragraph, in which
Hallmark Cards beneficially owns, directly or indirectly, 50% or more of the outstanding voting
stock, voting power, partnership interests or similar voting interests.

The foregoing provisions of our certificate of incorporation will expire on the date that Hallmark
Cards ceases to own beneficially common stock representing at least 20% of the total voting power of all of
our classes of outstanding capital stock and no person who is one of our directors or officers is also a
director or officer of Hallmark Cards or any of its subsidiaries.

Other than as disclosed above and under “—Stockholders Agreement and Registration Rights,” there
are no specific policies in place with respect to any conflicts that may arise. We expect conflicts to be
resolved on a case-by-case basis, and in a manner consistent with applicable law.

Transactions with JP Morgan Chase Bank

We have a credit agreement with a syndicate of banks lead by JP Morgan Chase Bank providing a
secured line of credit and term loan of up to a total of $130.0 million due May 31, 2008. For information
regarding the terms of the bank credit agreement, please see Item 7 Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operation under “Bank Credit Facility and HC Crown
Loans.” As part of this credit facility, JP Morgan Chase Bank originally committed to lend to us up to
$45.0 million, which was first reduced to $31.0 million and subsequently reduced to $29.0 million. At
December 31, 2005 and 2006, JP Morgan Chase Bank had outstanding loans to us under the line of credit
of $29.6 million and $24.6 million, respectively. Each loan under the credit facility bears interest at a
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Eurodollar rate or an alternate base rate as we may request at the time of borrowing in accordance with
the credit agreement. We are required to pay a commitment fee of 0.2% per annum of the committed, but
not outstanding, amounts under the revolving credit facility, payable in quarterly instaliments. This
commitment fee was 0.5% per annum prior to an amendment effective March 2005. We paid a total of
$10.3 million in interest and $125,000 in fees to JP Morgan Chase Bank under the credit facility for the
year ended December 31, 2005. We paid a total of $12.8 million in interest and $125,000 in fees to JP
Morgan Chase Bank undér the credit facility for the year ended December 31, 2006.

JP Morgan Chase Bank was our related party as a result of an executive officer being on the Board of
the Company. This director resigned from the Company’s board in August 2006. The JP Morgan Chase
Bank may also be considered a related party because of the interest of JP Morgan in Hallmark
Entertainment Investments.

ITEM 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services

The information required by this Item 14 is set forth in the Proxy Statement under the heading
“Principal Accountant Fees and Services,” and is incorporated by reference herein.

PART IV
ITEM 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules
(A) List of Documents Filed as Part of This Report
(1) Consolidated Financial Statements

Reports of KPMG LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2005 and 2006
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss for the
Years Ended December 31, 2004, 2005, and 2006

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit) for the Years
Ended December 31, 2004, 2005, and 2006

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended December 31,
2004, 2005, and 2006

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(2) Exhibits

Exhibit Number Exhibit Title
Co21 Purchase and Sale Agreement, dated as of February 23, 2005, by and among CM
Intermediary, LLC, Bagbridge Limited and, solely with respect to Section 10.14 of the
Agreement, Crown Media Holdings, Inc. (previously filed as Exhibit 2.1 to our Current
Report on Form 8-K, filed on February 23, 2005 and incorporated herein by reference).

22 Asset Purchase and Sale Agreement, dated as of February 23, 2005, by and among Crown
Media Distribution, LLC, Bagbridge Limited and, solely with respect to Section 10.14 of
the Agreement, Crown Media Holdings, Inc. (previously filed as Exhibit 2.2 to our
Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on February 23, 2005 and incorporated herein by
reference).

31 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation (previously filed as Exhibit 3.1 to our
Registration Statement on Form S-1/A (Amendment No. 2), Commission File
No. 333-95573, and incorporated herein by reference).
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Exhibit Number

3.2

33

4.1

10.1

10.2

10.3

10.4

10.5

10.6

10.7

10.8

Exhibit Title

Certificate of Amendment to the Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation
(previously filed as Exhibit 3.2 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on July 31,
2001 (File Number 000-30700; Film Number 1693331) and incorporated herein by
reference). '

Amended and Restated By-Laws (previously filed as Exhibit 3.2 to our Registration
Statement on Form S-1/A (Amendment No. 3), Commission File No. 333-95573, and
incorporated herein by reference).

Form of Specimen Certificate for our Class A Common Stock (previously filed as
Exhibit 4.1 to our Registration Statement on Form S-1/A (Amendment No. 1),
Commission File No. 333-95573, and incorporated herein by reference).

Second Amended and Restated Stockholders Agreement, dated August 30, 2001
(previously filed as Exhibit 10.6 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on
November 13, 2001 (File Number 000-30700; Film Number 1784987) and incorporated
herein by reference).

Acknowledgment and Agreement to the Second Amended and Restated Stockholders

Agreement, dated as of December 31, 2001, by Hallmark Entertainment Holdings, Inc.

{previously filed as Exhibit 10.2 to our Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 29,
2002 and incorporated herein by reference).

Acknowledgment and Agreement to the Second Amended and Restated Stockholders
Agreement, dated as of March 11, 2003, by Hallmark Entertainment Investments Co.
(previously filed as Exhibit 10.3 to our Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 28,
2003 and incorporated herein by reference).

Acknowledgement to the Second Amended and Restated Stockholders Agreement, dated
March 11, 2003, by JP Morgan Partners (BHCA), L.P. (previously filed as Exhibit 10.4 to
our Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 28, 2003 and incorporated herein by
reference).

Acknowledgement to the Second Amended and Restated Stockholders Agreement, dated
March 11, 2003, by Liberty Crown, Inc. and Liberty Media Corporation. (previously filed
as Exhibit 10.5 to our Annual Report on Form 10-X filed on March 28, 2003 and
incorporated herein by reference).

Consent and Waiver to Second Amended and Restated Stockholders Agreement, dated
March 11, 2003, by DirecTV Enterprises, Inc. (previously filed as Exhibit 10.6 to our
Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 28, 2003 and incorporated herein by
reference). '

Consent and Waiver to Second Amended and Restated Stockholders Agreement, dated
March 11, 2003, by VISN Management Corp. {previously filed as Exhibit 10.7 to our
Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 28, 2003 and incorporated herein by
reference).

Consent and Waiver to Second Amended and Restated Stockholders Agreement, dated
March 11, 2003, by Crown Media Holdings, Inc. (previously filed as Exhibit 10.8 to our
Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 28, 2003 and 1ncorp0rated herein by
reference).
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Exhibit Number s V- Exhibit Title S L

10.9 . Acknowledgment and Agreement to the Second Amended and Restated Stockholders
: Agreement, dated as of February 28, 2003, by Hughes Electronics Corporation
" {previously filed as Exhibit 10.9 to our Annual Report on Form 10 K filed on March 28,
2003 and 1ncorporated herein by reference) ' peoe L

10.10 Credlt ‘securlty, Guaranty and Pledge Agreement dated August 31, 2001 by and among
Crown Media Holdings, Inc., its Subsidiaries named theréin, the Lenders named therein
_ J and The Chase Manhattan Bank-(now known as JPMorgan Chase Bank) as
T » Administrative Agent and Issuing Bank (previously filed as Exhibit 10.1:to ‘our Current
Reporton Form’ 8 K, flled on OCtober 3, 2001 and mcorporated herein by reference).

. 10.11 Amendment No. 1 dated as of December 14, 2001 to the Credlt Secunty, Guaranty and
‘ Pledge Agreement, dated ‘as of August 31, 2001, among Crown Media Holdings, Inc. as
Borrower, the Guarantors named therein, the Lenders named therein and JPMorgan
¢ ' ' Chase Bank.as'Administrative Agent and as [ssuing Bank (previously filed as Exhibit 10.1
- fo our Current Report-on Form 8-K, filed on Decémber 18, 2001 (File' Number 000-
- 30700, hlm Number 1816385) and mcorporated herem by reference)

1002 Amendment No 2 dated as of December 31, 2001 to the Credlt Securlty, Guaranty and
Pledge Agreement, dated as of August 31, 2001 among Crown Média Holdings, Inc. as
Borrower; the Guarantors named therein, the Lenders named therein and’ JPMorgan

T Chase Baik as Admiristrative Agent and as Issuing Bank '(previously filed as Exhibit 10.5

T . toour Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed on March 29, 2002 and mcorporated herein by

reference). : " ‘ p

10.13 Amendment No. 3, dated as of March 29,2002, to the Credit, Security; Guaranty and
. i Pledge Agreement, dated as’of August 31, 2001, among'Crown Media Holdings, Inc. as
. * 7 Borrower, the Guarantors named therein, the Lenders named therein and JPMorgan
Chase Bank as Administrative Agent and as Issuing Bank (previously filed as Exhibit 10.1
'.to our Ouarterly Report on Form: 10 0 flled on May 15, 2002 and mcorporated herein by
-reference). ©+ i !

10.14 Amendment No. 4, dated as of May. 15 2002 to the Crédit! Secunty, Guaranty and
Pledge Agreement, dated as of August:31, 2001, among Crown Media Holdings, Inc. as
Borrower, the Guarantors named therein, the Lenders.named therein and.JPMorgan
Chase Bank as Admm1strat1ve Agent and as Issumg ‘Bank (prewously filed as Exhibit 10.2
. toour Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed oon May 15, 2002 and mcorporated herein by

referenee) ) , .
v l‘ far i ol B

10.15 . Amendment No. 5, dated as of February 5 2003, to the Credit, Security, Guaranty and
e Pledge Agreement, dated as of August 31, 2001, among Crown Media Holdings, Inc. as

S Borrowu the Guarantors named therem the Lenders named therein and JPMorgan

Chase Bank as Admlmstrahve Agent and as Issumg ‘Bank (prevnously ﬁled as

Exhibit 10.15 to our Annual Report on Form 10-K, flled on March 28,2003 and

U= 1ncorporated herein by reference). = .- . . T

s

10.16 Amendment No. 6, dated as of August 4 2003 to the Cred1t Security, Guaranty and
Pledge Agreement dated as of August 31 2001 among Crown Media Holdings, Inc. as
Borrower, the Guarantors named therein, 'the Lenders nammed therein and JPMorgan
Chase Bank as Administrative Agent and as Issuing Bank (previously filed as Exhibit 10.3
to our Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on August 6, 2003 and incorporated herein by
reference).

59




Exhibit Number

Exhibit Title

10.17

10.18

10.19 -

1020 .

10.21 .

10.22 |

10.23

10.24

10.25

* . on November 7, 2005 and mcorporated by reference herem)

Amendment No. 7, dated as of October 28, 2004, to the Credit, Security, Guaranty and
Pledge Agreement, dated as of August 31, 2001, among Crown Media Holdings, Inc. as
Borrower, the Guarantors named therein, the Lenders named therein and JPMoirgan
Chase Bank as Administrative Agent and as Issuing Bank (previously filed as Exhibit 10.3
to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed on November 15, 2004 and mcorporated
herein by reference)

Amendment No. 8, dated as of March 2 2005 to the Credlt Secunty, Guaranty and A
Pledge Agreement, dated as of August 31, 2001, among Crown Media Holdings, Inc. as
Borrower, the Guarantors named therein, the Lenders named therein and JPMorgan
Chase Bank as Administrative Agent and as Issuing Bank (previously filed as Exhibit 10.1
to our Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on March 11 2005 and mcorporated herein by
reference).

Second Amended and Restated Program Llcense Agreement dated as of January 1, 2005,
by and between Hallmark Entertainment Distribution, LLC (now RHI Entertainment
Distribution, LLC) and Crown Media United States, LLC (previously filed as Exhibit 99.1
to our Current Report on Form 8-K, ftled on October 11, 2005, and lncorporated herem
by reference).

Amended and Restated Trademark License -Agreement, dated as of March 27,2001, by
and between Hallmark Licensing, Inc. and Odyssey Holdings, LL.C (now known as Crown
Media United States; LLC) (previously filed as Exhibit 10.1 to our Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q filed on May 7, 2001, and incorporated herein by reference).

Trademark License Extension Agreement, dated as of November 30, 2002, by and

, between Hallmark Licensing, Inc. and Crown Media United States, LLC (previously filed

as Exhibit 10.32 to our Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 28, 2003 and
incorporated by reference -herein).

+ Trademark License Amendment and Extension Agreement dated as of August 28, 2003,

by and between Hallmark Licensing, Inc. and Crown Media United States, LLC

.- (previously filed as Exhibit 10.6 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on

November 10, 2003 and incorporated.by reference herein).

Trademark License Extension Agreement, dated as of August 1, 2004, by and between
Hallmark Licensing, Inc; and Crown Media United States, 'LLC (previously filed as
Exhibit 10.5 to' our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on November 15 2004 and
incorporated by reference herein).

Trademark License Extension Agreement (Hallmark Channel), datéd as of August 1,
2005, by and between Hallmark Licensing, Inc. ‘and Crown Media United States LLC
(previously filed as Exhibit 10.3 to our Quarterly Report on Forin IO-Q filed on
November 7 2005 and mcorporated by reference herem)

Trademark chense Extensnon Agreement (Hallmark Movie Channel) dated as of
August 1, 2005, by and between Hallmark Licensing, Inc. and Crown Media United
States, LLC (prevrously filed as Exhibit 10.4 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed

S
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Exhibit Number

Exhibit Title

10.26

1027

10.28

10.29

10.30

10.31

10.32

10.33

10.34

10.35

10.36

Security Agreement, dated as of August 1, 1999, by and between Hallmark Entertainment
Networks, Inc. (now known as Crown Media International, Inc.) and Hallmark Cards,
Incorporated (previously filed as Exhibit 10.10 to our Registration Statement on

Form S-1/A (Amendment No. 1), Commlssmn File No. 333-95573, and lncorporated
herein by reference).

Security Agreement, dated as of March 27, 2001 by and between Odyssey Holdings, LLC
(now known as Crown Media United States, LLC) and Hallmark Licensing, Inc.
(previously filed as Exhibit 10.20 to our Aninual Report on Form 10-K, filed on March 29,
2002 and incorporated herein by reference).

Amended and Restated Company Agreement of Odyssey Holdmgs LL. C (now known
as Crown Media United States, LLC) (previously filed as Exhibit 10.11 to our
Registration Statement on Form S-1/A (Amendment No. 1), Commission File

No. 333- 95573 and incorporated herein by reference)

Amendment to the Amended and Restated Company Agreement of Odyssey Holdings,
LLC, dated March 15, 2001 (previously filed as Exhibit 10.22 to our Annual Report on
Form 10-K, filed on March 29, 2002 and incorporated hereln by reference)

Agreement, dated as of February 22, 2001, by and among Odyssey Holdmgs LLC
National Interfaith Cable Coalition, Inc. and VISN Management Corp (previously filed as
Exhibit 10.2 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on May 7, 2001 (File

Number 000-30700; Film Number 1623520) and incorporated herein by reference).

Agreement, dated as of March 5, 2003, by and among Odyssey Holdings, LLC, National
Interfaith Cable Coalition, Inc. and VISN Management Corp. (previously filed as
Exhibit 10.5 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on May 15, 2003, and
incorporated herein by reference).

Settlement Agreement dated as of December 1, 2005 between National Interfaith Cable
Coalition, Inc., VISN Management Corp. and Crown Media Holdings, Inc. (previously
filed as Exhibit 10.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on December 13, 2005 and
incorporated herein by reference).

Intercompany Services Agreement, made as of December 23, 2002 by and between
Hallmark Cards, Incorporated and Crown Media Heldings, Inc. (previously filed as
Exhibit 10.38 to our Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 28, 2003 and
incorporated herein by reference). :

Intercompany Services Extension Agreement, dated as of January 1, 2006, by and
between Hallmark Cards, Incorporated and Crown Media Holdings, Inc. (previously filed
as Exhibit 10.42 to our Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 29, 2006, and
incorporated herein by reference.) : L .

$50,000,000 Promissory Note, dated July 10, 2001, made by Crown Media, Inc. in favor of
HC Crown Corporation (previously filed as Exhibit 10.1 to our Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q filed on July 31, 2001 and incorporated herein by reference).

$75,000,000 Promissory Note, dated December 14, 20{}1, made by Crown Media
Holdings, Inc., Crown Media International, Inc. and Crown Media United States, LLC in
favor of HC Crown Corp. (previously filed as Exhibit 10.2 to our Current Report on
Form 8-K, filed on December 18, 2001, and incorporated herein by reference).
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Exhibit Number

o Exhibit Title

10.37 : .

10.38

.- 1039

1040

10.41

10.42

10.43

10.44

10.45

10.46

‘Note Purchase Agreement, dated as of August 1, 2003 between Crown Media
Holdings, Inc. and HC Crown Corp. (previously filed as Exhibit 10:1 to our Current
Report on Form 8-K filed on August 6, 2003 and incorporated by reference herein).

10.25% Senior Unsecured Discount Note dated August 5, 2003 issued by Crown Media
Holdings, Inc. (previously filed as Exhibit 10.2 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed
on- August 6; 2003 and incorporated by reference herein).

Program Llcense Agreement, dated as of November 13, 1998 between National Interfaith
Cable Coahtlon Inc. and Qdyssey Holdings, L.L.C. {previgusly filed as Exhibit 10.17 to
our Registration Statement on Form S-1/A (Amendment No. 1), Commlssmn File

"No. 333-95573, and incorporated herein by reference). - : .

Service Agreement, dated September 28, 2001, by and between Hallmark

" Entertainment, Inc. (now RHI Entertainment LLC) and Crown Media Holdings, Inc., as

assigned to Crown Media Distribution, LLC, pursuant to letter dated December 14, 2001

(previously filed as Exhibit 10.28 to our Annual Report on Form lO~K filed on March 29,

* 2002 and incorporated herein by reference).

Amendment to Library Services Agreement, dated as of April 26, 2005, by and between
Hallmark Entértainment and Crown Media Distribution, LLC. (previously filed as -
Exhibit 10.52 to our Annual Report on Form 10-K, ﬁled March 29 2006, and
incorporated herein by reference.)

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of September 28, 2001, by and between Crown
Media Holdings, Inc. and Hallmark Entertainment Distribution, as amended by '
assignments dated September 28, 2001 and December 31, 2001 (previously filed as
Exhibit 10.29 to our Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed on March 29 2002 and
incorporated herein by reference). o

* Extension Agreement, dated as of March 1, 2002, by and between Crown Media

Holdings, Inc., Crown Media Distribution, LLC and Hallmark Entertainment
Distribution, LLC (previously filed as Exhibit 10.44 to our Annual Report on Form 10-K
filed on March 28, 2003 and incorporated by reference herein).

Federal Income Tax Sharing Agreement, dated March 11, 2003, by and between
Hallmark Cards, Incorporated and Crown Media Holdings, Inc. (previously filed as
Exhibit 10.45 to our Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 28,2003 and
incorporated by reference herein).

Amendment No. 1 to Federal Income Tax Sharing Agreement, dated August 5, 2003, by

- - and between Hallmark Cards, Incorporated-and Crown Media Holdings, Inc. (previously

filed as Exhibit 10.4 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on August 14, 2003 and
incorporated by reference herein).

Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of August 20, 2001, by and between Crown Media
Holdings, Inc. and DIRECTYV Enterprises, Inc. (previously filed as Exhibit' 10.7.1 to our
Amendment No. 1 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q/A filed on January 10, 2002

(File Number 000-30700; Film Number 2506612) and incorporated herein by reference).
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Exhibit Number

10.47

10.48

10.49

10.50*

10.51*

10.52*

10.53*

10.54*

10.55*

10.56*

10.57*

Exhibit Title

Affiliation Agreement for DBS Satellite Exhibition of Cable Network Programming,
dated as of August 20, 2001, by and between Crown Media United States, LLC, and
DIRECTYV, Inc. (previously filed as Exhibit 10.7.2 to our Amendment No. 1 to our
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q/A filed on January 10, 2002 (File Number 000-30700;
Film Number 2506612) and incorporated herein by reference)

Affiliation Agreement for DBS Satellite Exhibition of Cable Network Programming,
dated as of March 6, 2000, by and between Crown Media United States, LLC, and
DIRECTYV, Inc. (previously filed as Exhibit 10.7.3 to our Amendment No. 1 to our
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q/A filed on January 10, 2002 (Fite Number 000-30700;
Film Number 2506612) and incorporated herein by reference)

Letter, dated August 30, 2001, by and between DIRECTV, Inc. and Crown Media
Holdings, Inc. (previously filed as Exhibit 10.7.4 to our Amendment No. 1 to our
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q/A filed on January 10, 2002 (File Number 000-30700;
Film Number 2506612) and incorporated herein by reference)

Amended and Restated Crown Media Holdings, Inc. 2000 Long Term Incentive Plan
(previously filed as Exhibit 10.13 to Our Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 27,
2001 (File Number 000-30700; Film Number 1520885) and incorporated herein by
reference).

Form of Amended and Restated Crown Media Holdings, Inc. Restricted Stock Unit
Agreement (previously filed as Exhibit 10.3 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed
on August 9, 2004, and incorporated herein by reference).

Form of Crown Media Holdings, Inc. 2004 Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (previously
filed as Exhibit 10.4 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on August 9, 2004, and
incorporated herein by reference).

Form of Crown Media Holdings, Inc. 2005 Restricted Stock Unit Agreement. (previously
filed as Exhibit 10.72 to our Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed March 29, 2006, and

- incorporated herein by reference.)

Employment Agreement, dated as of September 18, 2001, between Crown Media
Holdings, Inc. and David Evans (previously filed as Exhibit 10.8 to our Quarterly Report
on Form 10-Q filed on November 13, 2001 (File Number 000-30700; Film

Number 1784987) and incorporated herein by reference).

Amendment No. 1 to Employment Agreement, dated as of May 28, 2004, between Crown
Media Holdings, Inc. and David Evans (previously filed as Exhibit 10.2 to our Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q filed on August 9, 2004 and incorporated herein by reference).

Employment Agreement Amendment No. 2, dated as of August 17, 2005, by and between
David Evans and Crown Media Holdings, Inc. (previously filed as Exhibit 10.75 to our
Annual Report on Form 10-K, fited March 29, 2006, and incorporated herein by
reference.)

Crown Media Holdings, Inc. 2004 Restricted Stock Unit Agreement, dated as of May 28,
2004, by and between Crown Media Holdings, Inc. and David Evans (previously filed as
Exhibit 10.5 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on August 9, 2004 and
incorporated herein by reference).
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Exhibit Number

Exhibit Title

10.58*

10.59*

10.60*

10.61*

10.62*

10.63*

10.64*

10.65*

10.66

10.67*

10.68

Amended and Restated Crown Media Holdings, Inc. Restricted Stock Unit Agreement,
dated as of May 25, 2004, by and between Crown Media Holdings, Inc. and David Evans

 (previously filed as Exhibit 10.6 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on August 9,

2004 and incorporated herein by reference).

Crown Media Holdings, Inc. 2005 Restricted Stock Unit Agreement, dated as of
August 17, 2005, by and between Crown Media Holdings, Inc. and David Evans.
(previously filed as Exhibit 10.78 to our Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed March 29,
2006, and incorporated herein by reference.)

Amendment to Crown Media Holdings, Inc. 2005 Restricted Stock Unit Agreement,
dated as of August 17, 2005, by and between Crown Media Holdings, Inc. and David
Evans. (previously filed as Exhibit 10.79 to our Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed
March 29, 2006, and incorporated herein by reference.)

Employment Agreement, effective as of January 1, 2004, by and between Crown Media
Holdings, Inc. and William Aliber (previously filed as Exhibit 10.86 to our Annual Report
on Form 10-K, filed on May 27, 2005 and incorporated herein by reference).

Employment Agreement, dated as of September 15, 2003, by and between Crown Media
Holdings, Inc. and Paul FitzPatrick (previously filed as Exhibit 10.8 to our Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q, filed on November 10, 2003 and incorporated herein by
reference).

Employment Agreement, dated as of December 20, 2001, by and between Crown Media
United States, LLC and David Kenin (previously filed as Exhibit 10.6 to our Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q, filed on May 15, 2003 and incorporated herein by reference).

Amendment to Employment Agreement dated December 6, 2004, by and between Crown
Media United States, LLC and David Kenin (previously filed as Exhibit 10.1 to our
Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on December 8, 2004 and incorporated herein by

reference)

2005 Deferred Compensation Plan of Crown Media Holdings, Inc. (previously filed as
Exhibit 10.98 to our Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed on May 27, 2005 and
incorporated herein by reference).

Technical Services Agreement, dated as of April 26, 2005, by and between Crown Media
United States LLC and Crown Media International LLC (previously filed as Exhibit 10.99
to our Annuat Report on Form 10-K, filed on May 27, 2005 and incorporated herein by
reference).

Compromise Agreement, dated as of April 22, 2005, by and between Jeffrey Henry and
Crown Media International, LLC. (previously filed as Exhibit 10.100 to our Annual
Report on Form 10-K, filed on May 27, 2005 and incorporated herein by reference).

$132,785,424 Promissory Noté, dated October 1, 2005, made by Crown Media United
States, LLC in favor of Halimark Entertainment Distribution, LLC. (previously filed as
Exhibit 10.97 to our Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed March 29, 2006, and
incorporated herein by reference.)
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Exhibit Number R R Exhibit Title LT
+110:69 ¢ ..: Waiver.and'Standby Purchdse, Agreemenrit, dated as of March 21, 2006 among Hallmark
% 40 bongd Cards Incotporated, HC Crown Corp:, Hallmark Entertainment Holdings, Inc.
s et 1 and Crown Media Holdings, Incyy Crown Media' United States LLC and subsidiaries
of Crown Media Holdings, Inc. {(previously filed as Exhibit 10.98 to our Annual Report on
' Form 10 K, filed March 29 2006, and mcorporated herem by reference )

AR TIRIToR APR 1 L TR Ny M

.-10.70 { +Amendment No. 9' dated as of March 21 2006 to the Credit; vSecurlty, Guaranty and
Pledge Agreement dated as of August-31; 200t among Crown ‘Media-Holdings, Inc. as

bis L1 hféorrower the Guarantors named therein, the Lenders named therein and JP Morgan
N . u.-} "y "Chase Bank as Admmrstratrve Agent and Issumg Bank (prevrously ftled as Exhibit 10.99
’ to'‘our Annual Report on Form 10 K frled March 29 2006 and mcorporated herein by

reference )

b Zan! L

10,71 o %7((] 414 087 l:"romlssory Note dated March 21 2006 made by Crown Medra
Holdmgs Inc. in favor of Hallrnark Entertamment Holdlngs,,lnc (prewously filed as
Exhibit 1010 ‘our Quarterly Report on Form 10 Q frled May 10 2006, and mcorporated
0o 27, .7 Lherein b) reference ) ) AU REPIPUTIN . 7' s

et ey,
90.72 Trademark chense Extennsjron' Agreement (Hallmark Movre Channel) dated as of

April 10, 2006, by and between Hallmark Llcensmg, Inc. and Crown Media United States,
bee unl »~tLLC. (pré&viously filed as Exhibit.10.2to our.Quarterly-Report on Form 101Q, filed.
O A May-10,.2006, and mcorporated herein by reference) e o AE

TR RS o,

10.73 Trademark chénse Extensron Agreement (Hallmark Channel) dated as of April 10,
" .2006; by and between Hallmark chensmg, Inc. and.Crown Media United.States, LLC.
i+L3% h(previcuslyfiled astExhibit.10.31to our- Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q; filed May 10,
A-? 1 367 2006y and mcorporated herein by:reference) o B, 00

10.74*  Letter Agreement dated Aprrl 12 2006 bétween Chl‘lS Moseley and Crown Media
~uir 3 A wHoMings, Inc. (previously filed ds Exhibit 10:4 t6 our Quarterly Report onForm 10-Q,
sib.+ filed May.10,.2006, and mcorporated herem by reference) .) P me o1

o s

10. '{5 Amerltdnren]t JNo 10 dated as of Aprrl 28 2006 to the Credlt Secq’nty, Guaranty and
A edge Agreement dated as‘of August 31; 2001 among Crown Medra Holdmgs Inc. as
Borrower, the Guarantors named therein, the Lenders named thercin and JP Morgan
.+ 2ol epnin'Chase: Bankeas AdministratiVe Agent and as'Issuing Bank.'(previously filed as Exhibit 10.5
AT torour- Quarterly Report:on.Form 10- Q filed Mayl10 2006, and 1ncorporated herein by

reference.) [2ivvive - e oo b oarme i YL ey L

10.76 . L_Letter Agreement, dated May 2, 2006; by and between Hallmark Cards, Iicorporated and
19 1.0 Crown Media. Holdings, Inc. (previously filéd asExhibit 10:6 to our Quarterly Report on
¢ 207 11 Form.10-Q, fited May 10, 2006, .and incorporatéd.herein by reference.)ju.
10:77* 1Separation Agreement,dated May:10; 2006, betweén Crown Media<Holdifigs, Inc: and
v+ - David Evaas. (previously filed as Exhibit 99,2 toiour Curfent Reportron Form 8-K, filed
{.~* 7750 on May-11, 2006, andrincorporated heréin by referenceé). i, 1wt
10.78%1" . Sepdration. Agreement, dated July'21,2006,betwéen Crown-Media' Holdings, Incand
wout e - William ‘Aliber.:(previously filed as Exhibit 99.1 .10 our Current Report on.Form 8-K, filed
on July 24, 2006, and incorporated herein‘by.reference)r * ¥ tar 7 "
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Exhibit Number

Exhibit Title A

10.79

10.80*.
10.81*
10.82*
10.85*
10.84*.

10.85

10.86

10.87*
10.88*
10.89%

10.90*

Amendment No. 1 to Waiver and Standby Purchase Agreement dated August 8, 2006 by
and between Hailmark Cards Incorporated and Crown Media Holdings; Inc. (previously
filed as Exhibit 10.6 to our Quarterly Report.on Form 10-Q, filed August 9, 2006, and
incorporated herein by reference.) ' :

Employment Agreement dated August 8, 2006 between Crown Media Holdings, Inc. and
Paul FitzPatrick. (previously filed as Exhibit 10.8 to our Quarterly Report,on Form 10-Q,
filed August 9, 2006, and incorporated herein by reference.) . :

Employment Agreement dated August 8, 2006, between Crown Media Holdmgs, Inc. and
William Abbott. (previously filed as Exhibit 10.9 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q,

filed August 9, 2006, and incorporated herein by reférence.) Ce s

Employment Agreement dated August 8, 2006, between Crown Media Holdings, Inc. and

_Charles Stanford. (previously filed as Exhibit 10.10 to our Quarterly Report on
' Form 10-Q, filed August 9, 2006, and incorporated herein by reference ) .

Employment Agreement dated August 8, 2006, between Crown Media Holdings, Inc. and
Laura Masse. (previously filed as Exhibit 10.11 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q,
filed August 9, 2006, and incorporated herein by reference )

ty_

Employment Agreement dated August 8, 2006, between Crown Media Holdmgs Inc. and
Brian Stewart. (previously filed as Exhibit 10.12 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q,
filed August 9, 2006, and mcorporated herein by reference.)

Purchase Agreement, dated as of October 3, 2006, by and among Crown Media
Holdings, Inc., CM Intermediary, LLC, Crown Media Distribution, LLC-and RHI
Enterprises, LLC. (previously filed as Exhibit 10.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K,
filed on October 6, 2006, and incorporated herein by reference)

Intercredttor Agreement, dated as of October 3, 2006, by and among Hallmark Cards
Incorporated, Crown Media Holdings, Inc., CM Intermediary, LLC,:Crown Media
Distribution, LLC and RHI Enterprises, LLC. (previously filed as Exhibit 10.2 to our
Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on October 6, 2006 and mcorporated herein by

reference). .
7]

Employment Agreement dated October 3, 2006 between Crown Media Holdings, Inc. and
Henry Schleiff (previously filed as Exhibit 10.1 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q,
filed November 9, 2006, and incorporated herein by reference.)

Restricted Stock Unit Agreement dated October3, 2006 between Crown Media - *»

Holdings, Inc. and Henry Schleiff. (previously filed as Exhibit 10.2 to our Quarterly

Report on Form 10-Q, filed November 9, 2006, and incorporated herein by reference.)

Stock Appreciation Rights Agreement dated October 3, 2006 between Crown Media“
Holdings, Inc. and Henry Schleiff. (previously filed as Exhibit 10.3 to our Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q, filed November 9, 2006, and incorporated herein by reference.)

- Letter Agreement dated November 8, 2006 between Crown Media Heldings, Inc: and

Brian Stewart. (previously filed as Exhibit 10.5 to our-Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q,
filed November 9, 2006, and incorporated herein by reference.).
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Exhibit Number

Exhibit Title

10.91

P

10.92
10.93*

10.94

10.96

1097 |

1098

1099

211
232
311

e

31.2

'

321

322

Amendment No. 2 to Waiver and Standby Purchase Agreement dated November 6, 2006
by and between Hallmark Catds Incorporated and Crown Media Holdings, Inc.

* (previously filed as Exhibit 10.6 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed

November 9, 2006, and incorporated herein by reference.)

Amendment.No. 3 to Waiver and Standby Purchase Agreement dated March 2, 2007 by
and between Ha]lmark Cards Incorporated and Crown Media Holdings, Inc.

l..etter Agn,ement dated February 9, 2007, between Crown Media Holdings, Inc. and

. Paul FltzPatnck

Amendment No. 1 to Purchase Agreement, dated as of December 15, 2006, by and among
Crown Media Holdings, Inc., CM Intermediary, LLC, Crown Media Distribution, LLC
and RHI Enterprises, LLC (previously filed as Exhibit 10.1 to our Current Report on
Form 8- K, filed on December 21, 2006, and mcorporated herein by reference).

Amendment No. 11, dated as of December 8, 2006 to the Credit, Security, Guaranty and

‘Pledge Agreement, dated as of August 31, 2001 among Crown Media Holdings, Inc. as

Borrower, the Guarantors named therein, the Lenders named therein and JP Morgan
Chase Bank as Administrative Agent and as Issuing Bank,

.‘Amendment No. 12, dated as of March 2, 2007, to the Credit, Security, Guaranty and

Pledge Agreement, dated as of August 31, 2001 among Crown Media Holdings, Inc. as
Borrower, the Guarantors named therein, the Lenders named therein and JP Morgan
Chi'se Bank as Administrative Agent and as Issuing Bank.

Trademark License Extension Agreement (Hallmark Channel), dated as of April 10,
2006, by and between Hallmark Licensing, Inc. and Crown Media United States, LLC.

Trademark License Extension Agreement {Hallmark Movie Channel}, dated as of
April 10, 2006, by and between Hallmark Licensing, Inc. and Crown Media United States,
LLC.

* Intercompany Services Extension Agreement, dated as of January 1, 2007, by and

between Hallmark Cards, Incorporated and Crown Media Holdings, Inc.

List-of Subsidiaries.

Consent of KPMG LLP.

Rule .13a-14(a) Certification executed by the Comparay’s President and Chief Executive
Officer.

.

Rille 13a-14(a) Certification executed by the Company’s Executive Vice President and

Chief Financial Officer.

" Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of

the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Sectlon 906 of
the Sarbanes—Oxley Act of 2002.

Managemcnt contract or compensating plan or arrangement.
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SIGNATURES ‘ : SRR

Pursuant to the requirerﬁents; of Section 13.or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangé Act of 1934, the
registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the underSIgned thereunto duly
authorized. : .

o o ' CROWN MEDIA HOLDINGS, INC. !

By: ,n'sf HENRYS. SCHLEIFF
' ‘Henry S Schleiff '
President and Chief Executive Officer

March8,2007- - . . . T ' '
Pursuant to the requnremeﬁts of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, thls"réport 'has been signed
below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the’ capacities and on the dates indicated.

t

Slg_n'ature . -T-'.-t-lﬁ " , . Dale
/s/ HENRY S. SCHLESIFF - Director and Principal o March 8, 2007
Henry S. Schleiff - Executive Officer
+/s{ BRIAN C. STEWART Principal Financial and ' + March 8, 2007
Brian C. Stewart * Accounting Officer ° . ’
/s/ WILFORD V. BANE, JR. Director ‘ ‘ B | March 8, 2007
Wilford V. Bane, Jr.
I L » v
- /s/ GLENN CURTIS . Director . R ... March 8, 2007
Glenn Curtis ' ‘ :
/s/ BRIANGARDNER ____ Director 7 ‘ Marpﬁ 8,2007
Brian Gardner
/s/ HERBERT GRANATH - . Director : ; March 8, 2007 ,:
Herbert Granath : L
fs/f DAVID E. HALL Director Lo , March 8,2007 : -
David E. Hall ) L
/s/ DONALD J, HALL, JR. Director . _ March 8,2007 i
‘Donald J. Hall, Jr. ' I . :
/s, IRVINE O. HOCKADAY, JR. Director ‘ . March 8,2007
Irvine O. Hockaday, Jr. o ‘ ;
_/s/ ANIL JAGTIANI Director ‘ - March 8, 2007 ,
Anil Jagtiani ' A ‘
/s/ A. DRUE JENNINGS Director o A March 8, 2007
A. Drue Jennings ' o T )
/s/ PETER A. LUND Director March 8, 2007
Peter A. Lund o ‘ o .
/s{ DEANNE R. STEDEM Director March 8, 2007

Deanne R. Stedem
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders - .

Crown Media Holdings, Inc.: o ..

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Crown Media Holdings; Inc. and
subsidiaries (the Company) as of December 31,-2006 and 2005, and the related consolidated statements of:
operations and comprehensive loss, stockholders’ equity (deficit), and cash flows for each,of the years,in
the three-year period ended December 31, 2006. These consolidated financial statements are the - - .
responsibility of the Company’s management. Qur responsibility is to express an opinion on these
consolidated financial statements based on our audits. -, - c e

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain -
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit’
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial .
statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made
by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentatlon We believe that our:
audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. . "

In our oplnlon the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in alI materla]
respects the financial position of Crown Media Holdings, Inc. and subsidiariés as of December 31, 2006
and 2005, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the years in the three-year '
period ended December 31, 2006, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

4

As discussed in note 2 to the accompanymg consolidated financial statements, the Company adopted
Statement of Financial Accountmg Standards No. 123(R), Share-Based Payment, effective January 1, 2006.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United.States), the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of -
December 31, 2006, base on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO), and our report dated
March 7, 2007 expressed an unqualified opinion on management’s assessment of, and the effective
operation of, internal control over financial reporting. S o o

I

KPMGLLP "

Denver, Colorado - ., - - ' 7 i
March 7, 2007




‘Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Crown Media Holdings, Inc.:

We have audited management’s assessment, included in the accompanying “Management’s Report on
Internal Control over Financial Reporting” (Item 9A.b), that Crown Media Holdings, Inc. (the Company)
maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, based on criteria
established in fnternal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). Crown Media Holdings, Inc.’s management is
responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
management’s assessment and an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal contro] over
f1nanc1al reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain .
reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in
all material respects. Qur audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial
reporting, evaluating management’s assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating
effectiveness of internal control, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the
mrcumstances We believe that our audlt provides a reasonable basis for our opmlon

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal
control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance
of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the
assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to
permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles,
and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations
of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention
or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have
a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk
that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compllance
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, management’s assessment that Crown Media Holdings, Inc. maintained effective
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, is fairly stated, in all material respects,
based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by COSO. Also, in our
opinion, Crown Media Holdings, Inc. maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated
Framework issued by COSO.
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We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States), the consolidated balance sheets of Crown Media Holdings, Inc. as of December 31,
2006 and 20035, and the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss,
stockholders’ equity (deficit), and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended
December 31, 2006, and our report dated March 7, 2007 expressed an unqualified opinion on those
consolidated financial statements.

KPMG LLP

Denver, Colorado
March 7, 2007
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' CROWN MEDIA HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
S CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

{In thousands, except par value and number of shares) vy
t
As of December 31,
2005 2006
ASSETS
Cash and cashequivalents . ... ... ... i it ireniannens. $ 15926 % 13,965
Accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtful accounts of $1,565 and $246, o Lo T
Y01 ) P 63,935 57,079
Program license fees—affiliates. ... ........ ... .. . it 2,656 115
Program license fees—non-affiliates ................. ... ... L 106,542 111,909
Receivable from RHI and related companies. ..................... ..o ... 1,815 —
Receivable from buyer of international business ............................ 422 24
Prepaid and otherassets. . .......... i e 6,051 4,202
Prepaid program license feeassets............ .. .ot i i 30,377 10,271
B ] Y 0T =t 1 e - 229,724 197,565
Accounts receivable. . ... 9,101 850
Program license fees—affiliates. ... ..... ... ... . il 5,036 274
Program license fees—non-affiliates .......... .. .. ... ... ... ..ol 222,861 185,620
Film assets, Mt . .ottt ettt e e e 380,322 —
Subscriber acquisitionfees, net ... o e e 80,594 41,665
Property and equipment, net .. ....ov i e e e 18,560 16,313
Goodwill ... e e e e e e e 314,033 314,033
Prepaid and otherassets. ... ... ... 13,595 11,463
o 1 S D $1,273,826 $767,783

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated balance sheets
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CROWN MEDIA HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS (Continued)

(In thousands, except.par value and number of shares)

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ DEFICIT
LIABILITIES:

Accounts payable and accrued llabllmes ...............................
Accrued restricted StOCK Units .. ...
Subscriber acquisition fees payable........... P i .
License fees payable to affiliates. . ............ ... ... ... ... e
License fees payable to non-affiliates. . ................ . ... ol
Payables to RHI and related companies .................. ...
Payables to affiliates ........................ e e
Payable to buyer of international business. . ............... ..o s
Interestpayable ........ ... ... i i PP
Capital lease obligations..................... ..o e
Deferred revenue. .. .. ...o.veerieienirieneaenannn. e '
Deferred credit from technical services agreement ......... e JOUT
Total current tiabilities ....................... e IS

Accrued liabilities. . ... ...ooiii s
License fees payable to affiliates. ................. ... .ot
License fees payable to non-affiliates. . ......................... P
Line of credit and interest payable to HCCrown. ................c..0ue. .
Line of credit and interest payable to Hallmark Cards affiliate. ......... .
Payable to buyer of international business..............................
Senior unsecured note to HC Crown, including accrued interest ..........
Credit facility . ... ... i i .
Note and interest payable to Hallmark Cards affiliate . ..................
Capital lease obligations. .................. 0. s el e
Company obligated mandatorily redeemable preferred interest...........
Deferred credit from technical services agreement ............ P
Total liabilities ............... ... ... .. ... e e

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

STOCKHOLDERS’ DEFICIT:

Ciass A common stock, $.01 par value; 200,000,000 shares authorized;
74,117,654 shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2005 and

2 <

Class B common stock, $.01 par value; 120,000,000 shares authorized; .
30,670,422 shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2005 and

2006 . e
Paid-incapital. . ... ... i e
Accumulated deficit. . ... ..o e

Total stockholders’ deficit ........ ... .. .. . i )

Total liabilities and stockholders’ deficit .. ... .......... .. ...........

+ + . '
b i

As of December 31,

2008 2006

’

$ 29876 §$ 26,588

9,299 1,513

. 12,238 207
2,730 2275
50,460 . 96,085

- 755 168
12,071 13,777
10,050 - ° 5,098
169 - 59
612 Y )
1,149 —
1,323 1,213
130,732 . 149,519
24,427 25,291
58 —
186,268 88,951
86,309 93,465
70,000 53,364
8395 - 477

. 509,386 £ 562,167
. 210,000 87,633
135,187 146,397
16170 * 15498
't 14,537 16,483
5,018* 3,188

1,397,015 1,246,727

. 741 L] |

307 307
1423815 1,457,032
(1,548,052) ~ (1,937,024)

(123,189) _ (478,944)

$ 1,273,826 $ 767,783

The accompanymg notes are an integral part of .these consolidated balance sheets
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]

CROWN MEDIA HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
(In thousands, except per share data)

Years Ended December 31,

- 3004 2005 2006
Revenue: > " R 4 T
SUbSCIIDEr B85 . .ottt e e $ 9874 $ 18746 § 24,869
Advertising ... i e 104,481 143,780 172,950
Advertising by Hallmark Cards .. ..........coooiin it 1,846 ° 2,335 - 1,240
Film asset licensefees....................... e 22,035+ 21,693 - 1,815
Sublicense fees and other revenue .-....... e e - - 10,830 305 -
-~ Totaltevenue,net................ e 138,236+ 197,384 201,179
Cost of Services: : . e
.Programming costs : S '
Affiliates . .o i 11,820 14,924 27,080
Non-affiliates : . .......... e e , 78,058 105,653 - 125,113
Amortization of filmassets. . .......... ... oo 28,905 51,619 14,739
Impairment of film assets. .. ..oovieriiniiann. s 22,003 25,542 225,832
Subscriber acquisition fee amortization expense ........... e 26,020 35,928 31,044
Amortization of cdpitallease.................. e 9 - 1,158 1,157
‘Other costs of services. . ................. e T © 10,939 20,448 11,273
Total cost 0f SEIVICES . . ... v it it i i e ie e 177,841 255,272 . 436,238
Selling, general and administrative expense .................... 52,209 55,162 43,761
Marketing eXpense. . ....vvviiir i i 16,477 24,160 16,021
Depreciation and amortization eXpense. . .......oovvinreaann. 6,306 - 4,471 2,865
Gain from sale of filmassets .................. e — — (8,238)
Loss from operations before interest expense ....... e (114,597)  (141,681)  (289,468)
Interest inCOmE. . ... e ittt era et iarannans e 1,513 2,883 2,352 r
Interest eXpense ... 2. oot e e < (61,692) (76,739y " (101,287)
Loss before discontinued operations and cumulative effect - ' .
. of change in accounting principle. .................... , (174,776)  (215,537). (388 403) .
Loss from discontinued operations, netoftax .................. (142,030) (10,683) .
(Loss) gain from sale of discontinued operations, netoftax ...... — (6,538} 1 530
| Loss before cumulatwc effect of change in accounting ¥ L _
_ principle ... e (316,806) (232,758) (386,873)
| Cumulative effect of change in accounting prmcaple ............. — — (2,099)
=3 3 A - $(316,806) $(232,758) $(388,972)
Other comprehensive income (loss): o : o d
Foreign currency translation adjustment..................... 1,421 (3,434) - —
Comprehensive loss. ........... T A - $(315,385) $(236,192) $(388,972)
' Weighted average number of Class A and Class B shares . v . '
' outstanding, basicand diluted .. ................. ... ... ... 104,533 104,619 104,788
Loss per share before discontinued operations and cumulative o . .
effect of change in accounting principle, basic and diluted ... .. % (167 §. (206) § (3.71)
(Loss) gain per share from discontinued operations, basic and
diluted .. . e (1.36) (0.16) 0.02
Cumulatlve effect, of change in accounting pr1nc1ple basic and i
diluted . ..... e e e e e — — {0.02)
Net loss per share, ba51c anddiluted. ........... ... ...l $ (3.03) § (222 § (37D

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated statements of operations and
: comprehensive loss.
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CROWN MEDIA HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT)

Balances, December 31,2003 . ..
Stock-based compensation . . .
Foreign currency translation

adjustment
Contributions under affiliate tax

Balances, December 31, 2004 . ...
Issuance of stock for exercise of
options
Stock-based compensation . . .
Foreign currency translation
adjustment
Contributions under affiliate tax
sharing agreement. ... ....
Netloss, ..........c.c0..
Balances, December 31, 2005 . . .

Payment by Hallmark Cardson

note payable to Hallmark
Cards affiliate
Proceeds from the 2005 issuance
of stock for exercise of
options
Stock-based compensation . . .
Contributions under affiliate tax

................

Balances, December 31, 2006 . . .

Class A

Shares

73,863

74,118

Class A
Common

Stock

$73%

El
Efl |

(In thousands)
Accumulated
Class B Other Total
Ciass B Common Paid-in  Comprehensive Accumulated  Stockholders’
Shares Stock Capital _Income (Loss) Deficit Equity (Deficit}
30,670 $307  $1,308,830 $ 2,013 $ (998,488) $ 313451
— = ’ 5 — — 5
— — — 1,421 — 1,421
- — 56,565 — — 56,565
—_ - - _ (316,806) {316,806)
30,670 307 1,365,450 3,434 (1.315,294) 54,636
— — 2,149 — — 2,151
—_ — 116 - — 116
— — — {3,434) — (3,434)
— — 56,100 — — 56,100
— — — — . (232,758) (232,758)
30,670 307 1,423,815 5 — (1,548,052) (123,189}
— — 3111 —_ — , 3,111
— — ‘114 — — 114
— — 11 — _ 11
— — 29,981 —_ — 29,981
— — — = (388,972) (388,972
30,670 $307  $1,457,032 L $(1,937,024) $(478,944)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated statements of stockholders’ equity
(deficit).
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CROWN MEDIA HOLDINGS, INC. AND-SUBSIDIARIES.

(In thousands)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS.OF CASH FLOWS ' "4

Years Ended December 31,

' 2004 2005 2006
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:' - ' Gt
Netloss......... S P P L "8(316,806) $(232,758) $(388,972)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities: ' ' ) ’
Loss from discontinued operations . .........ooi i e 142,030 10.683 —
Loss (gain) from sale of discontinued operations ............................ — 6,538 ., (1,530}
Gainfromsale of film assets . . ... ... . i i e — - (8,238)
Depreciation and amortization . ... ... .uv i i i i e 166,008 225565 209,589
Accretion on company obligated mandatorily redeemable preferred interest. . ..... 2,409 3,049 1,946
Provision for allowance for doubtful accounts. . ........... ... i in. om 8972 . (261).
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle. .. .......... ... ... ... — .- 2,099
Impairment of film assets . ... ... .. .. e e o 22,003 25,543 225,832
(Gain) loss on sale of property and equipment . . ........ .00 i, - (24) 207
Stock-based COMPENSAtION ... ...t i i it e 11,488 8357 (3,071)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities: ) i
(Increase) decrease in accounts receivable ... ... .. ... . o oLl (11,311) (18,727) 8,354
(Increase) decrease in receivable from buyer of international business. . ... ... .. — (1,308) 398
Additions to program license fees . . ... .. ... .. il - {160,593y  (18%9,607) (96,197)
Additions to subscriber acquisitionfees. . . ... ... oo o oo o (45,0700 (8,554) (850)
(Increase) decrease in prepaid and other assets. .. ............oveunnnn ... (3.991) | (40,771) 21,640
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable, accrued and other liabilities .. ........ 106,348 41,169, (70,292)
Increase ininterestpayable . . ... ... . i 47,283 56,090 75,098
Increase (decrease) in subscriber acquisition fees payable .. ... ........... ... 25,908 (23,662) (10,167)
Increase (decrease) in license fees payable to affiiates. ... .................. (291) 3316 {1,041}
Increase (decrease) in payables to affiliates. . ........... ...l (932) 3,447 1,705
Increase (decrease) indeferredrevenues ....... ... ... ..o oaiil, 148 542 {310)
Net cash used in operating activities ............... ... .. ... ... .. - (15198  (121,926) (34,061)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES: :
Purchases of property and equipment. . .. ......... ... i i i SR o (BI8) - (504) - (713
Payments to buyer of international business . . . ................. ... ..o — (8,358) {8,420)
Proceeds from disposition of international business, net of funds transferfee .. ... ... —_ 221,979 —
Proceeds from disposition of film assets, net. . ... i, —_ — 152,116
Proceeds from disposition of property and equipment . ................. ... . ... — 25 -
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities, ....................... (878) 213,142 142,983
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Proceeds from the issuance of common stock upon exercise of stock options. .. ...... —_ 2,151 114
Proceeds from tax sharing agreement with Hallmark Cards . ..................... 56,565 26,100 11,982
Borrowings under the credit facility ............. . ... ... ool 15,000 95,000 15,000
Paymentsonthecredit facility .............. ... ... .. L iiiiiiiiiii (5,000)  (195000)  (137.367)
Principal payments on capital lease obligations. . ............ ... ... o il — (580) {612)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities. .. ............. . ... .. 66,565 (72,329  (110,883)
CASH FLOWS FROM DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS:
Net cash used in discontinued operating activities .............. ... ... ... (40,376) (15,326} —
Net cash used in discontinued investing activities . . ... ......... ... oo, (811) (60) —
Net cash used in discontinued financing activities. . ... ................ ... ... (1,559) 411} —
Effect of exchange rate changesoncash. ...... ... ... .. ... .o il 53 734 —
Net cash used in discontinued Operations. . .. ... ..o viiivnn v ian i, (42,693) (15,063} —
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents. . .................... 7,796 3,824 (1,961)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year .. .............. ... ... oL 4,306 12,102 15,926
Cash and cash equivalents,end of year. . . ... v it $ 12102 § 15926 % 13,965

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated statements of cash flows.
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CROWN MEDIA HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(In thousands)
2004 2005 2006
Supplemental disclosure of cash and non-cash activities: N !
Interest paid . ... ..ottt e e $14621 $ 15311 § 18?704
Incometaxes paid . .. ... ..o e e e $2288 § 87 § 4
Asset acquired through capital lease obligation ......... ... ... i i e, $17363 § - 3§ -
License fees payable converted into note payable to Hallmark Cards affiliate . . ........... $  — 3132785 0§ —
Tax sharing payment from Hallinark Cards applied to note payable to Hallmark Cards ‘ :
affiliate ....... P 5§ — $30000 $17999
Payment by Hallmark Cards on note payable to Hallmark Cards affiliate .. .............. 5§ -5 —  $.31
Interest payable converted to principal on line of credit to HCCrown. . ........... ..., P — 8 —, 812712
Interest payable converted to principal on note payable to Hallmark Cards affiliate .. ..., .. § — 3 — § 4,628
Payable to buyer of international business . ........ .. 0o $ — $26803 -§
Deferred credit from technical services agreement. . ......... ... iiiuirerninnnnnn. F — $ 7644 5§ =
R
[T
' L
. ' ' v,
P . R N
A 1,
i ' ' ' o, ot
[ ’ f
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i ' .. v
N Yoo
+ ! i
' i ' '
)
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated statements of cash flows.
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CROWN MEDIA HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the Years Ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006

1. Business and Organization
Orgamzatmn

Crown Media Holdings, Inc. (“Crown Media Holdings,” “Crown Media” or the “Company”), through
its wholly-owned subsidiary, Crown Media United States, LLC (“Crown Media United States”), owns and
operates pay television channels (collectlvely the “Hallmark Channel” or the “channel”) dedicated to high
quality, entertainment programming for aduits and families, in the United States. Significant investors in
Crown Media Holdings include Hallmark Entertainment Investments Co. (“Hallmark Entertainment
Investments™), a subsidiary of Hallmark Cards, Incorporated (“Hallmark Cards”), the National Interfaith
Cable Coalition, Inc. (“NICC”}, and, indirectly through their investments in Halimark Entertainment
Investments, Liberty Media Corporation (“Liberty Media”) and J.P. Morgan Partners (BHCA), L. P.
(“I.P. Morgan™).

Sale of Membership Interests in Crown Media Distribution

On December 15, 2006, the Company completed the sale of its domestic rights and certain
international ancillary rights to its library of approximately 620 television movies, mini-series and series
(the “Crown Library”) to RHI Entertainment LLC (“RHI”) pursuant to a Purchase and Sale Agreement
dated October 4, 2006 (the “Purchase Agreement”). (The original party to the Purchase Agreement, RHI
Enterprises, LLC, assigned its rights and obligations to RHI Entertainment, LLC, prior to the closing.) As
part of the transaction, the Company sold to RHI its membership interests in Crown Media Distribution,
LLC (“Crown Media Distribution”), the entity which owns the Crown Library. The sale price of $160.0
miltion provided for in the Purchase Agreement was subject to reduction by the amount by which Crown
Media Distribution accounts receivable at April 30, 2006 exceeded accounts receivable at the closing date.
This closing adjustment yielded a net purchase price of $152.1 million. Proceeds from this sale were used
by the Company in part to reduce outstanding indebtedness under its bank credit facility with JP Morgan
Chase by the amount of $133.9 million.

The assets sold to RHI include all accounts receivable and rights and obligations under existing
domestic and international licenses to which Crown Media Distribution is a party, as well as the copyright
interests in the Crown Library films, interests in the underlying production agreements and physical film
materials. The Company has retained the obligation to pay residuals and profit participations based on the
domestic exploitation of the Crown Library by RHI for a period of ten years following the closing of the
sale. Pursuant to Amendment No. 1 to the Purchase Agreement dated December 15, 2006, the parties
agreed that RHI will assume any liabilities associated with such residuals and participations in excess of
$22.5 million in the aggregate. The cost to the Company of paying these residuals will depend on the level
of RHI’s library sales during this period. The Company ¢stimated the fair value of the $22.5 million
maximum liability to be approximately $10.6 million, which is included in long-term accrued liabilities on
the accompanying consolidated balance sheet, to pay the estimated residual and participation costs that
RHI would otherwise be obligated to pay to third parties. The amount of this liability could fluctuate based
upon the amount and timing of the sales of these films by the buyer. Any revisions to these estimated
liabilities will be reflected as gain (loss) from the sale of the film assets and reflected in continuing
operations in future periods. During 2006, the Company recorded an $8.2 million gain related to the sale
of the membership interests in Crown Media Distribution, which is recorded as a component of loss from
continuing operations in the accompanying statement of operations. . ‘ .

a1,
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As a closing condition, the Company terminated a Crown Library license agreement of May 2006 with
a major studio. Under the terms of that license agreement, the Company refunded a $6.0 mrlllon '
dlstnbutlon advance upon terinination of the license agreement.

" "The agreement provrded the Company with non-exclusive licenses for 83 film titles back from RHI,
substantially all of which expire in December 2008. Management ascribed a fair value of $10.9 million to’
the internal usage of these titles and recorded the $10.9 million as program license fees—non-affiliates. In
order to ascribe a fair value to the specific titles, management applied an hourly rate based on the
Company’s film rate card, which has been utilized throughout the current year for the pricing of hcenses to
third parties. v

+ The Company has other existing agreements with RHI and one of its subsidiaries. One of these
agreements is a film asset service agreement.under which RHI provided services to Crown Media
Distribution related to the administration, distribution and other exploitation of the Crown Library. This
agreement was terminated upon closing of the transaction. The Company also licenses programmlng for
dlStl’lbUthl’l in the Unlted States from RHI Entertainment Distribution LLC and has done so since 1998,

Sale of the Intematmnal Busmess )

+

- In April 2005, the Company completed the sale of its international busmess to a group of investors
comprised of Equity Partners, 3i and. U K. executive David.Elstein (collectively, “Sparrowhawk,” the
“buyer” or the “buyer of international business”). The sale included the international versions of the.
Hallmark Channel distributed outside the United States, the international rights to over 580 titles in the
Crown Media filin library, and the Network Operations Center based in Denver, Colorado. The Company
received cash proceeds of $209,3 million, net of the prepayment described below, and recognized an
aocountmg loss of $6 5 million from the sale. Approximately $4. 7 million of transaction costs were incurred
by the Company in connectlon with the sale.

In accordance with the conditions of the sa]e the Company accrued $26.8 million which represented
the estimated present value at the time of the sale of the cash that was expected to be paid by the Company
to or on behalf of the buyer at various tlmes through December 31, 2015. Included in this amount was
$16.7 million of estimated j payments, which were determmed using the contractual payments due on’
certain lease arrangements that were assumed by the buyer. The Company is obligated to reimburse the
buyer for these lease payments at or about the same time the buyer is obligated to pay the lessor. Also, the
Company estimated a liability of approximately $4.5 million to pay the estimated residual and participation
costs that the buyer would otherwise be obligated to pay to third parties through April 2015 in connection
with film library sales. The amount of thlS liability could fluctuate based upon the actual internal usage or
sales of these films by the buyer. Any revisions to these estimated liabilities will be reflected as gain (loss)
from the sale of discontinued operations in future periods.

In the fourth quarter of 2005, the Company recorded charges of $4.6 million to recognize additional
costs for the settlement of certain disputed items and claims of the buyer. These charges included $3.4
million related to the interpretation of working capital representations used in determining the original
sales price and $0.9 million related to disputed operating costs incurred at the time of the closing date of
the sale. During 2006, the Company recorded a $1.5 million gain related to the sale of the international
business: The Company adjusted its estimated residual and participation costs based upon current
information and reversed charges for anaccrual for certain tax liabilities. )

The Company wnll contmue to use the Network Operatlons Center sold to Sparrowhawk for the
distribution of the domestic channe] pursuant to a $25.3 millién, seven year technical services agreement -
with the buyer. T'he Company made a prepayment under the technical services agreement to the buyer in
the amount of $12.7 million upon closing of the sale transaction and the balance is payable monthly in
equal installments through the expiration of the agreement. The unused portion of the prepayment is
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classified as Prepaid and Other Assets in the accompanying condensed consolidated balance sheet and will
be amortized to operating expense over the life of the contract. A deferred credit of $7.6 million was -
recorded to reflect the amount by which the $25.3 million contract exceeded the estimated fair value of the .
related services. The deferred credit will be amortized over the life of the contract resultmg in a reduction
of operating expenses in future periods.

Subsequent to the sale, the Company has no contlnumg economic 1nvolvement with the operatlons of
the international business. .

Liguidity !
As of December 31, 2006, the Company had $14.0 million in cash and cash equivalents on hand. As of

December 31, 2006, the Company had borrowed $87.6 million from a $130.0 million revolvmg bank credit,
which matures May 31, 2008, Co . I R

The Company’s principal sources of funds are cash on hand, cash'generated by operations, tax sharlng‘
payments from Hallmark Cards and amounts available under the Company’s revolving bank credit Tacility,
Payments under the tax sharing agreement are affected by Hallmark Cards’ tax position and its ability to
utilize the Company’s tax losses. The Company received $12.0 million in tax sharing payments in 2006 and
does not currently expect to receive tax sharing payments during 2007. The Company currently has $42.4
million of unused revolving credit capacity. The Company'’s ability to borrow additional amounts under the -
credit facility is not limited or restricted as long as no covenants have been violated. . v

The ab|hty of the existing sources of liquidity to be sufficient to fund the Company’s operatlons
depends upon continued growth in subscriber revenue and adveértising révenue. Any decline in the
popularity of the Hallmark Channel, any significant future modifications to the Company’s distribution
agreements, an economic decline in the advertising market, an increase in program acquisition costs, an
increase in competition or other adverse operating conditions would impact the Company s liquidity and

4

its ability to fund the current level of operations : coo

The Company expects to continue making investments in programming, marketing and dlSt]‘lbUthﬂ
However, the Company’s recurring loss situation has demanded that all areas of expenses, mcludmg '
programming, marketmg and distribution be closely monitored and controlled

The Company anticipates that its principal uses of funds for 2007 will continue to include the payment
of operating expenses, accounts payable and accrued expenses, license fees for programmmg, ;and mterest
under its bank credit facility. . . .

" As part of efforts to improve the capital stfucture, in 2006 the Company sold its membershlp mterests
in Crown Media Distribution as described in “Sale of Membership lntereqts in Crown Media DlStIlbUthI‘l
above,

* The Company currently believes that cash on hand, cash generated by operatlons and avallablllty on
its bank credit fdc111ty, when combined with the deferral of any required payments on related-party debt
and related interest mentioned below, will be sufficient to fund the Company’s operatlons and meet its
liquidity needs through May 31, 2008. o

The Company’s bank credit facility matures on May 31, 2008. The Company significantly reduced the
amounts outstanding under the credit facility with the proceeds of the sale of its membership interests in
Crown Media Distribution. In conjunction with these repayments on the credit facility, the Company, ,
reduced the borrowing capacity under the credit facility to $130.0 million. The Company intends to extend
or refinance the Bank credit facility prior to or upen its maturity. Any such extension or refinaricing might
require a contmuatlon of a letter of credlt from Hallmark Cards or ‘other steps by the Company and is not
assured.

3
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If the Company is not able to arrange for the extension, refinancing or replacement of the bank credit
facility prior to its maturity and the bank draws down on the irrevocable letier of credit provided by
Hallmark Cards in support of the bank credit facility, or alternatively Hallmark Cards purchases the
interests of the lending banks, Halimark Cards would have all obligations and the rights of the lending
banks under:the bank credit facility. In that event, Hallmark Cards could demand payment of outstanding
amounts at any time after May 31, 2008, under the terms of the waiver and standby purchase agreement
(“Waiver Agreement”) described below. .

. UUpon maturity of the credit facility on May 31, 2008, the lending group led by JP Morgan Chase has
the right to-elect to forego the receipt of cash to pay the principal amount of the credit facility in full, which
is provided for under the terms of an irrevocable letter of credit provided by Hallmark Cards, but instead:
can elect to initiate a process to foreclose on the Company’s assets. Such foreclosure proceedings, would
adversely affect our ability to continue our operations. Prior to any such possible foreclosure proceedings,
however, the Company, if it has'hot secured an extension of the credit facility or alternative financing,
would cause Hallmark Cards pursuant 1o the terms of the Waiver Agréement to exercise its option to
purchasé all of the outstanding indebtedness'under the credit facility and the credit facility would then be
subJect to terms of the Walver Agreement

« Due to the Company’s possrb!e mablhty to meet its obllgatlons when they come due on May 31, 2008,

the Company anticipates that prior to May 31, 2008, it will be necessary to either extend or refinance

(i) the bank credit facility and (ii) the promissory notes payable to affiliates of Hallmark Cards described in

the Notes below. As part of a combination of actions and in order to obtain additional funding, the

Company may consider various alternatives, including refinancing the bank credit facility, raising

additional capital through the i issuance of equity or debt ecurities, a sale of certain assets or other strategic

alternatives.
e t . : , . r 1 ot

2. .JSummary of Slgmficant Accountmg Pollcles and Estimates
Basrs of Presentatmn

. The consolldated financial statements include the consolidated accounts of Crown Media Holdings,
including those of its wholly owned subsidiaries. All significant intercompany balances and transactions
have been eliminated in consolidation. :

In April 2005, the Company completed the sale of its international business and, accordingly,
classified the operating results of the international business as discontinued operations in the.
accomipanying statements of operations for all periods presented. The Company’s discontinued operations
COHSISted of the mtematlonal channel operations and the mternatlonal rights to the film library assets

In December 2006 the Company completed the sale of the domestlc rights to the film library assets.
The accompanying statements of operations and cash flows do not reflect associated revenue and expenses
as discontinued operations because the portions of advertising revenue and related cash collections that
are derived from the Company’s use of the film library assets to meet programming requirements of the
Channel cannot be clearly distinguished from advertising revenue and cash collections derived from the
use of programmmg licensed from thlrd parties.

i

Use of Estimates

The Company’s consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting
principleé generally accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”). These accounting principles
reqmre the Company to make certain estimates, judgments and assumptions. The Company believes that
the estimates, judgments and assumptions made when accounting for items and matters such as customer
retention patterns, allowancé for bad debts, useful lives of assets, ultimate revenue used in the film asset
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amortization calculations, cash flow projections used in various asset valuations, income taxes, reserves and
other provisions for contingencies are reasonable, based on information available at the time they are -
made. These estimates, judgments and assumptions can affect the reported amounts of assetsand
liabilities as of the date of the consolidated financial statements, as well as the reported amounts of

revenue and expenses during the periods presented. Actual results could differ from these estimates. -

Film Asset Amortization and Film Library Impairment

The Company amortized its film assets using the individual-film-forecast-computation method over a
maximum period of 9.25 years from the date of acquisition. The individual-film-forecast-computation
method amortizes such assets in the same ratio that current period actual revenue bears to est1mated -
ultimate future revenues, ‘

The Company reviewed its estimates of ultimate future revenues and part1c1pat10n costs on a quarterly
basis to reflect currently available information, Estimated ultimate future revenues were based on the
history of each film and similar films, sales and marketing plans, and other factors, all of which reqmred
significant judgment and estimation by management. Differences between amortization expense o
determined using the new estimates and any amounts previously expensed during that current fiscal year

were charged or credited to the statement of operations in the period in which the estimates were revised.
L]

For use of the film assets on the Hallmark Channcl and the Hallmark Movie Channel, the Company -
estimated the fair value of the internal usage based upon the, portion of the film’s ultimate revenues
attributable to the term of the license window. The Company first calculated the amount of cost
attributable to the internal use using the individual-film-forecast-computation method described above and
then expensed such amounts ratably over the term of the license window.

On a quarterly basis, the Company assessed whether events or circumstances had changed indicating
that the fair value of a film was lower than its unamortized cost or carrying value. If the carrying value of
any individual film asset exceeded its fair value, the film asset was written-down to its estimated fair value.
The Company considered the following factors, among others, in estimating cash flows and fair values for
each film: (a) the operating environment expected for the next several years, (b} the size of the library as a
whole, (c) historical license fee revenue per film, (d) each title’s age, quality, and marketability, (e) existing
sales plans including the amount of product desired to be sold each year, (f} future performance estimates,
(g) assumptions and estimates underlying past and future estimates, (h) risk factors that could effect future
operations of the Library and (i) offers from potential buyers of the film assets..In estimating a film’s fair,
value, the Company considered those cash outflows necessary to generate the film’s cash mflows such.as
exploitation, residual and participation costs and taxes. The discount rate used in the Company’s
discounted cash flow model was based upon management’s estimate of the rate a purchaser would require

related to the risks and uncertainties surrounding the timing and probability of the cash flow estimates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include highly liquid investments w1th original maturities of three months
or less that are readily convertible into cash and are not subject to significant risk from fluctuations in
interest rates. As a result, the carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents approximates fair value.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

The allowance for doubtful accounts is based upon the Company’s assessment of probable loss related
to uncollectible accounts receivable. The Company uses a number of factors in determining the allowance
including, among other things, collection trends, The Company’s bad debt expense was $171,000 and $9. 0
million for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2005, respectively. The Company’s bad debt provision,
was $261,000 for the year ended December 31, 2006.
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The activity in the allowance for doubtful accounts for each of the three years ending December 31,
2004, 2005, and 2006, is as follows:

I

Deductions (including

Balance at Additions transfers to buyers of .
Beginning of Charged to international business Balance at End
. Year Expense and film assets) of Year
Allowance for doubtful accounts :
Year-ended December 31,2004 ....... $6,703 $1,297(1) $ (1,305) $6,695
Year-ended December 31,2005 ....... $6,695 $8,972 $(14,102)(2) $1,565
Year-ended December 31, 2006 ......... $1,565 $ (261) $ (1,058)(3) $ 246

(1) Includes $1.1 million of bad debt expense now classified in discontinued operations.

(2) Represents amounts written off of $9.7 million and $4.4 million transferred to buyer of international
business. ‘

(3) Represents arﬁbunté written off of $432,000 and $626,000 transferred to buyer of film assets.

Program License Fees

Program license fees are paid in connection with the acquisition of the rights to air programs acquired
from others. The cost of program rights are deferred and then amortized on a straight-line basis over the
shorter of their contractual license periods or ant|c1pated usage. On a quarterly basis, the Company
evaluates the realizability of these deferred license fees in relation to the estimated future revenues.
Estimates of net realizable value for program license fees are determined using future estimated
advertising revenues and anticipated patterns of programming usage on a day part basis as it pertains to
programming licensed to the channel. These estimates of expected annual future estimated revenues are
compared to net book value of the program license fee assets to determine if the programming assets are
expected to be recovered. Where the analysis indicates the costs are in excess of the estimated net
realizable value, additional programming costs are recognized for the difference.

Subscriber Acquisition Fees

Subscriber acquisition fees are generally required to be paid to obtain carriage on major domestic pay
distributors systems. Under certain of these agreements with major pay distributors, Crown Media United
States is obligated to pay subscriber acquisition fees if defined subscriber levels are met or in order to
obtain additional carriage of the Hallmark Channel by those pay distributors. Such costs are accrued when
Crown Media United States receives notice from the distributors that they have met the contractual
penetration percentage or subscriber count.

Subscriber acquisition fees are amortized over the contractual life of the distribution agreements
(ranging from 4 to 9 years) as a reduction of subscriber fee revenue. If the amortization expense exceeds
the cumulative subscriber fee revenue recognized, or to be recognized, on a per distributor basis, the excess
amortization is included as a component of cost of services. Crown Media Holdings assesses the
recoverability of these costs periodically by comparing the net carrying amount to the estimates of future
subscriber fee and advertising revenues. It also assesses the recoverability when events such as changes in
distributor relationships occur or other indicators suggest impairment,

Property and Equipment

_ Property and equipme'nt'are stated at historical cost. Equipment under capital leases are initially
recorded at the present value of the minimum lease payments.
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Depreciation on equipment is calculated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives
of the assets. Equipment held under capital leases and leasehold improvements are amortized straight-line
over the shorter of the lease term or estimated useful life of the asset.

When property and equipment is sol! or otherwise disposed of, the cost and related accumulated
depreciation or amortization are removed from the accounts and any resulting gain or loss is included in
income. The costs of normal maintenance and repairs are charged to expense when incurred.

Long-Lived Assets . ' o !

The Company reviews long-lived assets, other than goodwill and other intangible assets with indefinite
lives, for impairment whenever facts and circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts of the assets
may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of the asset is not '
recoverable and exceeds its fair value. Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured by -
comparing the carrying amount of an asset to the estimated undiscounted future net cash flows expected to
be generated by the asset. If the asset’s carrying value is not recoverable, an 1mpa1rment charge is
recognized for the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its fair value. The Company
determines fair values by using a combination of comparable market values and discounted cash flows, as.
appropriate. :

Goodwill is reviewed for impairment annually on November 30 or whenever an evént occurs or there
is a change in circumstances that indicates fair value might be below carrying value. Goodwill is carried at
historical cost if the estimated fair value is greater than the carrying amounts. However, if estlmated fair
value is less than the carrying amotint, goodwill is reduced to éstimated fair value through an lmpalrment
charge to the Company’s consolidated statements of 0perat10n§.

e v ‘:
o - "1

Revenue Recognition

Subscriber revenue from pay television distributors is recognized as revenue when an agreement is
executed, programming is provided, the price is determinable, and collectibility is reasonably assured.
Subscriber fees from pay television distributors are recorded net of amortization of subscriber acquisition
costs in accordance with Emerging Issues Task Force No. 01-9 (“EITF No. 01-97), Accounting for
Consideration Given by a Vendor to a Customer (Including a Reseller of the Vendor’s Products). If the
amortization expense exceeds the revenue recognized on a cumulative per distribu.tor basis, the excess
amortization is 1ncluded as a component of cost of services. o

Advertising revenues are recognized as earned in the period in which the advertising is te]ecast
Revenue is recognized as commercial spots or long form programming are aired and as ratings guarantees .
to advertisers are achieved. Advertising revenues are recorded net of agency commissions. Agency .
commissions are calculated based on a stated percentage applied to gross billing revenue for the
Company’s broadcasting operations. Customers remit the gross billing amount to the agency and the
agency remits gross billings less theit commission to the Company. Payments recewed in advance of bemg
carned are recorded as deferred revenue.

Revenue from film asset licensing agreements is recognized in accordance with Statement of Position
(“SOP”) 00-2, Accounting by Producers or Distributors of Films. Revenues are recognized when all of the :
following have occurred: an agreement is executed, the film is available for exhibition by the licensee, the
license fee is fixed or determinable, collectibility is reasonably assured and the cost of each film is known or
reasonably determinable. Revenue from film asset licensing agreements containing multiple film titles is.
allocated among the various film titles based on their relative estimated fair values. Payments received
from licensees prior to the availability of a film are recorded as deferred revenue. Fees payable with terms
in excess of one year are discounted for revenue recognition purposes at the customer’s estimated
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incremental borrowing rate in accordance with Accounting Principles Board (“APB”) Opinion No. 21,
Interest on Receivables and Payables.

Taxes on Income

Pursuant to the tax sharing agreement entered into with Hallmark Cards in March 2003, the
Company’s results of operations for tax purposes became a part of the Hallmark Cards consolidated
federal tax return as of and subsequent to March 2003. However, the Company continues to account for
income taxes on a separate return basis. Accordingly, the Company accounts for income taxes using an
asset and liability method which requires the recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities for the
expected future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying
amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases and net operating loss and tax credit
carryforwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to be
applied to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered
or settled. The Company reduces deferred tax assets by a valuation allowance if it is more likely than not
that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. Any payments received from
Hallmark Cards under the tax sharing agreement are recorded as an increase in additional paid-in capital.
Based on the tax sharing agreement, the Company may ultimately owe Hallmark Cards for its share of the
consolidated federal tax liability caused by the inclusion of the Company in the consolidated group. Such
payments would be treated as a reduction to paid-in capital to the extent of amounts previously received
under the Tax Sharing Agreement. . "

Stock-Based Compensation .

During the first quarter of fiscal 2006, we adopted the provisions of, and account for stock-based
compensation in accordance with, the Financial Accounting Standards Board'’s (“FASB”) Statement’of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 123—revised 2004 (“SFAS 123R”), Share-Based Payment, which
replaced Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 (“SFAS 123"), Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation, and supersedes APB Opinion No. 25 (“APB 25”), Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees.
Under the fair value recognition provisions of this statement, stock-based compensation cost is measured
at the grant date based on the fair value of the award and is recognized as expense on a straight-line basis
over the period during which the holder is required to provide services in exchange for the award, i.e.,
usually the vesting period. We elected the modified-prospective method, under which prior periods are not
revised for comparative purposes. The valuation provisions of SFAS 123R apply to new grants and to
grants that were outstanding as of the effective date and are subsequently modified. Estimated
compensation for grants that were outstanding as of the effective date is recognized over the remaining
service period using the compensation cost estimated for the SFAS 123 pro forma disclosures.

" In connection with the adoption of SFAS 123R; we recorded a cumulative catch-up ddjustment of $2.1
million related to restricted stock umts (“RSUs”) granted under the Amended and'Restated Crown Media
Holdings, Inc. 2000 Long Term Incentive Plan (the “Plan”). See Note 18 for further information regarding
our stock-based compensation assumptions and expenses.
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The following table sets forth the pro forma amounts of net loss and net loss per share, for the years:
ended December 31, 2004 and 2005, that would have resulted if we had accounted for our employee stock’
options under the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS 123:

. Pro Forma Effects
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

- Years Ended Decemnber 31,
: ' - = o 2004 2005
Netloss ......ooveiiiiiiiniasd e e $(316,806) $(232,758)
Pro forma stock compensation expense at estimated fair
value ... e (2,644) (1,056) -,
Stock compensation expense included innetloss . .......... . -5 ., 116 .. -
Proformanet1oss. .......c..oovieiii i, $(319,445) $(233,698)
Weighted average shares . ......................... ... - 104,533 104,619
Pro forma net loss per share, basic and diluted .. ........ $ (3.06) § (2.23)
Net Loss Per Share '

' Basic net loss per share is computed by dwldmg the net loss for the period by the weighted average ' .
number of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted net loss per share is computed based on
the weighted average number of common shares and potentially dilutive common shares outstanding. The
calculation of diluted net loss per share excludes potential common shares if the effect would be .- . .
antidilutive. Potential common shares consist of incremental common shares issuable upon the exercise of
stock options. Approximately 1.4 million, 867,000, and 810,000 stock options for the years ended
December 31, 2004, 2005, and 2006, respectively, have been excluded from the calculatlons of loss per
share because their effect would have been antldllullve
Translation of Foreign Currency ‘ ' " R
Through April 26, 2003, the balance sheets and statements of operations and comprehensive 1oss of
certain Crown Media Holdings’ foreign subsidiaries were measured using local currency as the functional
currency. Revenues, expenses and cash flows of such subsidiaries were translated into United States dollars
at the average exchange rates prevailing during the period. Assets and liabilities were translated at the
rates of exchange at the balance sheet date. Translation gains and losses were deferred as a component of
accumulated other comprehensive income (loss). Foreign currency transaction gains and losses recorded
upon the remeasurement of financial assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than the
functional currency of the subsidiary were included in determining net loss for the perlod In con_]unctlon
with the sale of the international business, the cumulative foreign currency translation gain of
apprmumately $3.4 million was realized as a component of the loss on ‘;ale,of discontinued operatlons in
the accompanying consolidated statement of operanons

Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments, which potentially subject Crown Media Holdings to a concentration of credit
risk, consist primarily of cash, cash equivalents and accounts receivable. Generally, Crown Media Holdings
does not require collateral to secure receivables. Crown Media Holdings has no significant off-balance
sheet financial instruments with risk of accounting losses.
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Reclassifications ' T . '

Certain réclassifications have been made to conform prior periods’ financial information to the
current presentation.

Recently: Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In July 2006, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 48, A¢ccounting for Uncertainty in Income
Taxeés (“FIN 48”). FIN 48 is an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes,
and it seeks to reduce the diversity in practice associated with certain aspects ‘of measurement and
recognition in accounting for income taxes. FIN 48 requlres a new evaluation process for all tax position
taken. If the probability for sustaining a tax position is greater than 50%, then the tax position is warranted
and recognition should be at the highest amount which would be expected to be realized upon ultimate
settlement. FIN 48 also requires expanded disclosure at each annual reporting period unless a significant
change occurs in an interim period. Differences between the amounts recognized in the statements of
financial position before the adoption of FIN 48 and the amounts reported after adoption generally are to
be accounted for as an adjustment to the beginning balance of retained earnings. The Company has
completed its initial evaluation of the impact of the January 1, 2007, adoption of FIN 48 and determined
that such adoption is not expected to result in any transition adjustments.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, Fair Value Measurements (“SFAS No. 157”),
SFAS No. 157 defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value and expands disclosures
about fair value measurements. SFAS No. 157 is effective for the Company as of January 1, 2008. The
Company is currently evaluating the potential impact of adopting SFAS No. 157.

3. Impairment of Film Assets

In the second quarter of 2006 the Company retained an investment banking firm to solicit interest
from third parties for the potential purchase of the Crown Library. As a result of non-binding bids received
in the second quarter and the then proposed terms of an agreement dated Qctober 5, 2006 for the sale of
the Crown Library, management deemed it necessary to review its film assets for impairment as of both
June 30, 2006 and September 30, 2006. The fair values used in the impairment analyses were derived by
management taking into account the following: (1) the implied fair value from bid parties and a
contractual sales price at June 30, 2006 and September 30, 2006, respectively, with adjustments to take into
account the terms of the proposed sale including the estimated future cost of the Company’s
indemnification of the buyer for retention of residual and participation ‘liabitities arising from the buyer’s
use of the Crown Library for a 10-year period following the closing of the sale; (2) the estimated fair value
of rights for the Company’s non-exclusive use of certain films for showing on its Hallmark Movie Channel
for a limited period of time; and (3) the amount of accounts receivable related to the film library. The
resulting non-cash impairment charge of $225.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2006, is included
i impairment of film assets on the accompanying statement of operations.

The bids used in management’s valuation of the film assets at June 30, 2006 and the purchase price
and related terms of the proposed sale of the film library at September 30, 2006 involve lump sum amounts
with no values applied to individual films or groups of films. However, under applicable accounting
requirements the impairment analyses must be prepared on a film-by-film basis. Having concluded that
since August 31, 2005, the date of the most recent film-by-film valuation, each individual film has retained
its relative value with respect to the film library taken as a whole as of June 30-and September 30, 2006,
management atlocated the total estimated fair value at those dates on the basis of the estimated relative
fair values of each film as of August 31, 2005. Non-cash impairment charges were recorded at both
June 30, 2006 and September 30, 2006 to reflect the amounts by which the carrying values of individual
films exceeded the respective estimated fair values.
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In preparing the impairment analyses management relied upon various estimates, including those
made by consultants retained by the Company, which were based on information known at the time of the
analyses. '

In the third and fourth quarters of 2005, the Company reviewed its film asset titles for impairment.
The Company computed the fair value of the rights to each of the evaluated film titles: The estimated fair
value of the film assets was based upon the discounted cash flows attributable to estimated future third
party sales and internal use at September 30, 2005 and December 31, 2005. Non-cash lmpalrment charges
were recorded in both'the third and fourth quarters of 2005 for each film where the estimated fair value
was less than its carrying value. The resulting non-cash impairment charge of $25.5 million is included in
impairment of film assets on the accompanying statement of operations for the year ended December 31,
200s.

1~ In the third and fourth-quarters of 2004, the estimated fair value of the domestic rights of the film
assets was based upon the discounted cash flows attributable to estimated future third party sales and
internal use at September 30, 2004, and December 31, 2004. A non-cash impairment charge was recorded
in both the third and fourth quarters of 2004 for each film where the estimated fair value was less than its
carrying value. The resulting non-cash impairment charge of $22.0 million is included in impairment of
film assets on the accompanying statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2004:

4.) Subscriber Acquisition Fees
Subscriber acquisition fees are comprised of the following:

As of December 31,  As of December 31,
2006

2005(1)
(In thousands)
ISubscriber acquisition fees, atcost............. $ 192,666 $ 189,391
Accumulated amortization. ................... L (112,072) (147,726)
Subscriber acquisition fees, net......... s $ 80,594 $ 41,665

(1) The gross asset and accumulated amortization have each been adjusted by $28.9 million, which
represents contracts that were fully amortized at December 31, 2005, but were not written off on that
date.

Of the net balance at December 31, 2006, in regard to existing agreements, the Company expects
$10.0 m]lllon will be recognized as a reduction of subscriber fee revenue and $31.7 million will be
recogmzed as subscriber acquisition fee expense in future periods. The Company expects to amortlze the
net balance at December 31, 2006, as follows:

Years Ended December 31, : ’ {in thoﬁsands)
2007 .. e e e e e $38,617

. 2008, e 1,150
2000, .. e e 949
2000, . oo e 949
Total amortization .. ......ovtivrirrinervnrvnrons $41,665 .

As of December 31, 2005 and 2006, the consolidated balance sheets also reflect subscriber acquisition
fees payable of $12.2 million and $2.1 million, respectively. For the.years ended December 31, 2004, 2005
and 2006, the Company made cash payments of $19.2 million, $32.0 million, and $11.0 million, respectively,
relating to current subscriber acquisition fee obligations.
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5. Film Assets

Amortization expense for the fitm assets was $28.9 million, $51.6 million, and $14.7 million for the
years ended December 31, 2004, 2005, and 2006, respectively. The Company recorded impairment charges
of $22.0 million, $23.5 million, and $225.8 million for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005, and 2006,
respectively. e T

The following table summarized the carrying amounts of the film assets as of December 31, 2005.

‘ : As of December 31, 2005
Film assets........ e e e e $ 533,742

Accumulated amortization and impairment. . ................ (153,420)

Film assets, net. .. ... TP e $ 380,322

No film assets were recorded as of December 31, 2006, as a resuit of the sale of the film assets in 2006.

6. Program License Fees - T P

Program license fees are comf)riscd of the 'following:
B L . . e P

' - TR L As of December 31,

! T ‘ - 2005 2006
(In thousands)

Program license fees—RHI Entertainment Distribution. ... § 164,752 § 212,143
Program license fees—NICC ........................... 9,411 197
Program license fees—other affiliates.................... 368 368
Program license fees—other non-affiliates. .. . ... PO 365429 326,552

'Prc')gram license fecs, at cost......... g 539,960 539,260
Accumulated amortization, , . . ... e, U (202,865)  (241,342)

1

Program lic.:_gnserfe.qs,-'net..‘ e e . $337,095 $ 297,918

Programming ¢osts for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005, and 2006 were $89.9 million, $120.6
million, and $152.2 million, respectively.

During the years-ending December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006, certain program license fees were
written-down to their net realizable values, resvlting in additional costs of $3.0 million, $585,000, and $20.9
million, respectively, which have been included as a component of programming costs in the accompanying
consolidated statements of operations.

At December 31, 2005 and 2006, $30.4 million and $10.3 million of program license fees were included
in prepaid and other assets on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets as the Company made
payments for the program license fees prior to commencement of the license period.

License fees payable are comprised of the following:

As of December 31,
2005 2006

(In thousands)
License fees payable—RHI Entertainment Distribution. .. ... $ 22,704 § 18,439
License fees payable—NICC. .................. ... ... 3,315 2,275
License fees payable—non-affiliates ....................... 214,025 166,597
Total license feespayable ............... ... ... .. ... 240,044 187,311
Lesscurrent maturities. ........ooovnn i (53,190)  (98,360)
Long-term license fees payable. ...............ccovuvunn. $186,854 $ 88,951
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7. Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are comprised of the following:

As of December 31,

2005 2006 Depreciable Life
(In thousands) (In years)

Technical equipment and computers . ...........oooouiiina. $ 14,650 $ 15,083 3-5
Leased assetS. ..o u e i i i e e e e e 17,363 17,363 15
Furniture, fixtures and equipment ................ e 1,235 1,241 5
Leasehold improvements ......... ...t iiiinenn.s 3,344 2,853 3-7
ConStruCtON-IN-PrOBIeSS . .\ \vvet e it e raaiee i eaeannns 18 273

Property and equipment, 8t cost .. ........ ... 36,610 36,813
Accumulated depreciation . ....... ... i {18,050)  (20,500)

Property and equipment, net............ovevnviieiininns $ 18,560 § 16,313

Depreciation expense related to property and equipment was $3.4 million, $3.5 million, and §2.8
million, for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006, respectively.

Software and other intangible assets of $2.0 million and $1.0 million as of December 31, 2005 and
2006, respectively, have been included in prepaid and other assets in the accompanying consolidated
balance sheets.

8. Reorganization

In October 2002, the Company began reorganizing its operations in order to concentrate its efforts on
the Hallmark Channel in the U.S. and in its more successful international markets. The Company
completed decentralizing many oversight and non-technical support functions formerly located in the
Company’s U.S.-based offices and transferred those responsibilities to regional staff. In Latin America, the
Company entered into an agreement with a local distribution partner, Pramer S.C.A., who was made
responsible for the day-to-day operations of the Hallmark Channel in this region. At the completion of the
reorganization in April 2003, the Company’s workforce was reduced by approximately 30% or 130
positions.

The Company recorded a reorganization charge of $28.8 million during the fourth quarter of 2002.
This charge was comprised of a charge of $5.5 million for severance costs and charges of $23.3 million
related to exit costs for satellite, transponder and facility leases.
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«  The following table displays the activity and balances of the reorganization accrual account from
October 7, 2002, to December 31, 2005, which was included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities in
the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. - "

Satelliteand - =, .
Severance Facilities Transmnder ‘Total
(In thousands)

Balance at October 7, 2002. ... e L $5492 $71,651 $21, 658 ' $ 28,801
Deductions due to payments ... .. .. [PRUTUR el S (2,097) — (545) (2,642)
Balance at December 31,2002....................., 3395 1651 21,113 26,159
Additions due to accretion’...................... L - ., 6 C692 . 753
Additions due to adjustments to estimates ............ — - 1,194 1,194
Deductions due to settlement of contract ............. - — 7 (2951) (2,951
Deductions due to payments .. ... PP e (3391) ' (189) " " (6,537) (10,117)
Balance at December 31, 2003........ e P . 4. 1,523 13511 15,038
Additions due to accretion. ..................... .. M — 52 52
Deductions due to adjustments to estimates, net ...... f @) - (126) (353 - (483)
Deductions due topayments ...............0.......; - (337 (3,550) (3,887)
Balance at December 31,2004, .......... s ) — 1,060 - 9,660 10,720
Deductions due to payments ........ e = (60) (989) (1,049)
Contracts assumed by buyer of international business .. - - — " * (1,000) (8,671) (9,671)
Balance at December 31,2005 ..........cooaena. ... $ - — 3 — ¥ — % —
' . . . K - T : T 0 ;
9. Leases

The Company leases uplink and certain transponder space under a long-term lease agreement that is
accounted for as a capital lease in accordance with SFAS No. 13, Accountmg for Leases. In addition, the
Company leases transponders, office fac1ht1es and various office equipment under operating leases that are
generally non-cancelable. These léases explre at various dates through June 2019, and Some ‘contain .
escalation clauses and renewal options. Future rnmlmum lease payments under the agreements at
December 31,2006, are as follows: '

Years Ended December 31, Cnpital Leases - Operating Léases !
{in thousands)
2007 o e e e $ 2,160 $ 3,989
2008 L e e e 2,160 2,764
2009 .0 e s LT 2,160 1,971
2010 .. ST N TR C2060 7 71,059
2011 ..l e P e e 2,160' o - 394"
Thereafter.............. L S SRR 171900 131
Total minimum'lease payments . . .‘ .............. . - 27,990 $10,308 °
Less amount representing interest’ o D o o ,
(at implicit rates ranging from 9. 375%). .. .ennn.. - _(11,820)°
Present value of net mm;mum lease payments ........ - 16,170 ‘," ‘
Less current maturities. .. .................... s (672 T )
. Long term obligation ........... e ceee . $15,498

Rent expense under these agreements was $1.9 million, $2.0-mi!_1_i0n,rand-‘$é.0 million, respectively, for
the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005, and 2006. Amortization of assets held under capital leases is
recorded as amortization of capital lease in the accompanying statements of operations. . .o

' . . ’ . . N R |
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During 2005 and through November 30, 2006, the buyer of the international business allowed Crown
Media Holdings to inhabit office space without paying rent. Crown Media Holdings would have paid -
$115,000 and $103,000 in rent expense for this space during 2005 and 2006, respectively.

10. Credit Facility

At December 31, 2006, the Company had an amended credit agreement with a syndicate of banks, led
by JP Morgan Chase Bank, under which the banks have extended to the Company a secured revolving
credit facility with availability of up to $130.0 million. At December 31, 2006, the outstanding balance
under the credit facility was $87.6 million. The Company currently has $42.4 million of unused revolving
credit capacity. The Company’s availability to borrow additional amounts under the credit facility is not
limited or restricted. The Company and the lending banks originally entered into the facility in 2001 and
have subsequently amended the terms of this facility, with the most recent amendment dated as of
March 2, 2007. The facility is guaranteed by the Company’s subsidiaries and is secured by all tangible and
intangible property of Crown Media Holdings and its subsidiaries. ‘

Each borrowing under the bank credit facility bears interest at a Eurodollar rate or an alternate base
rate as the Company may request at the time of borrowing in accordance with the credit agreement. The
Eurodollar rate is based on the London interbank market for Eurodollars, and remains in effect for the
time period of the loan ranging from one, two, three, six or twelve months. The alternate rate is based
upon the prime rate of JP Morgan Chase Bank, a certificate of deposit rate or the Federal Funds effective
rate, which is adjusted whenever the rates change. The Company is required to pay a commitment fee of
0.15% per annum (0.2% from March 1, 2005, to April 27, 2006} of the committed, but not outstanding,
amounts under the revolving credit facility, payable in quarterly installments.

At December 31, 2005 and 2006, the Company had outstanding borrowings of $210.0 million and
$87.6 million, respectively, under the credit facility and there were no letters of credit outstanding. At
December 31, 2005, $210.0 million of the outstanding balance bore interest at the Eurodollar rate (5.39%
at December 31 2005) and $0 bore interest at the JP Morgan Chase Bank prime rate. At December 31,
2006, $87.6 million of the outstanding balance bore interest at the Eurodollar rate (6.10% at December 31,
2006) and $0 bore interest at the JP Morgan Chase Bank prime rate. Interest expense on borrowings under
the credit facility for each of the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006, was $13.9 million, $10.3
million, and $12.7 million, respectively.

Covenants )

The credit facility, as amended, contains a number of affirmative and negative covenants. Affirmative
covenants include without limitation the following: (1) (a) within 90 days after the end of each fiscal year,
submit to the banks audited consolidated financial statements of the Company required to be submitted to
the S.E.C., and (b) within 45 days after the end of each of the first three fiscal quarters, submit to the banks
unaudited consolidated financial statements of the Company required to be submitted to the S.E.C,;

(2) cause the Company’s corporate existence to be effective; (3) keep tangible properties material to the
Company’s business in good condition; (4) provide notice of the following material events: (a) any event of
default, (b) material adverse change in the condition or operations of any credit party, (c) any action which
could affect the performance of the credit parties’ obligations under the Credit Agreement, (d) any other
event which couid result in 4 material adverse effect, (¢) opening or change of any executive office,

(f) change in the name of the credit parties, (g) any event which affects the collectibility of receivables or
decrease the value of the collateral, (h) proposed material amendment to any material agreement that are
part of the collateral and (i) ahy notice which a credit party received with respect to a claimed default;

(5) (a) insure its assets adequately, (b) insure against other hazards and risks, (c) maintain distributor’s
“errors and omissions” insurance, (d) maintain broadcaster’s “errors and omissions” insurance, (€) cause
all insurance to provide to the Lender a written notice of any termination or material change of coverage

F-26




and (f) upon request, provide to the Lender a statement of insurance coverage; (6) maintain true-and
complete books and records of financial operations and provide the Agent access to such books and

’ records; (7) observe and perform all material agreements with respect to the distribution/exploitation of

| the Products (as defined in the Credlt Agreement); (8) pay all taxes and other governmental charges and

| indebtedness in the ordinary course of business of the credit parties; (9) defend the coliateral against all

| liens, other than permitted encumbrances; (10) upon receipt of any (a) payment from any obllgor which
should be remitted to the Agent or (b) the proceeds of any sale of Product, remit such payment or

} proceeds to the Agent; (11) comply with all applicable environmental laws; notify the Agent of any
material violation of any applicable environmental laws and indemnify the Agent and the Issuing Bank

| against any environmental law-related claims; and, (12) (a) upon request, execute and deliver all necessary

' documents to perfect the liens on the collateral and to carry out the purpose of the Credit Agreement and
its anc1l]ary documents and (b) clarify, if necessary, the chain of title for any item of the Products.

. Negative covenants: include limitations on (1) indebtedness, (2) liens, (3) guaranties, (4) investments,
(5) making “Restricted Payments,” {Restricted Payments include any distribution on our equity, any
redemption or other acquisition of our equity including redemption of the company obligated mandatorily
redeemable preferred interest, any payment on debt of the Company which is subordifiated to the bank
loans, any reduction of the HC Crown line of credit for the Company, any payment on certain obligations
assumed by the Company under the purchase agreement for the film assets and any other payment to
Hallmark Cards or any of its affiliates. The credit agreement, however, permits the Company to make
payments to Hallmark Cards or an affiliate in payment of a valid outstanding obligation {subject to any
applicable subordination agreement) or in an aggregate amount equal to the financial benefits received by
us as a result of the reduction of interest charges under the bank credit facility in Amendment-No. 8 plus
any fees and costs incurred by Hallmark Cards in connection with the support letter of eredit provided in
accordance with Amendment No. 8, (6) sale of assets, (7) sale of receivables, (8) entering into any sale and
leaseback transactions, (9) entering into transactions with affiliates, (10} amending the promissory note
with HC Crown, a related letter of credit issued for our benefit or certain of our other material
agreements, (11) creatmg negative pledge (12) mergers or acqulsmons (13) production of any 1tem of
Product in any fiscal year having an aggregate budgeted negatwe cost.in excess of $5.0 million,
(14) changmg our business activities, (15) entering into certdin transactions that are prohibited under
ERISA, (16) entenng into any mterest rate protectlon agreement or curréncy agreement, (17) acquiring or
creating any new subsidiary, (18) using or storing hazardous materials on our premises, and (19) creating
any first tier subsldlary other than M [ntermedlary or have any asset related to the Channel at a level
above CM Intermedldry

¥

The Company was in compllance Wlth these covenants at December 31, 2006.

By an-‘Amendment No. 12, dated as of March 2, 2007, to the credit agreenient, the maturlty date of
the revolving credit facility has been exténd to May 31, 2008. Additionally, the amendment provided for
the Hallmark Cards letter of credit to be replaced by a JP Morgan Bank letter of credit for the $130.0
million, with an expiration date of June 10, 2008. ' .

11. .Related Paﬂy Long-Term Obligatimis .
Waiver and Standby Purchase Agreement

Under the Waiver and Standby Purchase Agreement dated March 21, 2006, aslast amended on
March 2, 2007, Hallmark Cards agreed to defer all payments due on any of the following obligations and,
except where noted, payment of interest thereon until May 31, 2008, or an earlier date as described below.
as the waiver termination date, whereupon all of thes¢ amounts become immediately due and payab]e (the
“Waiver Period”):

" » Line of credit and interest payable to HC Crown, dated December 14, 2001, in the original principal
amount of $75.0 million, payable to HC Crown. (Total amount outstanding at December 31, 2006,
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including accrued interest was $93 5 million. See Line of Credit and Interest Payable to HC Crown
below.)

¢ $70.0 million line of credit and interest payable to Hallmark Cards affiliate arising out of the sale to
Crown Media Holdings of the Hallmark Eatertainment film library. (Total amount outstanding at
December 31, 2006, including accrued interest was $53.4 million. See Line of Credit ana‘ Interest
Payable 1o Hallmark Cards Affiliate below.)

» 10.25% senior unsecured note, dated August 5, 2003, in the initial accreted value of $400.0 mllhon
payable to HC Crown. (Total amount outstanding at December 31, 2006, including accrued interest
was $562.2 million. See Senior Unsecured Note below.)

e Note and interest payable to Hallmark Cards affiliate, dated as of October 1, 2005, in the principal
amount of $132.8 million, payable to Hallmark Entertainment Holdings. (Total amount outstanding
at December 31, 2006, including accrued interest was $146.4 million. See Note and Interest Payable
to Hallmark Cards Affiliate below.)

» All obligations of the Company under the bank credit facility by virtue of Hallmark Cards’ deemed
purchase of participations in all of the obligations under a letter of credit which Hallmark Cards has
given in support of the facility or the purchase by Hallmark Cards of all these obligations pursuant
to Amendment No. 9 to the bank credit facility.

Hallmark Cards has agreed that it will not accelerate the maturity of any of the foregoing obligations
or initiate collection proceedings during the Waiver Period. Interest will continue to accrue on these
obligations during the Waiver Period. The Company will continue to pay interest on the credit facility
during the Waiver Period.

The waiver termination date is on May 31, 2008, or earlier upon occurrence of any of the following
events: (a) the Company fails to pay any principal or interest, regardless of amount, due on any
indebtedness to unrelated parties with an aggregate principal amount in excess of $5.0 million or any other
event or condition occurs that results in any such indebtedness becoming due prior to its scheduled
maturity, provided that the waiver will not terminate if the Company reduces the principal amount of such
indebtedness to $5.0 million or less within five business days of a written notice of termination from
Hallmark Cards; (b) certain bankruptcy events occur; (¢) the Company defaults in its payment of licensing
fees under the Second Amended and Restated Program License Agreement with RHI Entertainment
Distribution (formerly known as Hallmark Entertainment Distribution at which time it was a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Hallmark Cards); (d) a representation and warranty of the Company in the Waiver
Agreement is false or misleading in any material respect; or (e) the Company fails to pay interest on the
bank credit facility described above to the extent that Hallmark Cards has purchased all or a portion of the
indebtedness thereunder or to perform any covenants in the Waiver Agreement.

Under the' Waiver Agreement, if the bank’s lenders under the bank credit facility accelerate any of the
indebtedness under the bank credit facility or seek to collect any indebtedness under it, then the Company
may elect to exercise its right to require that Hallmark Cards or its designated subsidiary exercise an option
to purchase all the outstanding indebtedniess under the bank credit facility as provided in the bank credit
facility. All expenses and fees in connection with this purchase would be added to the principal amount of
the credit facility obligations.

The Waiver Agreement does not limit any existing rights of Hallmark Cards or its affiliates to offset
amounts owed to us under the Hallmark Tax Sharing Agreement and Hallmark Cards’ share of the
amounts payable under the December 1, 2005, agreement with NICC (described in Note 13) against these
obligations. On September 1, 2006, Hallmark Cards elected to apply its $3.1 million share of the NICC
obligations against the amounts due under the $70.0 million Promissory Note to Hallmark Entertainment
Holdings (described below), thereby reducing the principal amount of that Note by $3.1 million.

F-28




Additionally, during the third quarter of 2006, Hallmark Cards applied $18.0 million of benefit from the
Tax Sharing Agreement against the principal amount due under the March 21, 2006, promissory note with
Hallmark Entertainment Holdings. Pursuant to the Waiver Agreement, the Company must make
prepayments on the outstanding debt from 100% of any “Excess Cash Flow” during the Waiver Period.
“Excess Cash Flow” is defined as 1) the net proceeds of any debt or equity financings or sale of assets;

2) the net cash proceeds from the incurrence by the Company of indebtedness; 3) the net cash proceeds
from the sale, transfer or release by the Company of assets outside the ordinary course of business; and
4) if positive, the consolidated net cash flow from operations of Crown Holdings for any calendar quarter
as shown in an SEC report, less cash funds used to pay current operating expenses and to pay or establish
reasonable reserves for future expenses, indebtedness payments, and capital improvements and
replacements as determined by the Board of Directors of the Company.

In connection with the Waiver Agreement in March 2006, we converted the $70.0 million account
payable to Hallmark Entertainment Holdings arising out of our purchase of the Hallmark Entertainment
film library to a promissory note described below, bearing interest at LIBOR plus 3% per annum. This
note is payable in full on May 31, 2008, and accrued but unpaid interest is added to the outstanding
principal amount on an annual basis. We also agreed in March 2006 to:

e amend the 2001 and 2005 notes.described above to add the accrued but unpaid interest, currently
and annually, to the outstandmg principal amounts ;

e use our commercna]ly reasonable efforts to refinance all of our -obligations to Hallmark Cards and
affiliates noted above; and : '

e comply with our covenants and obligations under the bank credit facili}y .

Hallmark Letter of Credit

Pursuant to Amendment No. 8 to the bank credit facility, Hallmark Cards has provided an irrevocable
letter of credit issued by Citibank, N.A. to JP Morgan Chase Bank in the original amount of $320.0 million,
as credit support for our obligations under the Company’s credit facility (the “credit facility™). The support
letter of credit was reduced to $220.0 million upon the consummation of the sale of the Company’s
international business and the reduction of the aggregate outstanding credit exposure of its lenders to
$220.0 million. Drawdowns under the letter of credit may be made for amounts due and payable under the,
credit facility and upon the occurrence of certain other events. Any proceeds received by JP Morgan Chase
Bank from drawing under this support letter of credit will be used to purchase from the bank lenders, on
behalf of Hallmark Cards, subordinated participations in our obligations under the bank credit facility. As
consideration, we agreed to pay Hallmark Cards’ the amounts resulting from the 2.0% reduction in the
interest rate and the 0.3% reduction in the commitment fee payable by the Company under the bank credit
facility as provided in Amendment No. 8. In addition, we agreed to pay the fee charged by Citigroup for
the letter of credit which was 0.625% of the amount of the letter of credit.

In conjunction with Amendment No. 10, Hallmark Cards extended its letter of credit to correlate to
the maturity date of the credit facility and also increased the size of the letter of credit from $220.0 million
to $240.0 million. In consideration of this extension and increase in the size of the letter of credit, the
Company agreed to continue to pay Hallmark Cards the difference betwéen the interest rate formerly:
charged the Company before the letter of credit was available and the rate now charged with the backing
of the letter of credit. Since the interest rate was further reduced in Amendment No. 10 to LIBOR plus
0.75%, the interest differential now payable to Hallmark Cards is 2. 25% of the outstanding indebtedness
under the credit facility. In addition, the Company agreed to continue to pay the fee charged by Citigroup
for the letter of credit which was increased to 0.875% of the amount of the letter of credit.
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The Hallmark Cards letter of credit was reduced to $130.0 million in connection with Amendment
No. 11 to the bank credit facility.

Pursuant to Amendment No. 12 to the bank credit facility, Hallmark Cards has provided an
irrevocable letter of credit issued by JP Morgan Chase Bank in the amount of $130.0 million, as credit
support for our obligations under the credit facility with an expiration date of June 10, 2008.

]
[

Senior Unsecured Note

-In August 2003, the Company issued a senior unsecured note to HC Crown for $400.0 million. A
portion of the proceeds was.used to repurchase the Company’s outstanding trust preferred securities, and
the balance of the proceeds, after expenses, was used to reduce amounts outstanding under its bank credit
facility.

L
]

The senior unsecured note payable to HC Crown does not require cash payments until August 2007.
In accordance with the waiver agreement, these payments are not required until May 31, 2008. The
principal amount of the senior unsecured note accretes at 10.25% per annum, compounding semi-annually,
to $596.6 million at August 5, 2007. From that date, interest at 10.25% per annum was scheduled to be
payable serni-annually on the accreted value of the senior unsecured note to HC Crown, but now will be
payable subsequent to May 31, 2008. The note matures on August 5, 2011, and is pre- payable without
penalty. At December 31, 2005 and 2006, $509.4 million and $562.2 million, respectwely, of principal and
accreted interest were included in the senior unsecured note payable in the accompanying consolidated
balance sheets. The note purchase agreement for the senior unsecured note contains certain covenants
which restrict on the part of the Company, among other matters, from the incurrence of any additional
indebtedness, the repurchase or other acquisitions of the Company’s stock, investments in other parties
and the incurrence of liens on the Company’s assets. As a fee for the issuance of the notes, the Company
paid $3.0 million to HC Crown, which was initially capitalized and is bemg amortized as additional interest
expense over the term of the note payable.

N :

Line of Credit and Interest Payable to HC Crown : K “

On December 14, 2001, the Company executed a $75.0 miltion promissory note with HC Crown
maturing on the ezirlier of six months from the termination of the bank credit facility or December 21,
2007. Due to the waiver agreement, the line of credit and related interest are not due until May 31, 2008.
This line of credit is subordinate to the bank credit facility. The rate of interest under this line of credit is
equal to LIBOR plus three percent. At December 31, 2005, and 2006, borrowings under the note were
$75.0 million and $87.7 million, respectively. Accrued interest on the note of $11.3 million and $5.8 million '
are included in line of credit and interest payable to HC Crown as of December 31, 2005, and 2006,
respectively, on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. At December 31, 2005, $75.0 million of the
outstanding balance bore interest at the Eurodollar rates of 7.08%. At December 31, 2006, $87.7 million of
the outstanding balance bore interest at the Eurodollar rates of 8.37%. At December 31, 2005 and 2006,
$86.3 million and $93.5 million were included in the line of credit and interest payable to HC Crown,on the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets, respectively.

Note and Interest Payable to Hallmark Cards Affiliate

In 2005, the Company converted a portlon of its license fees payable to Hallmark affiliates, which
were appronmately $132.8 million, to a promissory note bearing interest at LIBOR plus 3% per annum,
The term of the promissory note began on October 1, 2005 and is payable in full on May 31, 2008, due to
thé waiver agreement. Accrued interest on the note of $2.4 million and $9.0 million is included in note and
interest payable to Hallmark Cards affiliate as of December 31, 2005, and 2006, respectively, on the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets. At December 31, 2003, $132.8 million of the outstanding

F-30




balance hore interest at the Eurodollar rates of 7.08%. At December 31, 2006, $137.4 million of the
outstanding balance bore interest at the Eurodollar rates of 8.37%. At December 31, 2005 and 2006,
$135.2 million and $146.4 million were included in the note and interest payable to Halimark Cards
affiliate in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets, respectively.

Line of Credit and Interest Payable to Hallmark Cards Affiliate

In March 2006; the Company converted its payable to a Hallmark Cards affiliate, which was
approximately $70.4 million, to a promissory note bearing interest at LIBOR plus 3% per annum. The
term of the promissory note began on March 21, 2006, and is payable in full, pursuant to the waiver
agreement, on May 31, 2008, Accrued interest on the note of $4 1 million is included in note and interest
payable to Hallmark Cards affiliate as of December 31, 2006, ori the accompanying consolidated balance
sheet. At December 31, 2006, $49.3 million of the outstanding balance bore interest at the Eurodollar rates
of 8.37%. At December 31, 2006, $53.4 million was included in the line of credit and mterest payable to
Hallmark Cards affiliate in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet

During the third quarter of 2006, Hallmark Cards used $18.0 mllllon of the 25% in the federal tax
benefits from losses the Company generated to reduce the $70.4 million balance on the line of credit and
interest payable to Hallmark Cards affiliate. On September 1, 2006, Hallmark Cards also reduced the
balance of line of credit by $3.1 million, which was related to the December 1, 2005, agreement with NICC.

Intej;est Paid to HC Crown

Interest expense paid to HC Crown, which formerly was payable to the Company’s bank syndicate and
resulted from a reduction in the interest rate and commitment fee payable to the Company’s bank
syndicate in Amendment No. 8 and Amendment No. 10 to the Company’s credit facility, was $3.2 million
for the year ended December 31, 2005, and $4.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2006.

Related Party Long-Term Obligations _
The aggregate maturies of related p'arty Iong-ferm debt for.each of the five years subsequent to

December 31, 2006, are as follows: - - )

Payments Due by Period .
Total 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011

(In thousands)

Line of credit and interest payable to HC Crown,

with principal due May 31,2008 .............. $ 93465 $— $ 93465 $— $— $ . —
10.25% Senior unsecured note to HC Crown, Cor T .
including accrued interest, due August 5, 2011. . 562,167 — _ — — 562,167
Note and interest payable to Hallmark
Entertainment Holdings due May 31, 2008. .. .. 146,397 — 146,397 v — . - —
Note and interest payable to Hallmark
Entertainment Holdings due May 31, 2008. . .. 53,364 — 53,364 ' — — —
' $855,393 $— $293226 $— $— $562,167

12. Related Party Transactions
Tax Sharing Agreement

On March 11, 2003, Crown Media Holdings became a member of Hallmark Cards consolidated ,'
federal tax group and entered into a federal tax sharing agreement with Hallmark Cards (the “tax sharing
agreement”). Hallmark Cards includes Crown Media Holdings in its consolidated federal income tax
return. Accordingly, Hallmark Cards has benefited from past tax losses and may benefit from future

F-31




federal tax losses, which.may be generated by Crown Media Holdings. Based on the tax sharing agreement,
Hallmark Cards has agreed to pay Crown Media Holdings all of the benefits realized by Hallmark Cards as
a result of including Crown Media Holdings in its consolidated income tax return. These benefits are
estimated and paid 75% in cash on a quarterly basis and the balance when Crown Media Holdings
becomes a federal taxpayer. A final true-up calculation is completed within 15 days after Hallmark Cards
files its consolidated federal income tax return for the year. Pursuant to the true-up calculation, Crown
Media Holdings is obligated to reimburse Hallmark Cards the amount that any estimated payments have
exceeded the actual benefit realized by Halimark Cards and Hallmark Cards is 0bl1gated to pay Crown
Media Holdings the amount that any actual benefit exceeds the estimated payments. Under the tax sharing
agreement, at Hallmark Cards’ option, the non-interest bearing balance of the 25% in federal tax benefits
may be applied as an offset against any amounts owed by Crown Media Holdings to any member of the
Halimark Cards consolidated group under any loan, line of credit or other payable, subject to limitations
under any loan indentures or contracts restricting such offsets. During the third quarter of 2005, Hallmark
Cards used $30.0 million of the approximately $45.7 million balance of this 25% balance to offset
intercompany debt. During the third quarter of 2006, Hallmark Cards used $18.0 million of the
approximately $18.0 million balance of this 25% balance to reduce the principal amount due under the
March 21, 2006 promissory note with Hallmark Entertainmerit Holdings.

The Company received $56.6 mrllron $56 1 million (1ncludmg the $30.0 million offsét to 1nterc0mpany
debt during the third quarter of 2005), and $30.0 million (including the $18.0 million offset to
intercompany debt during the third quarter of 2006) under the Tax Sharing Agreement during 2004, 2005
and 2006, respectively. Any payments received from Hallmark Cards or credited against amounts owed by
Crown Média Holdings to any member of the Hallmark Cards consolidated group under the tax shiaring
agreements are recorded as an addition to pard in caprtal in the accompanymg consolidated statements of
stockholders’ equlty (deflclt) -

¥

Hallmark Entertainment Investments

On March 11, 2003, Hallmark Entertainment Holdings, Inc. (“Hallmark Entertainment Holdings”,
a wholly-owned subsidiary of Hallmark Cards) contributed 100% of the Crown Media Holdings shares’
owned by it to Hallmark Entertainment Investments. Two of Crown Media Holdings’ investors, Liberty
Crown, Inc., a subsidiary of Liberty Media, and JP Morgan, also contributed 100% of their Crown Media
Holdings shares to Hallmark Entertainment Investments, and VISN contributed 10% of its Crown Media
Holdings shares to Halimark Entertainment Investments, all in return for shares in Hallmark
Entertainment Investments. Hallmark Entertainment Holdings, now an owner of more than 80% of
Hallmark Entertainment Investments, has voting power over all of the Crown Media Holdings shares
owned by Hallmark Entertainment Investments. See note 15 for further mformatron on the percentage of
voting power. : .

Services Agreement with Hallmark Cards - i .

The Company has an intercompany services agreement with Hallmark Cards which was entered into
in 2003 for a term of three years and then extended for an additional year through January 1, 2008. Under
the agreement Hallmark Cards prov1des Crown Media Holdings with tax, risk management, health safety,
environmental, insurance, legal, treasury and cash management services and real estate consulting services.
Under the agreement, the Company agreed to pay Hallmark Cards $515,000 per year for these services, '
plus out-of-pocket expenses and third party fees, payable in arrears on the last business day of each .
quarter. This amount was 1ncreasad to ‘8530 000 for each of 2006 and 2007. However, the Company has not
paid these amounts

For each of the years ended Deccmber 31 2004 and 2005 Crown Medla Holdmgs had accrued
$515,000 under the agreement. For the year ended December 31, 2006, Crown:Media Holdings had

]
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accrued $530,000 under the agreement. At December 31, 2005 and 2006 non-interest bearing unpaid
accrued service fees and unreimbursed expenses of $10.1 million and $11.5 million, respectively, were
included in payable to affiliates in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. At December 31, 2604,
2005 and 2006 out-of-pocket expenses and third party fees were $1.3 million, $1.0 million, and $914,000,
respectively,

Trademark Agreement with Hallmark Cards

Crown Media United States has a trademark license agreement with Hallmark Licensing, Inc. for use
of the “Hallmark” mark for the Hallmark Channel and for the Hallmark Movie Channel. During the
second quarter of 2006, Hallmark Cards extended the trademark license agreements for the Hallmark
Channel and the Hallmark Movie Channel to September 1, 2007 The Company is not reqmred to pay any
fees under the trademark license agreements. '

Intercreditor Agreement

The Company has an intercreditor agreement that deals with residual and participation liabilities for
the use of film assets by the buyer of the Company’s membership interest in Crown Media Distribution.
Under the intercreditor agreement, Hallmark Cards has agreed that any loan, debt or other amount
payable by the Company to Hallmark Cards will be subordinate and subject in right of payment to the
payment in full of such residual and participation liabilities, but only to the extent that any such residual
and participation liabilities outstanding exceed $25.0 million.

13. Company Obligated Mandatorily Redeemable Preferred Interest and NICC License Agreements‘

VISN (a subsidiary of NICC) owns a $25.0 million company obligated mandatorily redeemable
preferred interest in Crown Media United States (the “preferred interest™) issued in connection with an
investment by the Company in Crown Media United States. On November 13, 1998, the Company, Vision
Group, VISN and Henson Cable Networks, Inc. signed an amended and restated agreement governing the
operation of Crown Media United States, as amended at various times through December 1, 2005 (the
“company agreement”).

Under the company agreement, the members agreed that if during any year ending after January 1,
2005 and prior to December 31, 2009, Crown Media United States has net profits in excess of $10.0
million, and the preferred interest has not been redeemed, Crown Media United States will redeem the
preferred interest in an amount equal to the lesser of (i) such excess net profits; (ii) $5.0 million; or (iii) the
amount equal to the preferred liquidation preference on the date of redemption. Crown Media United
States may voluntarily redeem the preferred interest at any time, however, it is obligated to do so on the
date of redemption (December 31, 2010). Due to the mandatory redemption provision of the preferred
interest, on July 1, 2003, the preferred interest was remeasured at fair value and reclassified to non-current
liabilities in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 150. The preferred interest has a liquidation
preference of $25.0 million.

A December 2005 agreement between Crown Media Holdings and NICC replaced a prior program
production agreement and settled various disputes which had arisen under the prior agreement. In the new
agreement, the Company agreed to fund and license the following programming produced by NICC
through the end of 2007:

* A Sunday Morning one-hour series entitled “New Morning with Naomi Judd” at a cost of $3.5
million in 2005, $4.6 million in 2006 and $5.6 million in 2007. The 2006 and 2007 amounts are
payable quarterly in those years,
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o A weekday one-hour daily series entitted “New Morning” at a cost of $1.9 million.in 2005, $4.2.
million in 2006 and $5.1 million in 2007. The 2005 amount includes.a deferred amount of $535,000
to be paid as indicated below for deferred payments. The 2006 and 2007 amounts are payable - -
. quarterly in those years. . : -

+ A Sunday morning programming block, broadcast from 6 a.m. to 12 noon, at a cost of
approximately $485,000 in 2005, $5.8 million in 2006 and 5,8 million in 2007, increased by a
percentage equal to the increase in the Consumer Price Index, in 2007. These amounts include
'deferred payments of $125,000 for 2005 and $1.5 million for each of 2006 and 2007. The 2006 and
2007 amounts not deferred'are payable quarterly in those years.

In addrtlon Crown Media Holdings Agreed to finish fundmg four specials, the productron of which
had been commenced prior to the amendment, at a total additional cost of $1.4 mijllion in 2005 and 2006,
and to fund an additional two non-dramatic specials, to be produced in 2006 and 2007, at a total cost of
$1.3 million. A quarter of the amounts for the additional two specials was paid in January 2006, another
quarter was pald in June 2006 and the remaining one-half is payable in June 2007, or upon a change in
coritrol (that is, a salé or merger where the aggregate ownership of Crown Media Holdings by the current
ownersbecomes less than 50%). The Hallmark Channel is not obligated to broadcast the latter two
specials. Crown Media Holdings will also provide or has provided $2.0 million in each of 2005, 2006 and
2007 to fund the development by NICC of “made for television” movies and will pay NICC an additional
$1.0 million if the movie “A Reason to Believe,” which was to be produced under the prior agreement, is -
not ultlmately produced. The 2005 amount includeé a deferred payment of $1.8 million; the 2006 amount
was paid semi-annually in 2006; and the 2007 amount is payable in January 2007. The Hallmark Channel
will have a right of first negotiation to acquire broadcast rights to the movies resulting from this
development and, if it elects not to acquire these rights, may still recover a portion of its funding if the
movies are produced for others. In addition, NICC has received $45,000 in consulting fees from a series
which RHI Entertainment has produced, and will receive a deferred payment of $750,000 as the last .
payment for certain termmated obligations. ' -

The deferred payments menticned above are payable to NICC onh December 31, 2007 or upon a
change in control, whichever comes first. Added to the deferred amounts will be (1) interest at the rate
charged by, NICC’s prime lender or (2) if NICC selis Crown Media Holdings common stock to finance any
deficit, the increase in the sale price of the common stock between the time NICC sells the stock to fund a
deferred amount and a market price of the Crown Media Holdmgs common stock on the date the deferred
amounts are pi_i_ld by Crown Media Holdings.

+

In the event there is a change of control of Crown Media Holdings prior to the expiration of the
agreement (i.e., December 31, 2007), NICC will immediately receive a $15.0 million “termination
payment;” any remaining portions of the payments for the non-dramatic specials and the “made for
televis§ion” movie development described above and the deferred payments described above. The Hallmark
Channe! will be obligated to continue to broadcast and pay for the Sunday “New Morning with Naomi
Judd” and weekday “New Morning” series and the Sunday morning programming block for an additional
six months following the change in control, after which all funding and broadcast obligations to NICC will
cease. Also, under existing obligations, Crown Media Holdings would be required to redeem the $25.0
million preferred interest of NICC in Crown, Media United States, LLC, for that amount plus accrued
interest at LIBOR from November 27, 2005.

If there has not been a change of control of the Company by June 30, 2007, Crown Media Holdings is
required to negotiate with NICC for a period of 60 days regarding continuation of the programming
commitments. If at the end of the negotiating period the parties have not reached agreement and Crown
Media Holdings is not willing to continue the programming commitments at the same levels NICC may
compel Crown Media Holdings to buy all NICC’s outstanding shares of Crown Media Holdings common
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stock at the then current market value by a written notice given no later than November 1, 2007 (“Put
Right”). If NICC sells more than 50% of the shares of Crown Media Holdings common stock which it
owned as of February 22, 2001, except as part of a sale of Crown Media Heldings, most of the o
commitments and obligations related to programming as described above cease (at the option of Crown ¢
Media United States) at the.end of the then current broadcast season (approximately August 31)..

The Company has, at NICC’s request, started negotiations with NICC regarding the continuation of | '
the programming commitments. In the event a new agreement is not reached or other resolution is not
reached and NICC seeks to exercise its Put Right, the Company will endeavor to finance the purchase of
the NICC stock through outside sources rather than from funds from operations. In the alternative, the
Company can, if necessary, extinguish NICC’s Put Right completely by offering to continue the
programming commitments to NICC at the same level as in the current agreement.

During the year ended December 31, 2004, 2005, and 2006, Crown Media Untted States paid NICC
$12.3 million, $12.5 million, and $18.4 million, respectively, related to the company agreement as amended.

14. RHI Entertainment
Film Asset Services Agreement with RHI Entertainment

The Company has a film asset services agreement with RHI Entertainment (formerly Hallmark
Entertainment, LLC}, under which RHI Entertainment provides Crown Media Holdings with services
related to the administration, distribution and other exploitation of the Company’s film assets. In
consideration for the services provided by RHI Entertainment, Crown Media Holdings was, prior to the
sale of the Company’s international operations, obligated to pay a service fee of $1.5 million per year,
payable in quarterly installments of $375,000. Following the sale of the Company’s international
operations, the annual fee for these services was reduced to $750,000 per year. Crown Media Holdings
paid $1.5 million to RHI Entertainment for these services during 2004, $1.0 million during 2005 and | - ;
$719,000 during 2006. At December 31, 2005, and 2006, non-interest bearing unpaid accrued service fees ..
of $188,000 and $0 were included in payable to RHI and related companies in the accompanying . .
condensed consolidated balance sheets.

Program License Agreements with RHI Entertainment Distribution o .

Crown Media United States has licensed programming for distribution in the United States from
Hallmark Entertainment Distribution, now RHI Entertainment Distribution, since 1998. It currently
licenses this programming under a Second Amended and Restated Program License Agreement dated as,
of January 1, 2005 (“Second Restated Agreement”). This Second Restated Agreement expires on
December 31, 2008. : :

Under the Second Restated Agreement, RHI Entertainment Distribution is required to produce and
deliver to Crown Media United States, and Crown Media United States is required to order and license
from RHI Entertainment Distribution, 13 original movies and 3 original mini-series in 2005, 31 original
movies and 6 original mini-series in 2006 and 18 original movies and 3 original mini-series in 2007. Crown
Media United States may, however, completely cancel the 2007 commitment to order 18 original movies
and 3 original mini-series or it may reduce the number of original movies it is required to license.in each of-
2006 and 2007 by up to six movies per year. Crown Media United States has exercised this option to reduce
by six the number of original movies produced in 2006 and has advised RHI Entertainment Distribution
that it will not exercise its right to cancel the 2007 original productions, Crown Media United States has .
exclusive rights to these original movies and mini-series during a three year exhibition window (the window
is five years for certain holiday-themed movies and movies produced in 2005). Crown Media United States
may exhibit the original movies and mini-series in any television media in the United States, its territories
and possessions (together with Puerto Rico), including pay per view and high definition television. Crown
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Media United States may also sublicense its exhibition rights in any television media regarding the original
and other movies and mini-series covered by the agreement to third parties, subject to the reasonable
consent of RHI Entertainment Distribution. The license fee payable for the original movies produced in
2005 is $1,600,000 per movie; in 2006 is $1,680,000 per movie and in 2007 is $1,764,000 per movie. If the
movies are produced for the Hallmark Channel’s “Mystery Movie” series, the license fees are increased by
$200,000 and if they are holiday-themed movies, the license fees are increased by $100,000. The license
fees for mini-series produced in 2005 are $300,000 per hour; in 2006 are $840,000 per hour; and in 2007 are
$882,000 per hour. Crown Media United States must also share any revenues from video on demand or
pay per view exploitation with RHI Entertainment Distribution.

In addition to the original movies and mini-Series, Crown Media United States has agreed to license
from RHI Entertainment Distribution 22 “off-network” movies and mini-series in 2005 and a maximum of
15 such movies and mini-series in 2006 through 2013. These programs generally will not have been seen on
cable television in the United States prior to their exhibition on the Hallmark Channel. The license fees
payable for the off-network movies are $268,029 per movie in 2005; $281,420 per movie in 2006; $295,491
per movie in 2007 and $310,266 per movie in 2008 and subscquent years. The license fees payable for the
off-network mini-series are $335,024 per hour in 2005; $351,775 per hour in 2006; $369,364 per hour in
2007 and $387,832 per hour in 2008 and subsequent years. Crown Media United States’ initial exhibition
period for these off-network movies and mini-series is three years and Crown Media United States’
exhibition rights are exclusive in all television media in the United States, including Puerto Rico. Crown
Media United States’ exhibition rights to these off-network movies and mini-series do not, however,
include pay per view or video on demand. RHI Entertainment Distribution has an option to require Crown
Media United States to license these off-network movies and mini-series for an additional, consecutive
three year period at a cost of 50% of the initial license fee. ' '

Crown Media United States has also agreed to license up to 143 older movies and mini-series from the
RHI Entertainment Distribution Library for a three year exclusive exhibition window, at an approximate
total cost of $57.5 million. Most of these movies and mini-series have previously been exhibited on the
Hallmark Channel or Hallmark Movie Channel.

Both under the current and previous agreements with RHI Entertainment Distribution, if Crown
Media United States sub-licenses any licensed program to a third party, it must equally share with RHI
Entertainment Distribution the excess, if any, of the sublicensing fee over the initial program license fee
paid by the Crown Media United States. Crown Media United States did not sub-license any licensed
program to a third party during 2003. The Company sub-licensed-$1.7 million during the year ended
December 31, 2004, which resulted in $330,000 owed to RHI Entertainment Distribution. Crown Media
United States sub-licensed $1.5 million during the year ended December 31, 2005, none of which was due
to RHI Entertainment Distribution as there was no excess over the license fee. Crown Media United
States sub-licensed $409,000 during the year ended December 31, 2006, none of which was due to RHI
Entertainment Distribution as there was no excess over the license fee. Amounts due to RHI
Entertainment Distribution as a result of these sub-licensing agreements have been included in license fees
payable to non-affiliates in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets as noted below. ‘

Programming costs related to the RHI Entertainment Distribution program agreements were $20.0
million, $30.1 million, and $46.5 million for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006,
respectively. As of December 31, 2005 and 2006, $22.7 million and $18.4 million, respectively, are included
in license fees payable to non-affiliates in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. Crown Media
Holdings paid RHI Entertainment Distribution $5.0 million, $93.4 million and $51.1 million for license
fees in 2004, 2005 and 2006, respectively. :
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15. Stockholders’ Equity

The Company’s authorized capital stock currently consists of 200,000,000 shares of Class A common
stock, 120,000,000 shares of Class B common stock, and 10,000,000 shares of preferred stock, all at $0.01
par value per share. The Company has not issued any shares of preferred stock.

Hallmark Entertainment Investment Company controls all of the Company’s outstanding shares of
Class B common stock, which, together with the shares of Class A common stock it owns, represents
approximately 95.8% as of December 31, 2006, of the voting power on all matters submitted to the
Company’s stockholders. Each share of Class B common stock is convertible at the option of the holder
into one share of Class A common stock. Shares of Class B common stock are generally automatically
convertible into Class A common stock upon sale or other transfer by the selling stockholder. In addition,
the Class B common.stockholder is entitled to 10 votes per share as compared to one'vote per share of
Class A common stock. With the exception of the voting and conversion rights, shares of Class A common,
stock and shares of Class B common stock are identical. ' ' -

- The Company has not paid any cash dividends on its common stock since inception. With the
exception of the NICC agreement in Note 13, the Company anticipates that it will retain all of its earnings,
if any, in the foreseeable future to finance the continued growth and expansion of its business, and the.
Company has no current intention to pay cash dividends. The Company’s bank credit facﬂlty also pl‘OhlbltS
its declaring or paying any cash dividends.

16. Income Taxes

Crown Media Holdings accounts for income taxes using the asset and liability method. Under this
method, Crown Media Holdings recognizes deferred tax assets and liabilities for future tax consequences,
attributable to the difference between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and
liabilities and their respective tax basis. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax
rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to
be recovered or settled.

On March 11, 2003, Crown Media Holdings became a member of Hallmark Cards consolidated
federal tax group and entered into a federal tax sharing agreement with Hallmark Cards (the “tax sharing
agreement”). Hallmark Cards includes Crown Media Holdings in its consolidated federal income tax
return. Accordingly, Hallmark Cards has benefited from past tax losses and may benefit from future
federal tax losses, which maybe generated by Crown Media Holdings. Based on the tax sharing agreement,
Hallmark Cards has agreed to pay Crown Media Holdings all of the benefits realized by Hallmark Cards as
a result of including Crown Media Holdings in its consolidated income tax return. These benefits are
estimated and paid 75% in cash on a quarterly basis and the balance when Crown Media Holdings
becomes a federal taxpayer. A final true-up calculation is completed within 15 days after Hallmark Cards
files its consolidated federal income tax return for the year. Pursuant to the true-up calculation, Crown
Media Holdings is obligated to reimburse Hallmark Cards the amount that any estimated payments have
exceeded the actual benefit realized by Hallmark Cards and Hallmark Cards is obligated to pay Crown
Media Holdings the amount that any actual benefit exceeds the estimated payments. Under the tax sharing
agreement, at Hallmark Cards’ option, the non-interest bearing balance of the 25% in federal tax benefits
may be applied as an offset against any amounts owed by Crown Media Holdings to any member of the
Hallmark Cards consolidated group under any loan, line of credit or other payable, subject to limitations
under any loan indentures or contracts restricting such offsets. During the third quarter of 2005, Haltmark
Cards used $30.0 million of the approximately $45.7 million balance of this 25% balance to offset
intercompary debt. During the third quarter of 2006, Hallmark Cards used $18.0 million of the
approximately $18.0 million balance of this 25% balance to reduce the principal amount due under the
March 21, 2006, promissory note with Hallmark Entertainment Holdings.
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Hallmark Cards did not use any of the Company’s 2006 tax losses in 2006 and has used approximately -
$671.4 million of Crown Media Holdings tax losses since entering into the tax sharing agreement. Pursuant
to the tax sharing agreement, the Company received $56.6 million, $56.1 million (including the $30.0°
million offset to intercompany debt during the third quarter of 2005), and $30.0 million (including the
$18.0 million offset to intercompany debt during the third quarter of 2006) under the tax sharing ' v
agreement during 2004, 2005, and 2006, respectively. These receipts have been recorded as an addition to
paid-in capital. The Company has recorded a deferred tax asset of $28.6 million related to the taxable loss
generated during the year ended December 31, 2006, which has been included in the net operating loss
component of deferred tax assets in the table below. The Company has recorded a deferred tax asset of -
$558.1 million related to the cumulative losses generated. The entire amount of the Company’s net
deferred tax assets have been offset with a valuation allowance. During 2006, the valuation altowarice
changed by $151.6 million. The Company may ultimately reverse the valuation allowance and record a tax
benefit if it is determined, more likely than not, that the Company could realize the tax benefit if it were
treated as a stand-alone taxpayer. . .

Based on the Tax Sharing Agreement, the Company may ultimately owe Hallmark Cards for its share
of the consolidated federal tax liability. Such payments would be treated as a reduction to paid-in capital to
the extent of amounts previously received under the Tax Sharing Agreement. ' '

Since May 9, 2000, the Company has been included in certain combined state income tax retul_'_ris of
Hallmark or Hallmark Entertainment Holdings. Consequently, Hallmark Entertainment Holdings and the
Company entered into a state tax sharing agreement. Under the state tax sharing agreement, Hallmark
Entertainment Holdings and Crown Media Holdings file consolidated, combined or unitary state tax
returns. Crown Media Holdings makes tax-sharing payments to (or receives payments from) Hallmark
Entertainment Holdings equal to the taxes (or tax refunds) that Crown Media Holdings would pay (or -
receive) if it filed on a stand-alone basis. Such payments are computed based on Crown Media Holdings’
taxable income (loss) and other tax items beginning the day following the May 9, 2000, reorganization.

The following table reconciles the income tax provision at the U.S. statutory rate to the provision per
the financial statements:

Years Ended December 31,

2004 2005 2006
. (In thousands)
Taxes computed at35%..........ooiivniinenns v 8(61,172) $(75,438) $(135,941)
(91 1< S 265 2,222 219 0
Increase in federal valuation allowance. ......... . 60,907 *73,216 - 135722 .
Income tax provision. .. .............. e $ — 8 — 5 —
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- The components of Crown Medla Holdings’ deferred tax assets and liabilities are comprised of the
followmg . ) ) '

As of December 31,
2005 2006
{In thousands)

Deferred tax assets:

Deferredrevenue ..............ociveieieiannnnnnan.s $§. .67 8§ —
Bad debtreserve ......... ... .. i 610 96
Accrued cornpensatlon. R 5,276 3,279

. Netoperatingloss............... e P ' 531,261 558,108
Depreciation ........ e e B 7,981 7,246

" Other..... ..., L 13,626 18,293
Valuatlon allowance ,........ e e P P (428,079)  (579,690)

" Total deferred tax assets ..................o.oo...., 1130,742 7,332

Deferred tax liabilities: . g

Film inventory ...%....... e (126,661) —
Programlicensefees.............. ... ... o il — (4,011)
Other. ... e (4,081) (3,321)
Total deferred tax liabilities ........................ {130,742) (7,332)
Net deferred taxes.......... e $- — 3 —

" As of December 31, 2006, the Company’s cumulative federal and state net tax operating losses were
$1.4 billion. Of this amount, apprommately $759.6 million has not been utilized by Hallmark Cards in its
consolidated tax returns and will explre beginning in 2020 through 2026. ’

17. Fair Value

The following table presents the carrying amounts and estimated fair values of the Company’s
financial instruments at December 31, 2005 and 2006. The estimated fair value of a financial instrument is

the amount at which the ihstrument could be exchanged 'in a current transaction between willing parties. -
] ¢ ! ‘ - . t .

2005 2006
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
Amount " Value Amount Value

{In thousands)

Senior unsecured note to HC Crown, including accrued .
11T ¢ =] S e $509,386 $436,822 $562,167 $479,817

Company obligated mandatorily redcemable preferred
MEerESt . . 14,537 19,300 16,483 16,888

The carrying amounts shown in the table are included in the accombanying consolidated batance
sheets under the indicated captions. The Company estimates the fair value of the company obligated
mandatorily redeemable preferred'interest on an annuat basis as it is not practicable to perform the
valuation more frequently. The valuation is dependent upon the future pre-tax incomie of Crown Media -
United States since the Company is only obligated to make payments on the instrument within 60 days of
the fiscal year in which pre-tax income is generated by Crown Media Umted States or within 60 days of
December 31, 201{)

The Company estimates the fair value of the senior unsecured note to HC Crown on a quarterly basis.
The Company estimated the fair value of the senior unsecured note to HC Crown by determining the
discounted value of future cash flows, based upon a borrowing rate of 14.5%, which is estimated to be the
current market interest rate for a debt instrument with similar terms.
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Accounts payabie and receivable are carried at reasonable estimates of their fair values because of the
short-term nature of these instruments. The interest rates on the bank credit facility, the line of credit with
HC Crown and the note payable to Hallmark Entertainment Holdings, LLC are variable, have relatively
short maturity periods and/or reset periodically; therefore, the fair value of this debt is not significantly
affected by fluctuations in interest rates.

18. Share-Based Compensation

Crown Media Holdings has one stock option plan, the Amended and Restated Crown Media
Holdings, Inc. 2000 Long Term Incentive Plan (the “Plan”). The Plan covers three types of share-based
compensation: Stock Options, Restricted Stock Units (“RSU”) and Share Appreciation Rights (“SAR”)
that are subject to SFAS 123R commencing on January 1, 2006. Before implementation of SFAS 123R,
Crown Media Holdings accounted for the stock option component of the Plan under APB 25, under which
compensation cost approximated $5,000 and $116,000 for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2005,
respectively. Compensation cost for stock options issued to employees represented the excess of the
quoted market price of the Company’s stock at the measurement date of the grant over the exercise price
of the option. ’ '

Stock-Based Compensation

Beginning with our first quarter of fiscal 2006, we adopted SFAS 123R. We currently use the Black-
Scholes option pricing model to determine the fair value of stock options. The determination of the fair
value of stock-based payment awards on the date of grant using an option-pricing model is affected by our
stock price as well as assumptions regarding a number of complex and subjective variables. These variables
include our expected stock price volatility over the term of the awards, actual and projected employee
stock option exercise behaviors, risk-free interest rate and expected dividends.

We estimate the expected term of options granted by taking the average of the vesting term and the
contractual term of the option. We estimate the expected volatility of our common stock by using historical
volatility. We base the risk-free interest rate that we use in the option valuation model on U.S. Treasury
zero-coupon issues with remaining terms similar to the expected term on the options. We do not anticipate
paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable future and therefore use an expected dividend yield of zero in
the option valuation model. We are required to estimate forfeitures at the time of grant and revise those
estimates in subsequent periods if actual forfeitures differ from those estimates. We use historical data to
estimate pre-vesting option forfeitures and record stock-based compensation expense only for those
awards that are expected to vest. The fair value of all stock-based payment awards is amortized on a
straight-line basis over the requisite service periods of the awards, which are generally the vesting periods.

The Company recorded a $3.1 million compensation benefit related to restricted stock units and
$11,000 compensation expense related to stock options for the year ended December 31, 2006, on our
consolidated statement of operations as a component of selling, general and administrative expense.

The Company recorded $11.5 million and $8.5 million of compensation expense associated with the
Employment and Performance RSUs during the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2005, respectively,
which have been included in selling, general and administrative expense in the accompanying consolidated
statements of operations : . .

As of December 31, 2006, theré was no unrecognized compensation cost, adjusted for estimated K
forfeitures, related to non-vested stock options granted to our employees. Total unrecognized
compensation cost will be adjusted for future changes in estimated forfeitures.
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General Stock Option Information

Crown Media Holdings may grant options for up to 10.0 million shares under the Plan. The stock
options expire 10 years from the date of grant and generally vest over service periods that range from date
of grant to four years. Certain option and share awards provide for accelerated vesting if there is a change
in control (as defined in the Plan).

The fair value of each option grant is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option
pricing model that uses the assumptions noted in the following table. The Company uses historical data to
estimate option exercise and employee termination with the valuation model; separate groups of
employees that have similar historical exercise behavior are considered separately for valuation purposes.
The expected term of options granted is derived from the output of the option valuation model and
represents the period of time that options granted are expected to be outstanding; the range given below
results from certairi groups of employees exhibiting different behavior. The risk-free rate for periods within
the contractual life of the option is based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve.

' : 2005
Expected volatility. ....... ..ot i e e *38.8%
Expecteddividends ... e .0
Expected Term (inyears)...............ooviiiiiiiiain... e 1.16
Risk -freerate ..t................ ............. 4.38%

There were no stock option grants in 2004 and 2006. In December 2005, the Company modified a
stock option agreement covering vested stock options with a former employee. The modified terms
included an extension of the expiration date from December 31, 2005, to February 28, 2007, and an
extension of the related stock option exercise dates to January 1, 2007, through February 28, 2007.

A summaty of the status of Crown’ Stock Option Plan at December 31, 2006, and changes during the
year then ended is presented below:

b

Weighted- Weighted-

Average Average
Exercise Exercise Remaining Aggregate
. .  Price Price Contractual Intrinsic
) Shares Per Option Per Option Term Value
. « (in thousands)
Balance, December 31,2005 ......... . 867 : $10.42
Options forfeited . ................ G7) $8.94.-1745 $12.89
Balance, December 31, 2006 .......... 810 $10.24 2.09 $0.00
Exercisable ........................ 810 - - T $10.24 2.09 $0.001
Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted Average Weighted Average Weighted Average
' ! Shares Remaining Exercise Price Exercisable Exercise Price
Range of Exercise Prices Per Option  _Qutstanding _Conltractual Life Per Option Shares Per Option
(In thousands) {In years) . {In thousands) ]
$630-1050 ............ . ‘ 517 0.5 $ 910" 517 3910
$10.51-12.60 235 50 '$11.47 235 $11.47
$1261-1470 ............. 24 33 $14.00 24 $14.00
$14.71-21.00 ............. 34 43 $16.52 34 $16.52
810 810

' LR ]

The total intrinsic value of options exercised during the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and
2006 was $0, $338, 000 and $0, respectively.
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General Restricted Stock Unit Information

The Company’s restricted stock units (“RSUs”) vest based on employment, performance and market
conditions. Certain RSUs vest either in one-third increments on the anniversary of the grant date in each *
of the three years following the grant or all at one time on the third year anniversary of the grant date, in
both cases based on continuing employment (“Employment RSUs”). Other RSUs vest on the third
anniversary date of the grant date, provided that the price of the Company’s Class A common stock is at
least $14 or higher on that date (“Performarige RSUs”). o . .

The Company’s RSUs are settled in either common stock or cash as determined by the Company’s
Board of Directors. The Company has historically settled the RSUs in cash, and consideringsuch-past
practices, has classified its RSUs as liability awards for accounting purposes. R

_ Prior to the adoption of SEAS 123R, we recognized the estimated‘co'mpensation cost of gmpl(_)ymcht
restricted stock units over the vesting term, including changes in fair value at each reporting period. The
estimated compensation cost was and continues to be based on the fair value of our stock price at the end
of each reporting period. We will continue to recognize the compensation cost, net of estimated
forfeitures, over the vesting term and include changes in fair value at each reporting period.

The Company made an offer in May 2003 to senior management and vice pre‘sidents to exchange their
options for Employment RSUs, resulting in a total of 5,126,732 options exchanged for 2,050,693
Employment RSUs. The Employment RSUs vested over three years in one-third increments on the
anniversary of the grant date each year and the Company accrued expense related to the Employment
RSUs ratably over each increment’s vesting period using the price of our Class A common stock on the last

day of the reporting period. '

.

In May 2004,.the Company’s Board of Directors approved an additional grant to employees of
1,065,000 RSUs. The Employment RSUs, which constitute 70% of the award granted in 2004, vest in equal
one-third instaflments over the next three years on the anniversary of the grant date each yeai. The
Performance RSUs, constituting 30% of the award granted in 2004, vest on the 3" anniversary of the grant
date, provided that the price of the Company’s common stock is $14 or higher on that date.

The Company settled certain Employment RSUs during the three months ended March 31, 2005, for
approximately $4.2 million in cash. Additionally, in conjunction with the close of the international
transaction, the Company immediately vested and settled Employment RSUs held by individuals employed
by the international business in May 2005 for approximately $4.0 million in cash. In June 2005, the
Company settled vested Employment RSUs for approximately $3.8 million in cash. In August 2003, the
Company immediately vested and settled RSUs held by one employee of the Company for approximately
$139,000 in cash. In January 2006, the Company settled vested Employment RSUs to one executive for .
approximately $4.4 miltion. In June 2006, the Company settled vested Employment RSUs for
approximately $1.5 million in cash.

. 'In June 2005, the Company’s Board of Directors approved a grant to those Directors who were not
employees of the Company or of Hallmark Cards or its affiliated companies, of 70,884 RSUs. The RSUs
vest in equal one-third installments over three years on the anniversary of the grant dates each year. In
July 2005, the shareholders approved an amendment to our Plan, which ratified an amendment adopted by
the Board of Directors in June 2005 to allow the grant of RSUs to our Directors. Since the vesting dates
were determined as if these grants were in May 2003 and May 2004 and some portions of the grants had,
therefore, vested, in August 2005, the Company settled the vested RSUs held by these Directors for '
approximately $353,000 in cash. In June 2006, the Company settled vested RSUs for approximately $80,000
in cash.

In August 2005, the Company’s Board of Directors approved ,.an‘ additional grar{t of 828,000
Employment and Performance RSUs to employees. The Employment RSUs, which constitute 50% of the
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award granted in 2005, vest in equal one-third installments over the next three years on the anniversary of
the grant date each year. The Performance RSUs, constituting 50% of the award granted in 2005, vest on
the 3" anniversary of the grant date, provided that the price of the Crown common stock is $14 or higher
on that date. In August 2006, the Company settled vested RSUs for approximately $442,000 in cash.

In August 2005, the Company’s Board of Directors approved an additional grant to one executive of
115,000 RSUs (“CEO Grant”). The Employment RSUs, which constitute 50% of the award granted in’
2005, vested in equal one-third installments on dates which were three months, six months and nine
months, respectively, after the grant-date and the Company has settled these RSUs for $203,000 in
November 2005, $165,000 in February 2006 and $76,000 in May 2006. The Performance RSUs, consmutmg
the remaining 50% of the award granted in 2005, have lapsed without vesting.

In August 2005, the Company’s Board of Directors approved a grant to those Directors who were not
employees of the Company or of Hallmark Cards or its affiliated companies, a total of 31,570 RSUs. The
RSUs vest in equal one-third installmenits over three years on the anniversary of the grant dates each year.
In August 2006, the Company settled vested RSUs for approximately $34,000 in cash.

In August 2006, the Company s Board of Directors approved a grant to those Directors who were not
emp]oyees of the Company or 6f Hallmark Cards or its affiliated companies, a total of 71,979 RSUs. The
RSUs vest in equal one- -third mstallments over three years on the anniversary of the grant dates each year.

Additionally, in August 20006, one executive retired, and the Company settled vested RSUs for
approximately $16,000 in cash,

: In-August 2006, the Company’s Board of -Directors approved an additional grant of 1,298,000
Employment and Performance RSUs to the executive officers and other employees. The Employment
RSUs and the Performance RSUs constitute 35% and 65% of the grant, respectively. The Employment
RSUs wili vest and be settled in stock or cash on August 17, 2009, the third anniversary of the grant date,
provided the individual holding the RSUs is employed by the Company on that date. Performance RSUs
become eligible to vest (“Achieved Performance RSUs”), in the range of 150% (which results in an award
of additional Performance RSUs) to 0% of the Performance RSUs, depending upon the successful renewal
of specific distributor agreements within certain time periods. Sixty-five percent of the Achieved.
Performance RSUs will fully vest upon the signing of the renewal agreements, which the Company intends
to complete by November 2007. In a second vesting, 65% to 135% (“the Modifier”} of the Achieved
Performance RSUs (less the Achieved Performance RSUs previously vested) will vest on December 31,
2008, based upon a formula® using subscriber revenue achieved for a specified time period.

The Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors has the discretion to increase or decrease
the Modifier by 20% and also may extend the deadlines for satisfaction of the vesting conditions in the
event that a renewal of the distribution agreements is delayed for factors beyond the control of the
Company. In order to be eligible for vesting and settlement of the Achieved Performance RSUs, the
individual holding them must either be employed at the time of the first vesting or have been terminated
without caise within 90 days of a vesting date. The vesting of Employment RSUs accelerates upon death
or disability of an éxecutive officer. Employment RSUs and Performance RSUs have accelerated vesting if
the executive is involuntarily terminated without cause within 90 days before or after a change in control.

Under the 2006 Restricted Stock Units Agreement dated October 3, 2006, the Company granted
200,000 restricted stock units to the Company’s CEQ. The Employment RSUs constitute 50% of the grant
and the Performance RSUSs 50%. Each RSU corresponds to a right to receive (at the Company’s
discretion) one share of Class A common stock or cash in an amount equivalent to the value of one share
of Class-A common stock at the time of vesting. The Employment RSUs will vest and be settled on the
fourth anniversary of the grant date, provided the CEO is employed by the Company on that date, or upon
death or disability. Performance RSUs become eligible to vest (“Achieved Performance RSUs”), in the
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range of 150% (which results in an award of additional Performance RSUs) to 0% of the Performance
RSUs, depending upon the successful renewal of specific distributor agreements within certain time
periods. Once the final renewal which determines the amount of the Achieved Performance RSUs has
occurred, 65% of the Achieved Performance RSUs will vest and be settled. In a second vesting, 65% to
135% (the “Modifier”) of the Achieved Performance RSUs (less the Achieved Performance RSUs
previously vested) will vest and be settled on December 31, 2008, based upon a formula using subscriber .

revenue achieved for a specified time period. _—

The Company’s Compénsation Committee has the discretion to increase or decrease the Modifier by
20% and-also may extend the deadlines for satisfaction of the vesting conditions in the event that a renewal
of the distribution agreements is delayed for factors beyond the control of the Company. If the Company
terminates the CEO’s employment without cause or the CEO terminates for good reason within 90 days
prior to a vesting date for Performance RSUs, the Performance RSUs will vest as though the CEO were
still employed by the Company on that vesting date. All RSUs vest immediately upon involuntary .
termination without cause or termination for good reason if a change in control occurs 90 days prior to or.
90 days after such termination. '

The Company executed a Restricted Stock Units Agreement with the CFO, dated November 8, 2006,
which provides for the grant of 25,200 Employment RSUs and 46,800 Performance RSUs to the CFO. The
Employment RSUs will vest and be settled in stock or cash on August 17, 2009, provided that CFO is
employed by the Company on that date and subject to accelerated vesting in the event of a changé of
control of the Company. . :

Under SFAS 123R, the fair value of the 2004 and 2005 Employment RSU grants are estimated using a
Black-Scholes option pricing model. The fair value of the 2004 and 2005 Performance RSU grants are
estimated at each reporting date using a Monte Carlo Lattice option pricing model. Beginning in.2006, thé

Company is applying a forfeiture rate to the RSUs as required by SFAS No. 123R. ‘o
Weighted-Average
i Remaining
Employment RSUs - - . . Units Contractual Term
Nonvested Balance, December 31,2005............ L. 1,477.343 ‘ : ' L
Unitsissued & .ot vveiirn v ciaennaar s 579,500 - S
Units settledincash ......oviionieiiiiiinnns s (1,009,453)
Units forfeited .. . .cvvr v it iie i ci e enes (232,423) .
Nonvested Balance, December 31,2006 ............ 814,967 227 . o

The closing price'of a share of our common sfock was $9.17 on December 31, 2005, $6.34_on -,
March 31, 2006 and $4.12 on June 30, 2006, $4.49 on September 30, 2006, and was $3.63 on December 31,
2006. ‘ : ‘

\

Weighted-Average

' : - Remaining ¢
Performance RSUs R Units . Contractual Term
Nonvested Balance, December 31,2005.............. 688,500

Unitsissued .. ..oovirviie et 990,500
Units forfeited .. ... (374,300)
Nonvested Balance, December 31,2006.......:..... . 1,304,700 © © 1.25

At December 31,2005, the 2004 Performance RSUs were valued at $1.61 per unit, the 2005 *
Performance RSUs were valued at $4.36 per unit, and the chief executive officer Performance _RSUs were
valued at $1.23 per unit. At De_cember 31, 2006, the 2004 Performance RSUs were valued at $0.00 per unit
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and the 2005 Performance RSUs were valued at $0.12 per unit. The chief executive officer Performance
grant expired in May 2006. Valuation of these Performance RSU grants is based upon market conditions.

The following table includes assumptions used to value the Employment and Performance RSUs at

December 31, 2006.
2004 Grant 2005 Grant
Expected volatility. ....... ... .. o 40.80%  47.20%
Expected dividends.................. ..o i, 0 0
Expected Term (invears)............coviieenina... T (XY | 1.63

Risk-free rate . . ..o et 5.09% 4.82%

The following table includes assumptions used to value the Performance RSUs at January 1, 2006,

‘ Chief Executive
2004 Grant 2005 Grant Officer Grant

Expected volatility. ...................... 39.34% 48.87% 40.04%
Expected dividends .. .. .................. 0 0 0
Expected Term (in years).......... e 1.42 2.67 0.46

. Risk-freerate............covviiiinnnnn.. 4.38% 4.37% 4.37%

Under SFAS 123R, the fair value of each 2006 Employment and Performance RSU grant is estimated
using the fair value of $3.63 based upon the closing price of a share of our common stock as of the
December 31, 2006, reporting date. Valuation of the 2006 Employment RSUs is based solely on a service
condition. Valuation of the 2006 Performance RSUs is based upon a service condition and a performance
condition.

In connection with the adoption of SFAS 123R, we recorded total compensation costs related to
RSUs granted under the Plan of $2.1 million as a cumulative catch-up adjustment during the year ended
December 31, 2006. Prior to January 1, 2006, the Performance RSUs were not recorded on the Company’s
financial statements as a liability, as it was not deemed probable that these units would be settled based on
the performance of the Company’s common stock. Additionally, the Company did not account for
forfeitures. Commencing in 2006, the Company established a liability for the fair market value of the
Performance RSUs based on an option-pricing model. Further, the Performance RSUs are reviewed
quarterly for changes in the fair market value. ' '

Weighted-Average

Remaining
Board of Directors RSUs Units Contractual Term
Nonvested Balance, December 31,2005, .. ............. 32,468
Unitsissued ......... i 103,549
Unitssettledincash ................... ... ..., (28,710)
Unitsforfeited . .......ooviiii e (26,157)
Nonvested Balance, December 31,2006................ 81,150 232

Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) Share Appreciation Rights Agreement

Under Share Appreciation Rights Agreement dated October 3, 2006, the Company has agreed to
grant stock appreciation rights (“SARs”) to the CEO upon occurrence of certain events, The value of each
SAR corresponds to the value of one share of Class A common stock and will be settled at the Company’s
discretion in Class A common stock or cash. SARs will be granted during the tefm of employment the day
after the fair market value of the Company’s stock reaches the “threshold price” and stays at the threshold
price or higher for 60 consecutive calendar days. SARs will then be granted each time that the fair market
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value of the Company’s stock increases another incremental five dollars over the previous price at which a
SAR grant was triggered and stays at such price or higher for 60 consecutive calendar days. Upon the
occurrence of each event which triggers a SAR grant, the CEO will be granted that number of SARs with a
value equal to 0.8% of the Enterprise Growth as of the grant date divided by the triggering Company stock
price. “Enterprise Growth” equals the increase in market capitalization (compared to the market
capitalization based on the Start Price or the last price triggering a grant of an SAR), adjusted upward or
downward by the amount of debt incurred or paid down since the Start Date or last trigger date, as
applicable. “Threshold price” shall mean the average of the fair market value for the 5 business days prior
to the date of announcement of the CEO’s employment (i.e., October 4, 2006) (“Start Price”) plus five
dollars. o

In the event of a change in control of the Company, then as of the change in control, (i) if there has
been no prior SAR trigger and the change in control price (price of the Company’s stock less transaction
costs and certain other amounts) exceeds the Start Price, then the CEO shall be granted that number of
SARs equal to 0.8% of the Enterprise Growth divided by the change in control price; or (ii) if there has
been a previous SAR trigger and the change in control price exceeds the previous SAR trigger, then the
CEO shall be granted that number of SARs equal to 0.8% of the Enterprise Growth divided by the change
in control price. If the CEQ’s employment is terminated without cause by the Company or by him for good
reason or because of his death or disability, and if a change in contro! occurs within 90 days after the
termination of employment or an agreement that will result in a change of control is executed prior to the
termination and the change of control occurs within 180 days after-the termination, the CEO will receive a
grant of SARs on the basis described above. - :

SARs will vest upon the earlier of (i) 3 years of employment after the grant date, (11) termination of
employment without cause by the Cornpany, (iii) termination by the CEO for good reason or (iv) upon a
change in control of the Company. The Company at its discretion may settle SARs in cash or in stock.

The fair value of the CEQ’s SAR grant is estimated at each :reporting date using a Monte Carlo
Lattice option pricing model. At December 31, 2006, and the CEO’s SARs were valued at $872,616 using
the closing price of a share of our common stock on December 31, 2006, of $3.63. Valuation of this SAR
grant is based upon market and service conditions. The Company recorded $59,000 in compensation
expense related to SAR:s for the year ended December 31, 2006, on our consolidated statement of
operations as a component of selling, general and administrative expense. The SARs have been recorded
in accounts payable and accrued liabilities in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet for the year
ended December 31, 2006.

The following table includes assumptions used to value the SARs at December 31, 2006.

Expected volatility. . ......cooveeniii 46.91%
Expected dividends . . .....oovueriit i 0
Expected Term (in Years). .. .. ...covniiinimmiintiiaeen i, - 3.56
o 3T =R ¢ 11 R R R . 4.72%
Average Number of SARs granted. ................ e eeieneeeaie. . 240,390

Bonus . : ,

In May 2003, the Company’s Board immediately vested the stock options of all employees below the
vice-president level who held options at that time and granted them a right to receive a future cash
payment of $1.00 for each outstanding option held by the employee. The immediate vesting of the
employees’ stock options created a new measurement date which required the Company to record stock
compensation expense, if any, for the excess of the Company’s stock price on the measurement date over
the underlying stock options’ exercise price. Since the price of the Company’s Class A common stock on
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the measurement date was less than the exercise price of all of the stock options owned by the employees,
no compensation expense was recorded under APB 25, Howgver, the June 2004 cash payments totaling
$344,000 was contingent upon each respective employees’ continuous employment through that date. As a
result, the Company recorded compensation expense from June 2003 through May 2004 as the
compensation was earned. For the year ended December 31 2004 $140 000, of compensatlon EXpense was
recorded related to this obltganon . L ‘ L
19. Employee Benefits . ' T TR

Benefit Plans ' ' o o T ’

Crown Media Holdings. adopted a 401(k) retirement plan‘for all of its Umted States employees _
effective January 1, 2002. Under the provisions of the Crown Media Employee Savings Plan (“ESP”) any.
full-time or part-time employee may join the ESP 90 days afterhis or her employment.-Employees that 1 -
qualify for participation can contribute up to 50% of their pre-tax salary, subject to a maximum
contribution limit as determined by the Interhal Reveriue Service, and up to 16% of after-tax salary, not to
exceed 50% total of combined and pre-tax and after-tax contributions. Additionally, for evéry dolar up to
six percent of salary an employee contributes, Crown Media Holdings will contribute fifty cents. Crown
Media Holdings contributed $345,000, $392,000 and $384,000 for the years ended December 31 2004,
2005, and 2006, respectlvely -

Deferred Compensation Plans Ca

The Company sponsors a deferred compensation plan for its management. Participants in this plan
earn interest on their deferred compensation. Related liabilities of $3.2 million and $3.3 million at
December 31, 2005, and 2006, respectively, are included in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets
among short and long-term accrued liabilities. The Company suspended this plan for 2006 and no deferrals
of employee compensation earned were allowed in 2006. The Company continued to pay interest on
amounts deferred in previous years and paid out these amounts in accordance with the terms of the plan
The Company reactivated the plan in 2007.

The Company also sponsors a deferred compensation plan for its Board of Directors. Participants in
this plan earn interest on their deferred compensation. Related liabilities of $538,000 and $589 000at !
December 31, 2005, and 20086, respectively, are included in the accompanymg consolidated balance sheets
among short and long-term accrued liabilities. The Company suspended this plan for 2006 and no deferrals
of director compensation earned were allowed in 2006, The Company continued to pay interest on
amounts deferred in previous years'and paid out these amounts in accordance with the terms of the’ pian.
The Company reactivated thls plan in 2007. -

Severance

In April 2006, the Company terminated approximately 20 employees in conjuncnon with its cost
savings efforts. The Company’s severance costs relatéd to these employees were approximately $2.3 ' '
miltion. All amounts were paid during 2006; therefore, no amounts are included in the accounts payable
and accrued liabilities in the a¢companying consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2006. .

Retention Program . ‘ - ‘ : . e

In 2004, the Company established a retentlon program for approximately 175 employees whio were -
affected by the sale of Crown Media Holdings’ international business. Under the program, employees that
remained with the Company through the earlier of the date on which a sale of the international business
became effective or December 31, 2004, were entitled to a retention bonus totaling approximately $7.7
million. The Company recorded $7.7 million of expense for the year ended December 31, 2004, in regard
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to this retention program, of which $7.1 million was paid in 2005. Due to terminations and management’s
revised estimates, the Company did not pay the remaining $600,000. :

20. Commitments and Contingencies .

In the normal course of business, the Company has entered into agreements that commit it to make
cash payments in future periods with respect to non-cancelable leases and programming contracts.

SFAS No. 63 requires an entity providing licensed programming to report an asset and liability for the
rights licensed under a programming agreement only when the license period has begun and when certain
other defined requirements are met. As such, the accompanying consolidated balance sheets do not reflect
both gross assets and liabilities of $263.9 million and $227.8 million as of December 31, 2005 and 2006,
respectively, related to committed program license fees payable to RHI Entertainment Distribution and
various third parties with airing windows which begin subsequent to period-end.

~ Contractual maturities of long-term obligations (excluding future interest) over the next five years are
as follows (in thousands): '

. Totatl 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 Thereafier

Credit facility and interest payable:.. § 87,692 § — $87692 § — § — % - 3 -
Company obligated mandatorily

redeemable preferred interest(1}) . . 25,000 — 5,000 5,000 15,600 — —
Line of credit and interest payable to

HCCrown. .....coovvvvvevannns 93,465 — 93,465 — _ — -
Senior unsecured note to HC Crown,

including accrued interest ........ 562,167 — — C— — 562,167 —
Note and interest payable to Hailmark .

Cards affiliate . ... .............. 146,397 — 146,397 — — _ —
Line of credit and interest payable to

Halimark Cards affiliate ......... 53,364 — 53,364 - — — —
License fees payable to non-affiliates

for current and future

windows(2)(3)......... .ol 391,026 115,877 91,781 84,713 44,574 25,528 28,553
License fees payable to affiliates for ) .

current and future windows(2)(3). . 22386 22,386 — — o — —

Total Contractual Cash Obligations. . $1,381,497 $138263 $477.699 $89,713 $59,574 $587,695 $28,553

(1) Payments are due within 60 days of the end of each fiscal year in which Crown Media United States reports
pretax profits exceeding $10.0 million. If Crown Media United States does not earn pretax profits, the company
obligated mandatorily redeemable preferred interest is to be redeemed within 60 days of fiscal year ending
December 31, 2010.

(2) Includes off-balance sheet commitments.

(3) The amounts and timing for certain of these commitments are contingent upon the future delivery date and type
of programming produced, and, as such, the estimated amount and timing may change.

In accordance with the Purchase and Sale Agreement dated February 23, 2005, Sparrowhawk Media
Limited has made several warranty and indemnity claims against the Company of approximately $2.0
million. The Company has recorded an accrual related to this claim, which is included in accounts payable
and accrued liabilities in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet. The Company estimates that it may
be liable with the range of $500,000 to $1.0 million related to these claims.
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21. Segment Reporting

The Company’s continuing operations are currently organized into two principal divisions
representing operating segments: domestic channel and film distribution. Due to the sale of the film assets,
the Company no longer has a film distribution segment as of December 31, 2006. The Company evaluates
performance and allocatés resources based on the-results of these segments. The key operating
performance criteria used in this evaluation include revenue, loss from continuing-operations and total
assets. The results of operations of our international channel operating segment are-not included in the -
segment reporting as they are classified separately as discontinued operations in the Company’s’
consolidated financial statements (see note 23). .- .o

The following‘tables present the Company’s segment information for the pgriods,indicafed (in
thousands):

2004

. : Domestic Dislll‘:il::::tion +  Adjustments Consolidated

Total revenues ... .... e e © $116201 § 74,493 $(52,458)(1). $ 138236
Programming costs. ....0......cuvennnn.. "(101,811) (1,651) 13,584(1) (89,878)
Amortization of film assets................. — {(47,326) 18,421(1) - {28,905)
Impairment of filmassets.................. — (22,003) — (22,003)
Subscriber acquisition fee amortization 4
BXPEISE . vttt ir i e (29,405) - 3,385(1) (26,020)
Operating costs. .........ovrvueneenn.... (10,936) (749) 650(1) {11,035)

Selling, marketing, general and administrative

expenses. . . . . e e , (45,207) (29,785) * — . (74,992)
_ Loss from continuing operations.. .. ... ... (71,158)  (27,021) (16,418) | (114,597)
Interest exXpense ............. e (2,495)  (57.684) = & — . 1 (60,179)
Loss from discontinued operations. . . .. PR —  (142,030) . —3). . . {(142,030)
NELIOSS + v vverreeeeeieteiiiiaennss $ (73,653) $(226,735)  $(16,418) $ (316,806)
Totalassets .................... e $ 761,610 § 526,458 $224,700(2) = $1,5 12,768
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2005

Total TeVenues . .....civviivrreaneennnns o
Programming Costs. . .......oooveiiinnnnn.
Amortization of film assets. . .............¢.
Impairment of film assets.......: e
Subscriber acquisition fee amortization
EXPEMSE & ovvrvniirreeinr e
Operating Costs.....ovvervneieeiveunnean,
Selling, marketing, general and administrative
EXPEIISES. « o o vvenvnivennnsernnenaes
Loss from continuing operations. .........
Interest EXpense . . ... .cvevvinn o vaisanen
Laoss from discontinued operations. .........
Loss on sale of discontinued operations. . .. ..
Netloss ..o.ovnenen i iinianaees

Total ASSeIS .o oo ie i is i rnane i

2006

Total Tevenues .......vveivrenneeeanennnns
Programming Costs. .......ooviiia i aiins
Amortization of film assets.................
Impairment of film assets ......... e
Subscriber acquisition fee amortization
EXPENSE . evverreennariannnnennnns s
Operating Costs. ....ooverraeieannerannens
Selling, marketing, general and administrative
EXPEISES. . oo v oeiniane i rarra e
Gainon sale of filmassets .................
Loss from continuing operations..........
Interest eXpense .......c.ovveereanerauainns
Gain on sale of discontinued operations ... ..
Cumulative effect of change in accounting
principle. .......ooii i
Netloss ....ovvviiiiiiiiiiii i aaeianns

Total @SSELS .+ . oot vere e venrimcaaianrannns

O

Fil
‘Domestic . Distribl::tion Adjustments Consolidated
$ 175090 § 75926  $(53,632)(1) $ 197,384
(148,565) (3,708) 31,696(1) (120,577)
— (82,398) 30,779(1) (51,619)
— (25,542) — (25,542)
(39,314) — 3,386(1) (35,928)
(11,243)  (10,572) 209(1) (21,606)
(54,303)  (29,490) — ' (83,793)
(78,335)  (75,784) 12,438 (141,681) -
(6,689)  (67,167) — (73,856)
— (10,683) —(3) (10,683)
— (6,538) —3) (6,538)
- § (85,024) $(160,172) $ 12,438 $ (232,758)
§ 843512 $430314 S —  $127382
Film
Domestic Distribution Adjustments Consolidated
$ 199,362  $ (12,896) § 14,713(1)  '$ 201,179
(178,689) (1,890) 28,386(1) (152,193)
R 5872 (20,611)(1) (14,739)
—  (206216)  (19,616)(1)  (225,832)
(34,430) — 3,386(1) (31,044)
(11,434) (996) — (12,430)
(45,769)  (16,878) — (62,647)
— 8,238 — 8,238
(70,960)  (224,766) 6,258 (289,468)
(13,848)  (85,087) — (98,935)
— 1,530 —(3) 1,530
— (2,099) — (2,099)
$ (84,808) $(310422) § 6,258 $(388,972)
$ 749748 $ 18035 § —(4)  § 767,783

(1) Represents elimination of intersegment transactions.

(2) Represents assets from discontinued operations.

(3) Represents losses from discontinued operations.

(4) The film distribution segment assets represent assets held by the holding company.,
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Five of our distributors each accounted for more than 10% of our consolidated subscriber revenue for
the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2006, and together accounted for a total of 87% and 91% of
consolidated subscriber revenue during the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2006, respectively. Three
of our distributors each accounted for more than 15% of our consolldated subscnbers for the years ended
December 31, 2005 and 2006, and together accounted for 58% and 66% of our subscribers during the years
ended December 31, 2005 and 2006, respectively.

22, Quarterly Information (Unaudited)

The following tables contain unaudited quarterly financial data (in thousands, except per share
amounts) for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2006.

2005

Total revenues ... ........cooiiiiiiii...
Programming costs. . ..........ooviiiaian.
Amortization of film assets................
Impairment of film assets.................

Subscriber acquisition fee-amortization

EXPENSE e vvvieva i
Operating costs. ........vvviineiiennn..

Selling, marketing, general and .

administrative expenses ................
Loss from operations. . . ................
Interestexpense ............ooiiinnnn.
Income tax provision .. ........c..ocoovvnnan
Loss from discontinued operations. . . .. P
Loss on sale of discontinued operations. . .. .
Netloss ............... e

Netlosspershare...................... ‘

2006
Total revenues ..o
Programming cosis. . ....oovunien i,
Amortization of film assets. ..............
Impairment of film assets .. ...............
Subscriber acquisition fee amortization
EXPEASE ..ttt
Operating costs. .. .....ooviveviee ..
Selling, marketing, general and
administrative expenses ...............
Gain on sale of filmassets ...............
Loss from operations. . ................
Interestexpense ............ ... ... il
Gain (loss) on sale of discontinued
OPErations ...........oviuneooiinunnn
Cumulative effect of change in accounting
principle......... ... oo,
Netloss ...........oooiiiiiiiiint,

Netlosspershare.....................

Quarters Ended
331 6/30 9/30 12/31 Full Year
$ 40,569 $ 45692 $ 50,670 §$ 60,453 § 197384
(28,022)  (28,413) (29,196) (34,946) (120,577)
(5:681) (13,664) (13,830) (18,444) ~ (51,619)
— —  (22,939)  (2,603)  (25,542)
(9,508)  (8,695)  (8,688)  (9,037)  (35928)
(1,796)  (4,730)  (3,212) (11,868) (21,606)
(23332) (23,'221) (18,662) (18,578)  (83,793)
(27,770)  (33,031) (45,857) (35,023) ..(141,681)
(16,896) (17,444) (19,346) (20,170) (73,856)
— (6) (4) o=
(6,241) (4,425) — ! a7y (10,683)
— (1,349) (615) (4,574 (6,538)
$(50,907) $(56,255) $(65,822) '$(59 774) $(232,758)
$ (049) § (054) $ Lea) $ (057) $§ (222)

Quarters Ended
331 6/30 9/30 12/31 Full Year
$ 44,973 $ 50,522 § 47,318 §$ 58,366 § 201,179
. (33,593)  (33,967) , (35,056} (49,577) {(152,193)
(8,864).  (8,279)  (4,560) . 6964  (14,739)
—  (184886) (40946) = —  (225,832)
(7,790)  (7,723)  (7,747)  (7,784)  (31,044)
(4,130) (3,501) (2,075 (2724)  (12,430)
(14,166)  (14,691)  (14,800) (18,990)  (62,647)
— — — 8,238 8,238
(23,570) (202,525) (57.866)  (5,507) (289,468)
(21,703)  (24,913) (26,461) (25,858)  (98,935)
162 (8) (1 1,377 1,530
(2,099) — — — (2,099)
$(47,210) $(227,446) $(84,328) $(29,988) $(388,972)
$ (045) $ (217) $ (080) $ (029 § (371
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23. Discontinued Operations

On April 26, 2005, the Company closed the sale of its international business. The accompanying
consolidated statements of operations and cash flows for each of the years ended December 31, 2004 and
2005 present the associated results of operations and cash flows of the international assets as “discontinued
operations” pursuant to SFAS No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets.

The net losses from discontinued operations during each of the years ended December 31, 2004 and
2005, were comprised of the following:

Years Ending
December 31,
2004 2005
_ (In Thousands)
REVEMUE ...\ iiit it $ 102,131 § 34,575
Costs and eXPENSES « ..o vvveirararir e (235,120)  (42,358)
INterest EXPEmnSE. .. vuenanarcaisien e (6,753) (2,081)
Income tax Provision. .......o.ovveiineiiiiii s (2,288) (819
Loss from discontinued operations ....................... $(142,030) $(10,683)

Effective February 23, 2005, the Company ceased depreciating and amortizing certain of the
international assets held for sale. Had the Company not ceased such depreciation and amortization, the
loss for discontinued operations for the year ended December 31, 2005, would have included an additional
$1.8 million of depreciation and amortization expense and an additional $3.8 million of amortization of
film assets.

' Interest expense includes an allocation of interest related to the Company’s bank credit facility that
was required to be paid as a result of the sale. The allocation was required by Emerging Issues Task Force
(“EITF”) Issue No. 87-24, Allocation of Interest to Discontinued Operations. Such interest expense
amounted to $5.3 million and $1.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2004 and 2005, respectively.
Upon receipt of cash from the sale, the Company was required to repay and retire the $100.0 million term
loan under the Company’s bank credit facility.

24. Subsequent Events

On March 2, 2007, the Company signed Amendment No. 12 to the credit agreement, which extended
the maturity date of the revolving credit facility to May 31, 2008. See Note 10 for further information.

In January 2007, the Company received notice from Sparrowhawk Media regarding claims on the
Purchase and Sale agreement. See Note 20 for further information.
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